
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Thursday 1 March 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 21 February 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 4228;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Thursday 1 March 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 48) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 1 February 2018 to be signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 48 are attached for Members and officers 
only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 49 - 58) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Future Transport Report (Pages 59 - 114) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Richard Berry; scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the report, Future Transport: How is 
London responding to technological innovation?, as agreed by the Chairman under 
delegated authority, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead 
Members.  
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 63 to 114 is attached for Members and officers 
only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-
assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

6 Commissioner of Transport (Pages 115 - 116) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to putting 
questions to the Commissioner of Transport and note the discussion. 
 
 

7 London TravelWatch Performance Report (Pages 117 - 130) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ed Williams, ed.williams@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4399 
 
The Committee is recommended to note London TravelWatch’s performance over the 
6 months, the financial position as at 30 September 2017, and the business plan 
objectives for 2018. 
 
 

8 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 131 - 134) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the report as an overview of its work in the 2017/18 Assembly year; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair 

and party Group Lead Members, to agree the topic and any terms of 

reference for the Committee’s first meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year.  
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 16 May 2018 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, subject to confirmation at the London Assembly’s Annual Meeting in May 2018. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 1 March 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 1 October 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Thursday 1 February 2018 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM (substitute for Florence Eshalomi AM) 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 An apology for absence was received from Florence Eshalomi AM, for whom Dr Onkar Sahota 

AM attended as a substitute Member. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 1 February 2018 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 10 January 
2018 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Cycling Infrastructure (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Cycling Infrastructure to the following invited guests: 

 Dr Will Norman, Walking and Cycling Commissioner; 

 Lilli Matson, Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London (TfL);  

 Nigel Hardy, Head of Project Sponsorship, Road Space Management, TfL; and  

 Councillor Julian Bell, Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils.  

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3  During this part of the meeting, the Chairman welcomed pupils from Surrey Square Primary 

School in Southwark.  

 

5.4 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following information in 

writing from the Director of Transport Strategy, TfL: 

 Further information to clarify whether TfL will set out interim mode share targets for 

each borough in the Local Implementation Plan guidance;  

 The current shortfall of cycle parking spaces, the expected shortfall over the next 5 to 10 

years, and whether there are targets on parking spaces; and 

 How the previous Mayor’s [Boris Johnson] parking target of 80,000 was measured. 

 

5.6 The Walking and Cycling Commissioner also agreed to provide further information on 

evidence which demonstrated that Quietways were encouraging more women to cycle.  

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 1 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

5.7 At the end of the discussion, the Chairman thanked the guests for their contributions to the 

meeting.   

 

5.8 Resolved: 

 
 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
6   Deputy Mayor for Transport (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests: 

 Valerie Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport; and 

 Alex Williams, Director of City Planning, TfL. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

6.3  The Chairman welcomed Members from the Freedom Pass Rovers.  

 

6.4 During the course of the discussion, the guests agreed to provide the following in writing: 

 A breakdown of Local Implementation Plan funding for each of the London boroughs;  

 Further information on the work of the technical working group tasked with looking at 

issues relating to taxis and private hire vehicles, including cross-border issues, and any 

related framework agreements; and 

 Further information on plans to increase potential express route buses. 

 

6.5 At the end of the discussion, the Chairman thanked the guests for their contributions to the 

meeting. 

 

6.6 Resolved: 

 
 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 1 February 2018 

 

 
 

7   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 
7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
7.2 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the work programme for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year, 
including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings as set 
out at paragraph 4.18 of the report be agreed; and 

 
(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the arrangements for a site 
visit to the Siemens Traincare Facility in Hornsey.  

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 
8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Monday 19 February 2018 at 3.00pm, 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 
9.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting  

 
10.1 The meeting ended at 12.45pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 

Transport Committee – Thursday 1 February 2018 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 5 – Cycling Infrastructure  
 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Now we move to the highlight of the day: cycling infrastructure. 

 

First of all, can I welcome Nigel Hardy, Head of Project Sponsorship.  Welcome.  It is good to see you again.  

Then Lilli Matson, Director of Transport Strategy; good morning.  Dr Will Norman, the Mayor’s Walking and 

Cycling Commissioner.  What a wonderful title.  Good morning.  Lastly, Councillor Julian Bell, Chair of the 

Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils.  Good morning, Julian. 

 

If we can kick off, I shall ask the first question.  This is to all guests.  Why have there been delays in delivering 

a new cycling infrastructure under this mayoralty?  Will, do you want to kick off? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Yes, I will start with that.  We have 

actually been making very good progress with the work that has been going on under the current Mayor.  We 

have been delivering an awful lot of schemes and a lot of programmes have been announced.  We have a very 

healthy pipeline of projects.  We have been developing and designing and taking things out to public 

consultation, as well as delivering at pace. 

 

I can certainly provide some examples on that.  I know many of you will be familiar with some of the  

East-West Cycle Superhighway that goes from Tower Hill down towards Parliament Square.  We finished that 

route all the way down with the new segregated route in front of Buckingham Palace.  That was finished in 

December [2017]. 

 

You might not be aware of it, but the route from Blackfriars going up to King’s Cross on Cycle 

Superhighway 6 (CS 6) is under construction at the moment and that is due to finish.  That is due to finish in 

the summer [2018] and that will give us a continuous cycle route from Elephant and Castle all the way up to 

King’s Cross and beyond. 

 

Then we put out for consultation on CS 4 and CS 9.  CS 4 runs from Tower Bridge down towards Greenwich 

and CS 9 goes from Olympia down to Brentford. 

 

Then, also, we have been doing a huge amount of delivery on the construction of the Quietways across the 

city.  We have finished 100 kilometres of those routes.  As you will know, Quietway 1 opened in June 2016 

and we have work going on.  Yes, 100 kilometres have been opened with significant sections opening in the 

spring across the city.  What we are seeing is Quietways and Superhighways. 

 

We have ongoing work on the Mini Hollands.  I was down in Kingston this week looking at the infrastructure 

that is being built right now.  Working with the borough down there, we opened a new segregated route 

along Portsmouth Road last year, and we have seen the figures coming back from that, which really show how 

this investment in infrastructure is changing things.  Those figures showed that from 7.00am to 7.00pm on 

weekdays we have seen a doubling of cyclists using that route.  There has been between 76% and 105% 

increase in cycling across that route.  When I was down there this week, we saw a huge new investment in 

Page 9



 

 
 

front of the station there, which will have a new cycling hub, as well as a new bridge, as well as other routes 

opening up.  The Mini Hollands are continuing at pace. 

 

Also - and I do not know if many of you saw the announcement this week - we have been planning the future 

as well.  We are putting out our pipeline, how we design our new routes, how we go forward.  In  

November [2017] we announced the first seven of the Liveable Neighbourhoods programme funding 

schemes that are in different boroughs across the city.  As well, we announced the first six of the next 

generation of cycle routes, which we will be working with the boroughs to design over the coming years.  We 

have £142 million in the current Business Plan to deliver those. 

 

We have been making significant progress in terms of the construction and in terms of the changes.  We have 

not only been delivering stuff on the ground, but we have also been planning stuff going forward.  I do not 

know if any colleagues or Julian wants to add to that. 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  Yes.  From a 

borough perspective, the example of the East-West Superhighway is a good one in that there have been 

delays in that and there were issues about where the route was in the western section between Paddington 

and White City.  The reason it has been delayed was so that there could be more intensive and better 

consultation with the boroughs in order to make sure that we get a route that works and that happens.  That 

is the general principle across the board going forward.  A lesson to learn from the Superhighways is for more 

in-depth and early consultation with the boroughs to make sure that the intelligence that the boroughs have 

is fed in.  That can then ensure that we get the right scheme and that we get the support for it locally and the 

delivery as well. 

 

The other thing I would say is that there have been some - and will be some - delays as a result of the Local 

Infrastructure Plan (LIP) funding cuts that we have had announced in the last couple of months.  What that 

will do is it will have an impact on corridor funding and the actual integration of cycle infrastructure into our 

main highways projects that we do because that is something that all boroughs need to do better.  Where you 

have a chance to change a road layout, do not forget cycling, do not forget the cycling infrastructure and 

make sure that it is integral to any corridor project or funding.  However, with the cut in that funding, that is 

going to have a delaying factor and possibly worse than that. 

 

On the other hand, there is another problem in terms of the repairs funding for the general highways.  We 

have been told that the boroughs on the principal road network will have only safety repairs for the next two 

years at best.  We hope that we can work on that because, again, that has an impact on cycling.  I hear it all 

the time from my Ealing Cycling Campaign members and I see it as a cyclist myself.  There is nothing worse 

than a big pothole and there is a danger to cyclists with a big pothole.  Those regular repairs of the principal 

road network need to be addressed so that we can have that smooth tarmac that cyclists love, and which we 

do not always get, in order to encourage more people onto their bikes. 

 

The only other thing I would say is that there needs to be a mechanism whereby boroughs can propose routes 

to Transport for London (TfL) and again - and we are doing this through the Healthy Streets agenda - 

address sometimes the conflicts between bus priority and the Healthy Streets agenda for cycling and walking.  

I can think of examples in my borough where we have the Liveable Neighbourhood funds at West Ealing 

where we will have an opportunity to tackle some of those tensions between bus priority and cycling and 

walking infrastructure.  Boroughs often have ideas that they want to put forward and we probably just need a 

better mechanism to do that. 

 

Page 10



 

 
 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Could I just add, just to widen 

the focus a bit away from infrastructure because we will spend a lot of this morning probably talking about 

that?  In terms of encouraging people to cycle in London, it is not just about the delivery of routes.  It is 

important to note that over the last couple of years the kind of activity that is going on at the borough level 

or via TfL on that has increased and is having a really manifest effect through cycle training - thousands of 

adults have been cycle trained; thousands of children have been cycle trained - and the kinds of promotional 

events that we know are also important for raising the profile of cycling, whether it is Ride London or more 

local schemes. 

 

Therefore, it is really important to focus on the infrastructure, but one of the points that I would really want 

to leave you with is: to overcome the barriers of why many people do not cycle, we need to do so much across 

those other activities and all of that has been moving forward at pace in recent years. 

 

That is why we have seen in the most recent cycling monitoring a very significant increase of about 8.8% in 

cycling on all London roads.  That is a reminder to us to keep going with this, but it is also a signal that 

whether it is the infrastructure or whether it is the training, all of that activity is critical to driving that growth. 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  I completely agree with Lilli that 

we need to ensure that we have a mixed package when we go out, which is something that we have worked 

extremely hard to do, and all of the infrastructure that we do put in comes with a package and measures to 

ensure that we are maximising the potential of that. 

 

I also completely agree with Julian as well that we have to go forward with our infrastructure development 

very much in partnership with the boroughs.  Many of our Forward Plans provide funding for infrastructure on 

borough roads.  We work very closely both on the Quietways programme, which is a £122 million programme, 

and the Central London Grid programme, which is an £85 million programme.  The boroughs are closely 

involved right from the early planning stage and we work collaboratively to try to see those programmes 

through. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Perhaps you could give us some idea of how these cycleways -- their input and how they 

are being assessed?  The conversation we have had around cycling is almost entirely positive, but many 

people have written to me and other Assembly Members and there is still great hostility to them. 

 

In our last meeting, people talked about how disabled people and visually impaired people have enjoyed the 

reduction in motor traffic, but if you speak to people who live with these things they say that they have a 

bigger danger from cycles.  People are talking about the armadillo and orca segregations being trip hazards.  

People are talking about the bus borders increasing congestion.  These things do not seem to be appearing in 

assessments anywhere.  TfL has no mechanism to record trip hazards and accidents caused by the input of 

this infrastructure. 

 

I would just like to ask: is it time for someone to independently assess these so that we can make sure that 

they are being done in the correct way? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Thank you for that question.  It 

is that kind of personal and anecdotal feedback that is really important for us to gather.  Therefore, if there 

are issues, we would be happy to hear them and pass them on. 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

We are having and have had exactly what you suggested, which is a study of the new types of infrastructure 

that we have been putting into our streets, looking at the impacts and effectiveness of things like mini orcas, 

larger orcas, semi-segregation, bus stop bypasses.  There is some research which we will be able to publish 

later in the spring [2018] on that. 

 

By and large, the customer reaction - from pedestrians and disabled people and people cycling - has been 

very positive, but what we did get out of that was some quite clear advice which we will translate into our 

design guidance about avoiding, in some locations which are very busy with footfall, very low vertical 

deflections because they can be a trip hazard, and where other types of semi-segregation, for example, wards 

might be better put in place. That research has been done and what we need to do -- we do monitor this 

carefully and then we will go back and revise our design guidance. 

 

I take the feedback, but I also would not want you to think we were not doing anything about that.  We are 

constantly trying to learn from what we are putting into the street network. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  To follow up on Lilli’s point, as well as 

the research side, there is also the stakeholder engagement.  A core part of my job is going out and meeting 

and talking to people.  I have been meeting regularly with the Royal National Institute of Blind  

People.  As you mentioned, some of the people who are visually impaired have had problems and struggle 

with some of the infrastructure. 

 

The bus stop bypasses have been a particular concern for some, and what we have done is to put cameras up.  

We are listening to people but also then studying the impact of things and trialling different things.  In 

different locations across London, we have been trialling and experimenting with zebra crossings going over 

to the bus stop bypasses which signal to everybody that the pedestrians have priority in terms of crossing 

those cycle routes to get to the bus stops.  We have been experimenting with whether they have beacons or 

whether the zebra crossings are significant.  They have been filmed as well as being watched in terms of 

interviews and analysis, but the cameras have shown that those zebra crossings are significantly more 

effective in terms of protecting pedestrians getting across.  We are talking to the different user groups, 

particularly vulnerable road users, people from the partially sighted community, as well as the disabled 

community about how we then roll that out across the new types of infrastructure. 

 

As we put in new, innovative ideas with all of this, we are trying new things.  We are pushing the barriers.  We 

are coming up with new ways of trying to tackle some of the problems on London streets.  We need to keep 

assessing them through the research, but also through listening to stakeholders and communities and then 

acting to change those.  Once things go in, it is not as if this is fixed.  How do we continue to improve?  How 

do we continue to innovate in this space? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  As an Assembly Member, there is a litany of problems that people write about, anything 

from increased congestion and pollution to visually impaired people being affected.  I wonder.  How have 

there been so many things that have been missed?  Will you be able to address some of these things?  There 

is one thing I am looking at here about the 105.  The input of the cycle lane has meant that the nearest shop 

is over 90 metres away.  Blue badge holders are now barred from going to that shop because, if you could 

walk that far, you would not have a blue badge.  Surely someone should have looked into that before they 

affected all the local people in that manner because it is a place, apparently, that it is very popular because 

you could park there and shop there.  There are things here about older people losing their independence 

because of the input of a cycle lane. 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

Is someone doing a wider impact assessment for the locality and for the people who live there?  It seems like 

we are forcing these things upon people because we think generally they are good, but are we looking at 

what it means for people who live there rather than what it means in this room? 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  Will has said something very 

important.  In order to make the progress that we have in London, we have had to innovate.  We have had to 

come forward with new ideas and new ways to crack problems.  We have gone about doing that by, wherever 

possible, undertaking significant off-road research.  We have researched particular styles of infrastructure and 

new ideas in controlled conditions.  However, as those are introduced, we then need to follow that up with 

the kind of research that Lilli was talking about and the kind of engagement and communication that Will was 

talking about.  We are doing that and we are collectively learning. 

 

Some of the issues that you may be describing are where people have concerns about designs that are coming 

into their local community.  We have the benefit now of a growing set of successful things that we have 

implemented in London and we can demonstrate the benefits to people.  On things like bus stop bypasses, 

we have learned from our earlier implementations and we have made improvements, and we will continue to 

do that.  If there are specific issues on a local route, then we will receive that feedback and we will go back 

and have a look at that and try to assess that if there seems to be an issue. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I do not doubt what you say.  TfL in particular has a very good record of assessing things 

and there is great expertise there, but what the people who have written to me would say is, “Would TfL ever 

consider not doing a route?”  There are effects that they feel cannot be mitigated if the route is there and 

they are suggesting that the desire is to make the route happen no matter what.  I have people talking about 

70% less footfall to their business.  No amount of design is going to fix that.  I just wonder in the interests of 

balance if we let people know that there is a flexibility here.  I am pro-cycling and I am a cyclist myself, but 

you have to accept that there is great animosity to some of these routes. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  This is exactly why the early 

engagement with communities and with boroughs is so important and why we take so much time and 

patience and work for our formal consultations and soliciting people’s ideas. 

 

I will give you a very good example on CS 9, which runs from Olympia through to Brentford in west London.  

Plans had been assessed and we had taken those out to communities and then we had an awful lot of 

feedback.  Like you, I get a lot of emails and a lot of correspondence looking at some of the challenges.  We 

do look at all of that and take it seriously and we go back to review.  Where things are problematic, then, 

clearly, we look again at it and modify that. 

 

There are also some myths that continue to be present here and you touched on one around how the cycling 

schemes cause congestion, for example.  All the evidence shows that that is not the case.  Cycling does not 

cause congestion.  The Cycle Superhighways are showing that those routes are moving more people than ever 

before.  It is a very efficient use of road space in terms of the numbers of people that can move along there. 

 

As you mentioned, this is not just TfL talking about this; there is an independent report that was recently 

published that the Greater London Authority (GLA) worked on with Her Majesty’s Government that showed 

that 75% of London’s congestion is down to too many motor vehicles as well as roadworks, new 

developments, breakdowns, etc.  We will always be listening and we will always be looking to modify and 

work with communities when we put information in, but then we also need to use the evidence that we have 

to show the benefits of that.  The congestion myth is very clear. 

Page 13



 

 
 

You have touched on the some of the issues around local businesses and I take this really very seriously.  The 

evidence that we have been looking at and building and which we will be publishing soon shows that the vast 

majority are seeing an increase in footfall and are seeing the benefits that more people walking and cycling 

bring to local businesses and can play a role in regenerating and reinvigorating high street shops and those 

other things.  Some of the evidence has looked at cycle parking, for example, which brings more benefits than 

car parking places because cyclists and people walking tend to spend more in shops. 

 

What we need to do more of is take the research that we are doing and communicate that, not just putting it 

out there but engaging people in conversations and making the case for the benefits of the infrastructure 

that we are putting in in a more serious way. 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Can I just add to that?  The 

other thing that hopefully would reassure you on that point is the new routes which were recently announced 

that we are looking at.  We are talking about these as connections between places.  We are not saying, “That 

this is a fixed route.  We have drawn a line on the map and sorry if your house is right beside it and you do 

not like it”.  It is an alignment and it is a start of a conversation which is - picking up Julian’s point as well - 

about involving the boroughs and getting them to work with us to identify the best way to make that 

communication.  Our evidence can show where there is the greatest potential.  Solving that potential is partly 

about community engagement, is partly about working back with the boroughs and is partly about seeing 

what we can do.  That whole announcement demonstrates a completely different approach on that, which will 

hopefully be reassuring to some of your residents. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I am going to stop now because the Chairman is doing a Jedi mind trick on me, but I am 

going to forward you some of this stuff I have been sent because I sometimes feel like our conversations 

around cycling are not quite as balanced as they could be.  These people have real evidence and they would 

say to you: consider their evidence in the way you expect them to consider your evidence.  That is enough 

from me, Chairman. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes.  We have all had the same letter, actually -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  -- and it is from an Enfield resident.  Of course, I represent Enfield and I live just 

off the A105.  It is fair to say that the cycle lane has just been completed and we have not yet had the cycles 

appearing and so it is still very quiet, but there is still concern.  Last time you were here, Will, I did ask you 

about the research into business because local businesses were saying they were having a great footfall but 

that was whilst there was construction and barriers all along the street.  Is your research into business going 

to be looking at the A105 as well? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  At the moment, one of the challenges is 

that everybody says, “Our area is different”, and so what we are doing at the moment - and Lilli’s team are 

leading on this - is pulling together a central pool of all the research that is pulling together those economic 

benefits associated with walking and cycling schemes.  We are not at the moment commissioning individual 

research into every individual project because it is prohibitive in terms of budget to do that in every space, 

but what we want is a publicly available, publicly accessible repository of all the information that we are 

building up that is coming from various different independent sources.  The universities are doing some of 

this work and other stakeholders, think-tanks and the like, here in London but also across the United 

Kingdom and internationally. 

Page 14



 

 
 

 

I know when people see some of the international evidence, they say, “No, not more stuff from Copenhagen 

or from Amsterdam.  This is not Copenhagen or Amsterdam”, but it is very useful having the complete spread 

of that evidence.  That body of knowledge is being added to.  At the moment we do not have a single place 

to put that and engage people with, and so that is what we are working on at the moment. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That will be very useful because evidence is vital.  The one letter we have had talks 

about up to 70% or 90%.  I have heard other figures and everything including benefits as well.  That evidence 

is going to be vital but -- 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  I know from the Enfield side I have had 

letters as well from people who are talking about the benefits it has brought them.  As I say, some people are 

expressing some negative views; other businesses are seeing positive sides of that. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The one thing I would say about the A105 through Palmers Green in particular is 

that I have noticed that one of the bus shelters has gone in but others have not.  At the moment, the cycle 

lane is a buff colour and then it goes into just a normal tiled area.  You talked about zebra crossings.  Could I 

ask if you can, once the cycles come, really monitor that?  It may be that we would need the zebra markings.  

That is going to be really important.  It is good that you are doing evidence.  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  If I do the next part, you did mention this some time ago now, 

Will, about the new six cycle routes.  That was a very interesting announcement we had earlier this week.  Are 

you able to give us some specific dates as to when they may be completed at all? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  As Lilli alluded to, what we want to do 

is go about how we are working with boroughs and how we are working with stakeholders in a different way.  

When I was here previously, I talked through a bit about the Strategic Cycling Analysis, which was all the 

evidence-led approach looking at where we invest our limited resources to get the greatest potential and get 

the largest number of people cycling and walking in those spaces. 

 

From that evidence, which we have been sharing with the boroughs and which is openly available to 

everybody, the next phase of that has been talking with borough officers as well as talking to other 

stakeholders.  That is looking at those routes and, again, not saying that they are aligned to specific roads but 

are from place to place; for example, from Ilford to Barking Riverside or from Wembley to Willesden Junction.  

Rather than saying that TfL will go away and come up with some great plan and say, “Look, this is what we 

are doing.  Tell us what you think”, we need to be working jointly with the boroughs, with the officers and 

with the local communities who know these areas so that we get the greatest number of outcomes and we 

get, as Julian was saying, this buy-in at an earlier level.  It is a different approach to engaging. 

 

Therefore, to be honest, we do not have the designs of these routes.  We are wanting to work with the 

boroughs.  What we announced is that we would start that work jointly with the TfL teams and the borough 

teams as well as other stakeholders coming together to find those best and most deliverables so that they can 

get delivered and we do not end up having some of the obstacles and challenges that we have had in the 

past.  I cannot give you a set date because we have not decided exactly where they are going to be or exactly 

what designs those will be and what investment is required.  What we do have over the five-year Business 

Plan is money to deliver those routes and so they will be delivered within the timeframe of that Business Plan, 

but I cannot for each one of these say, “This will start here.  This will start there”, because we are doing this 

in a different way.  We need to do this collaboratively, in a way, working with the boroughs to say, “Look, 

Page 15



 

 
 

how is this going to work for your communities?  How is this going to work for our outcomes and get those 

benefits?”  It is a different approach to how we are delivering things than we have done previously. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Do we not have any idea when they may come into being, even down to a 

year or something? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Over the next year, we will be working 

on the designs with the boroughs and then we will be looking at public consultation on those and then we 

will be looking at the delivery of those associated with what goes on with the public consultation.  Over the 

next five years, those routes will be delivered.  Quite when within those five years will be dependent on 

exactly what gets proposed and what level of interventions are required along those routes.  What we have 

announced is that the design phase is starting and we will be looking to deliver them in the next five years. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We can assume it will not be in the next two or three years, then, can we? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  That depends on the boroughs and on 

what the designs are.  I hope some of them will be delivered sooner rather than later, but we have to work in 

partnership to do this. 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  This is also alongside the very 

major programme of cycling infrastructure that Nigel is leading on now anyway.  This is the design and 

development work.  Meanwhile, CS 9, CS 11 and all the other routes that we have been consulting on - CS 4 - 

will be coming forward.  It is not that there is going to be any pause in terms of building. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  This is the future pipeline, if you like.  

We have the plans that are being built, we have the plans that are being consulted on, we have the plans that 

are going out and a raft of things, but we also need the future routes that will be designed together with the 

boroughs. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  The £142 million, from memory, is what you assume may fund these.  All six, 

is it? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  That is what we have in the plan at the 

moment.  Without the designs, we cannot cost every individual route because we need to understand exactly 

what we are paying for that, but we believe that with that £142 million we can we can deliver a lot of this.  If 

we require extra money going into that, then we will look at how we work with that with future budgets.  It 

shows the level of our commitment that we are investing that amount of money to deliver these next six. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  I am pleased that in Brent we have been one of the recipients of this announcement, 

which has been very much welcomed, both by the local cycling campaigners as well as the borough 

stakeholders. 

 

You mentioned the design of the routes and stakeholder engagement and public consultation.  Engagement 

is very critical, both in the design and in the route itself.  That is where, at the design stage, I would like to 

see genuine consultation with those local cycling campaigners and other lobbyers as well so that we can 

deliver what the local community and what the local campaigners are seeking and iron out problems at that 

stage.  Public consultation, therefore, does not become a fait accompli or something which is just ticking a 

Page 16



 

 
 

box because public consultation goes completely pear-shaped if we do not have proper input from the local 

stakeholders at the design and development stage. 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  Could I respond to that, Chairman?  

Absolutely, as Will has described, that is exactly the way we want to go through doing this.  It would be fair to 

say that our public consultation is effective.  We have demonstrated that we have gone out with all of the 

major cycling infrastructure that we have introduced in recent years, have had extensive conversations and 

have been able to demonstrate where we have made changes in response to the feedback that we have had. 

 

However, we want to extend it beyond just a set-piece style of consultation, as you suggest, with pre-

engagement and early dialogue so that the initial proposals that we might bring forward for a wider public 

consultation have already had a considerable degree of input.  In order to do that, we have to have a package 

of route ideas that we work on early on and they may come forward at a different pace depending on the 

style of route that is identified and the particular issues that we have at certain locations.  Yes, we want to 

achieve what you are describing. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Could I just follow up on that briefly, 

Chairman?  I remember when I came and spoke with you in my first month in the role.  One of the things that 

I did say was that we wanted to look at how we do this engagement and how we do the consultations.  

Rather than just focusing on the formal consultation, these pre-engagement conversations are absolutely 

essential.  That is one of the lessons that we have learned from infrastructure and some of the changes that 

have happened in in the past. 

 

Examples of some of the engagement in the Mini Hollands have been really evident on this, particularly in 

Waltham Forest, where the first stage of the engagement was not necessarily in that early conversation with 

all the stakeholders and that pre-engagement.  The subsequent approaches that have been taken in the Mini 

Hollands have been much more collaborative and much more about discussion.  We have been taking that 

learning and seeing how we can apply that to the wider route. 

 

I really hope that the approach that we are taking for the future around investments is signalling to you and 

to members of public and local communities that we are doing this in a different way. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Just a very quick question: how did you come up with £142 million?  As it is 

not really costed and as you are not really sure, why £142 million?  Where did that figure come from? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  In budgeting, we are always looking at 

what money can we put into what.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  It is a figure that is not divisible by six.  I know.  I just wondered how you 

came up with £142 million. 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  In very early budgeting planning, 

we just have to take an indicative idea of the cost for a package of routes and run that out over the life of the 

Business Plan in terms of what we may expect to achieve during that Business Plan.  The number will be 

generated through that process. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Interesting.  Caroline, did you want to come in? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes, I did want to come in, absolutely, on the money.  I was talking with the Mayor 

last week on Thursday in the budget Plenary about the fact that there were currently, at that point, only 20 

kilometres of cycle routes in the pipeline and so it was going to be very difficult for him to meet his pledge to 

triple the Cycle Superhighway routes during his mayoralty.  I was really pleased to see this announcement.  I 

really like the stuff you are saying about how you are engaging with people because that is key to being able 

to get projects to happen on the ground, which is the important thing. 

 

On this £142 million, is that new money or is it money that is part of this five-year programme that I was told 

about?  In a Mayor’s Question (MQ) I asked about it and we were told £111 million this year, £183 million in 

2019/20, £195 million in 2020/21, £175 million in 2021/22 and £182 million in 2022/23.  Is this 

£142 million on top of that money? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  That money is part of the five-year 

Business Plan and so -- 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  It depends when you had that 

answer because -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I do not have the date of the MQ.  I am sorry.  No, that came via Members’ 

correspondence on 10 January [2018]. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Yes, that would be included within that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The £142 million is part of that? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  It is not new money, then? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is not actually new money? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  It is new money. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  It is new money in terms that we had 

money within the Business Plan.  What we are saying is that this is what we are going to spend that money 

on. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  This is what you are going to spend it on, OK, but it is not extra? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We have announced what it is going to 

be spent on but it is not additional.  We have not changed the TfL Business Plan to add £142 million from it.  

What we have done is to say, “This is the Healthy Streets portfolio and this is what we will be spending some 

of this on”. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  My next question is when you are spending this money because the 

thing is that this year you have just £111 million in the plan for spending on cycle infrastructure.  If you are 

Page 18



 

 
 

working on a five-year Business Plan and you have a big dip in spending, you are in danger of pushing all the 

spending into future years and not being able to physically deliver and spend that money in those future 

years and so your average spend that you are talking about in the moment could go down.  What is really 

important is that we see you spending that money.  You have to take your time to do all the consultation 

because then the projects will go through much more smoothly, but you can see that people are worried that 

you are pushing all the spending into future years.   

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  I would understand the concern 

that you are putting out, but we have an average spend of £169 million per annum within the five-year 

Business Plan.  That is a record level of investment in terms of London’s cycle network.  It equates to similar 

levels of investment in the top European comparators per capita.  We have a very strong programme in front 

of us.  Clearly, we have to go through a design and development process and the bulk of that money gets 

spent at the construction stage, but we have strong spend in the middle years of the plan.  It is not all 

completely backloaded -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Of course, but the thing is that this mayoral term finishes in two years’ time.  We are 

halfway through the mayoralty.  If it gets shunted forward into the future, there might even be a different 

mayor.  There might be a new Business Plan and new priorities.  What people want to know is that there is 

real commitment to spend -- 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  There is certainly the real commitment 

to spend this money.  Even, as you mentioned, the £111 million is significantly more than any other year of 

the previous administration.  It demonstrates the commitment that we are investing into cycling.  We have to 

manage that budget in a way that will be delivering the routes as they come out.  We are totally committed to 

this.  We are investing a record amount of money and we have a really healthy pipeline of work coming 

forward.  We have schemes out for consultation and that money will be spent and we will see the changes in 

cycling across London as a result. 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Some of your concerns come 

from, I am sure, previous years and previous administrations when we did not spend the whole cycling 

budget.  This financial year we are on target and in the last one we spent all of the budget.  It is a problem we 

have resolved.  We have a programme and because it is much more researched, evidence-based and then 

based on this consultation engagement, I am much more confident we will then be able to just have that 

steady drip-drip-drip of delivery at a constant pace, which does not have massive up-and-down escalations. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  We will watch and see. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Could I just get a view from Julian from the boroughs?  What 

confidence do you have in the ability of TfL to spend this cycle funding?  Are you concerned that it does not 

sound like it is new money but is what was already in the Business Plan budget?  Also, what is your take on 

these six new routes and this new concept?  How are the boroughs feeling or was this news to you? 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  As I have already 

said, we welcome the approach of doing earlier engagement and deeper engagement with the boroughs.  

That has to be the right way forward. 

 

It is also fair to say that some boroughs are better than others at engaging and pushing these Cycle 

Superhighway infrastructure projects forward, and so there is an onus on the boroughs to also engage 

Page 19



 

 
 

positively and make sure that there is delivery.  TfL is going about it in the right way in order to try to get 

that borough buy-in and engagement and then have a scheme that everybody is happy with. 

 

We are happy with the way things are moving.  We like the Healthy Streets approach.  We think that that is 

absolutely the right way to go and the way to bring our local residents with us.  Also, it is about not dividing 

and recognising that car drivers are also cyclists and pedestrians.  Those are lessons that have been learned 

from the first round of Mini Hollands and Superhighways.  We are happy with it. 

 

There is a point, also, where there is political leadership required, both at City Hall and at borough level.  

Ultimately, change is always difficult and it will always require some courage to make change and to bring 

forward cycle infrastructure.  You do have to ask yourself the question sometimes.  There is an expectation 

that parking and facilities for cars are a given and is expected, but yet it is really difficult to deliver cycling 

infrastructure.  Why?  All the arguments are in favour of cycling as a sustainable mode of transport for the 

efficiency and health of the city and its residents.  We just have to, all of us, work together and provide some 

leadership. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is very true.  In terms of the spending of money, are you 

confident around that and assured about the amount which is part of the existing budget? 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  We recognise that 

the Mayor was clear in his manifesto and when he was first elected that he wanted to invest more in cycling.  

We welcome that.  The money is there.  Lilli has answered the question in terms of the fact that we are 

spending the budget and -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Do boroughs have confidence in that now? 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  I have confidence 

in that and I certainly know that there are boroughs like mine that are falling over themselves to get hold of 

some of that money.  I know there are other boroughs that have schemes in the pipeline and are ready to go 

with them.  We can, working together, do it. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  One last question from me, then, and then we will move on.  We have spent 

quite a bit of time on this one. 

 

Kentish Town to Wood Green is identified as the top potential route in the Strategic Cycling Analysis and yet 

it is not listed as one of the six new routes.  Does that mean that further Cycle Superhighway routes are 

planned under this mayoralty? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner): What we announced this week were the 

first six of those top 25.  There has to be some prioritisation in what we go first with.  We feel that those are 

the ones that we can lead with.  We will continue to work with the boroughs on those other routes and the 

plan is that by 2023 we will be delivering those, the full 25.  There will be more announcements as we start 

beginning to look at the other routes. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  I will leave it at that.   

 

Page 20



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to talk about the [Mayor’s] Transport Strategy (MTS), 

please.  The final MTS, presumably, is under development.  Is it going to include incremental cycling targets 

so that we can hold the Mayor to account for delivery? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Yes, the MTS is being finalised, 

and at the centre of the MTS is the overall ambition and target that we achieve an 80% mode-share in 

London by 2041.  That is made up of a number of different scenarios that we have built up and assumptions 

in terms of how trips will change and how the economy will grow. 

 

When you look to 2041, it is a trajectory.  We have not and will not be specifying any specific modal 

outcomes for 2041 because, to a degree, it would just be false science.  We would be guessing, if you like.  

What we need to do is use that ambition and that long-term target to manage this process through our 

shorter-term processes like our Business Plan.  We know exactly where we are aiming for in the course of this 

Business Plan to increase the journeys from 770,000 trips a day to around 1.2 million by the end of the 

current Business Plan.  We are still aiming for 1.5 million journeys a day by 2026 because we know that, if we 

stay on that trajectory, we are basically within the tolerances, if you like, to head towards that 80% mode 

share. 

 

Ultimately, that 80% mode share depends on a number of exogenous factors as well in terms of how much we 

make progress in terms of improving rail services in London, whether we are able to better manage road 

space, what the ultimate growth of London is and where that growth takes place.  The MTS is a strategy.  It 

needs to be actively managed through each Business Plan period.  However, in the short term, of course, in 

the Business Plan we have been clear.  We are still working towards that 2026 target, which was in the 

previous MTS and that is very much in the direction that will take us to the 80%. 

 

We publish information every year through the Travel in London report as well as through our regular finance 

and business reports on cycling growth.  We are keeping quite a forensic scrutiny, if you like, on this growth 

and whether we are keeping moving forward in the right direction. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  We as a Committee have made very clear that we think you 

should have targets along the way. The previous Mayor did have a target in his 2010 MTS of 5% modal share 

by 2026.  Is your 1.5 million a day by 2026 is that 5%? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  I would need to go back and just 

double-check exactly what mode share that represents now because it might not equate to exactly that.  It 

might be slightly more, it might be slightly less, but that is the number of journeys that would be equivalent 

in 2026. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  We would like to see that in the final MTS and I will stress 

that again.  If not, you are talking about every Business Plan, and that should have it clear for that five years.  

Your own analysis suggests share will increase to 70% by 2041 without any of your interventions. 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  No, that is not -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is your analysis, yes, in your challenges and 

opportunities report.  It is in there.  We would like to see those targets in place so that we can measure you 

and really make sure that you are on track. 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  In the challenges and 

opportunities report, just to understand, that 70% requires delivering every single thing in the existing 

Business Plan, Crossrail to the Bakerloo line extension, all of the cycling schemes that we are currently 

investing in.  Then, to move beyond the 70%, you need to go further.  Actually, beyond 70% includes 

Crossrail 2, but you also need to include some of the other measures that we have talked about and the plans.  

You need to look to road user charging or other measures that would manage demand. 

 

That is why just focusing on cycling targets will not get us to the MTS.  We need to be looking at how people 

are being encouraged to do shorter journeys by foot and by bike and the schemes that we are designing our 

multipurpose schemes in many cases now.  They have to accommodate those other functions.  We are taking 

this sustainable and active travel focus for our strategy and that is the right way of driving forward through 

the targets we set as London. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  In the MTS, you talk about high-quality, safe cycle routes.  

How are you defining that and will you be providing more information on these routes? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We have the London Cycling Design 

Standards, which will be the basis of what we are doing there.  When we are looking at high-quality routes, 

that will include the segregated routes that we are familiar with, but also in terms of some of those lower 

traffic routes on the Quietways, for example, where you have modal filters and reducing traffic along those 

routes.  It is also about how you then manage that at junctions and how you create the safest space for 

cyclists in the junctions.  We will use the Cycling Design Standards as the basis of that. 

 

That continues to evolve in terms of what we are looking at, but, when we are looking at a high-quality route, 

we are talking about both segregating where it is appropriate as well as increasing the number of modal filters 

and traffic calming measures along some of those quieter routes.  It will be a combination of those two. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  If you are not prepared to consider a target in the MTS - and 

you have given your reasons for that - what about having different mode share targets for different 

boroughs?  Is that something you would consider?  Is that something, Julian, you and the boroughs would 

welcome? 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  In our response as 

London Councils to the draft MTS, we said that we would want some interim delivery milestones and we 

thought that that would be helpful.  If we did have any targets incrementally, then the boroughs would want 

to have initiated the same kind of collaboration and working together with TfL that we talked about earlier in 

terms of jointly owning those targets and then working together towards achieving them. 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Indeed, the LIP guidance will set 

out how to achieve those interim targets with the boroughs.  The guidance on that will be included within the 

LIP guidance in terms of how we will work with the boroughs on the interim modal share targets. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Through the LIP process, each borough will develop modal 

share targets? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  No.  I just need to clarify that 

because I need to go back to see.  I know that we are considering the setting of interim targets that we can 

work with the boroughs on.  Some of those would be around safety -- 

Page 22



 

 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  They are interim targets for modal -- 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Can I write to you to confirm 

that? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is something we would welcome.  Some of the evidence 

that we had at our previous hearing from experts had suggested that that might be a good way forward.  It 

sounds like, as long as it is developed with the boroughs rather than with a top-down approach, it could be a 

good way for everyone to be working together. 

 

The MTS also talks about street closures, creating one-off trials and all that sort of thing.  What progress has 

been made with boroughs and stakeholders to look at introducing more street closures and vehicle-free zones 

to enable people to cycle? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We are seeing significant progress in 

this.  You can see a number of planning applications going in, particularly around the Healthy Routes to 

School and the School Streets initiatives.  For example, in Hackney at the moment, a number of schools are 

beginning to close off the streets around those schools at drop-off and pickup times, improving the air 

quality as well as the road safety and enabling people to walk and cycle in those areas.  We are beginning to 

see that carrying on and we are continuing to work with the boroughs to promote that and share the benefits 

of that. 

 

Nigel touched on something earlier on.  Where we have pioneering and innovative ideas, what is then great is 

being able to show and demonstrate how that works for other people.  What is fantastic is that there are 

boroughs.  Ealing is doing great work.  Hackney is doing great work.  A number of boroughs are really doing 

different things that work in different spaces because outer London, inner London and central London have 

very different challenges.  However, then, when you bring people in to see how that works and the benefits 

that that is bringing to communities, that is how we begin to get this exponential growth of these 

approaches. 

 

We are seeing those changes like street closures but also other measures in terms of reducing air quality in 

outer London.  There was a school that was doing some great work in terms of the kids monitoring air 

pollution outside their school at pickup time as part of their science lessons and their science curriculum.  

They then used that to show that the air quality around their school was worse than Oxford Street, which had 

been in the press.  They then took that - with the press, with their emotional stuff - to the parents to stop 

the idling and to stop the carparking going on there.  It is about showing people these innovative and 

experimental ways of doing something and then using that to communicate that change.  We are seeing a 

pickup of those street closures, particularly in local communities and in areas around the City. 

 

In central London, we do an awful lot of street closures because of a variety of different major events.  We 

had the Lumiere last month.  Yes, sorry, it was last week but we are now in February [2018].  It was fantastic 

seeing some of those closures and people walking around the street and enjoying walking around the street 

to see the art.  Within central London, we need to make more of the events that we are already having to 

close off our streets, to encourage more active travel and to show people what can be done when we limit 

that. 

 

Page 23



 

 
 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  Can I just give an 

illustration of things that we have done in Ealing?  Last summer we closed one of our main streets in Ealing 

town centre, Bond Street, for a couple of Sundays in August.  It was very successful.  We did it with funding 

and help from the GLA and TfL. 

 

What that example shows is the complexity and the difficulty of - sometimes - closing major high street roads 

in town centres because of all the bus routes that come through them.  You have to make sure that it is well 

planned and it is the right street with the least disruption in terms of those bus journeys and dislocations.  

Certainly, it was very warmly welcomed by the businesses, particularly, which saw a real opportunity for them 

to expand the promotion of their business into the street.  It was supported by our local Business 

Improvement District as well.  It was something that we will be repeating and we need to do more of. 

 

One thing that we have not done for a long time but which was really successful and again required an 

enormous amount of preplanning was back in 2010 when we did a Sky Ride.  We closed off probably 10 miles 

of roads and streets to give a cycle-only route and circumnavigation of our town centre.  It was enormously 

successful and it really got people on their bikes.  What makes it prohibitive is that there was sponsorship, 

obviously, but it cost the borough £80,000 in terms of closing the roads and doing all the changes with the 

bus routes and everything, but it was fabulous.  More things like that I would really support. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We have the Ride London event, which 

is the world’s greatest celebration of cycling out of any city in the world.  It is cost-neutral to the city because 

it is paid for through sponsorship and the television rights.  It is the only race in the world where you have 

equality between the men’s professional cycling race and the women’s professional cycling race.  It is 

fantastic that London is showing that lead. 

 

Even more than that, on the Saturday, as some of you will be familiar, they close off the roads and we have 

70,000 people coming and enjoying riding eight miles around London.  When it happened last year, I saw a 

kid doing a wheelie all the way down the Mall from Buckingham Palace to Admiralty Arch.  He must have 

been about 14 years old and the smile on his face summed up just how important that is. 

 

When you look at some of the evidence on how that encourages people to think about getting back on a bike 

- and a huge number of people have bikes in their sheds or in their houses that they are not using - those 

moments are really important for incentivising people and encouraging people to have another go on those 

bikes.  We will be making the most of that weekend as a pinnacle event for celebrating cycling across the city. 

 

What we need to do more is to bring more people from diverse communities across the whole city into that 

event so that it truly represents Londoners and London’s population. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is great, and the sub-regional idea that Julian was 

talking about would be good to develop in future years. 

 

Finally, just in terms of the MTS, it did not really talk about dockless bikes, which emerged a few weeks after.  

Some companies are working well with boroughs; others have not been so good.  Are you welcoming their 

expansion?  How is the work going with boroughs and TfL with them?  Are we going to see them firmly 

mentioned in the final MTS?   

 

Page 24



 

 
 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  I have to say that 

as I cycled home the other night I saw one of the multiple orange Mobikes that are ubiquitous around Ealing.  

I saw somebody on one riding in the opposite direction. 

 

We have had a pilot in Acton since last September [2017] with about 750 bikes.  Yes, it has been successful in 

that we have had one complaint.  We had these designated parking areas, which, by and large, people were 

using and it was not causing us any problems at all.  We were having reasonable usage, but we were not 

seeing people that often on them.  We have now just, since the new year, expanded the pilot across the 

borough and so we are connecting our seven town centres.  For those two-kilometre journeys and          

three-kilometre journeys that connect your town centres, if you can get people on their bikes, it is really 

helpful.  I am now seeing that visual evidence of people on their bikes and out there. 

 

Going a little bit wider, we have had a few more complaints and issues as it is new for a lot of the borough, 

but we have done it in stages and we have worked closely with the operator.  It seems to be a great 

opportunity.  It is also about to be launched in Hounslow as well so that we can go over the borough. 

 

I am going to have to use one tonight when I go to Brent and I am thinking to myself about how I am going 

to do this.  I will just ride to Wembley Stadium and leave it outside.  Presumably, because I am outside the 

zone, nobody will take it and I will then take it back again.  There are those cross-border issues at the 

moment, which we need to resolve. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes.  How is that being co-ordinated? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  If I just take a step back, one of the key 

barriers to getting more people cycling in London is lack of access to a bike.  Clearly, bike hire and bike share 

is absolutely critical to that.  We have had a very successful Santander cycle scheme going on.  We had a 

record numbers last year.  We had 10.3 million or 10.4 million hires last year, which was more than all the 

years that we have had so far, and that is continuing to expand and be successful. 

 

As you said, the dockless schemes have arrived in London.  We spoke a little bit at the last session about 

some of the challenges, particularly with operators showing up without engaging with anybody and how that 

just creates problems.  We came down very hard on them and seized some of those bikes.  However, what has 

been really encouraging is that the other operators are working very closely with the boroughs, in Ealing, 

Hackney, Islington.  Up in Waltham Forest they have another operator.  There are a number of operators 

coming together. 

 

What we have done strategically is we have brought together all the boroughs and some of the other highway 

authorities and the Metropolitan Police Service together for meetings.  This group meets on a bimonthly 

basis.  Jointly with the boroughs, as well as other highway authorities and other authorities such as Royal 

Parks and the police, we have developed a code of practice that basically sets out what ‘good’ looks like for 

those operators to deliver.  That has been welcomed by the boroughs.  I know that in the ongoing discussions 

this will get refined.  This is a new innovation that is coming to London.  We all recognise the potential here, 

but we want it to work.  Most importantly, what we want is to deliver a good quality experience to the 

customers at the end because we know, if people have a good experience, they are going to continue to use 

it.  The code is worth working. 

 

What we are beginning to see is neighbouring boroughs joining up their schemes.  In Amsterdam this week 

they have just launched a new app which has some of those companies coming together to produce joint 

Page 25



 

 
 

booking facilities and drop-off facilities.  The direction of travel on this is to monitor it and continue to work 

very carefully. 

 

We are getting some complaints of bikes obstructing places or where there have been issues of criminal 

activity, breaking some of those bikes, vandalism or theft of those bikes, but these are teething issues.  This 

has huge potential to get more people cycling across London, particularly in outer London where we know 

that it is absolutely an essential part, and we will continue to work with the boroughs, the police and all the 

transport authorities to refine that. 

 

We have also been talking very closely to the Department for Transport and I know that they had a national 

seminar at which we shared this code of practice more nationally to drive that forward. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Just quickly, the responsible companies are all signed up to 

this? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Yes, they have been engaged in it and 

are working carefully. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Perfect.  There will be something in the Transport Strategy 

about this area? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Basically, one of the messages 

we are hearing back in the responses to the draft consultation on the MTS was that it could be stronger 

around that whole technology area.  Yes, that session is a little bit more assertive about what we expect of 

those new business models coming to London, not just dockless but other similar ones, too. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just on the point about dockless bikes, we know that the demographic profile of cyclists 

and indeed users of the Santander cycles tends to be disproportionately white and male with quite high 

incomes.  I was wondering whether you plan to do any work to see whether dockless bikes attract a different 

demographic. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  One of the pieces of guidance within 

this document is about the providers being able to share their data.  We are working with them on which data 

is getting shared and that is very -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You are sharing that with TfL? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Sharing it with TfL so that we can use 

that to strategically plan future routes and where demand is and where there are gaps.  The demographics will 

be interesting on that.  Obviously with some of this it is private data and it is a private company and so how 

that gets shared and the constraints around that can be shared. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It can be anonymised, can it not? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Yes.  That is ongoing negotiations with 

some of those providers in terms of how that works. 

Page 26



 

 
 

 

To your broader point, we need to diversify cycling.  We need to get cycling to truly represent London and 

Londoners.  As we have alluded to earlier, we know that safer infrastructure is absolutely critical to doing 

that, but we need to go further and be more proactive with some of the groups that are less well represented 

in cycling. 

 

That is why we have a successful community grant scheme that we are continuing to invest in.  For example, I 

met people working with Bangladeshi women in Limehouse and a specific cycling scheme engaging them.  

One of the approaches that is working in that space, looking at some of the evidence, is saying that rather 

than this being a cycling scheme, it is cycling with--  Where there is existing activity within a social group, 

whether that is a health-based activity or another social group, add cycling into that group rather than 

creating, “This a cycling scheme for this particular group.  Come to us”.  It is about how we integrate cycling 

into those existing social networks.  That has been particularly exciting. 

 

The gender diversity is where we really need to provide more focus.  At the moment, about 13% of women in 

London cycle, yet 76% can ride a bike and about 52% have access to a bike.  We really need to be discussing 

how we can encourage and enable more women to cycle.  It is very interesting looking at some of the early 

data coming back from the Quietways, which is showing that a greater percentage of women are using those 

routes.  It is about having different types of infrastructure and different types of engagement.  I hope that we 

will be having a conference on women in cycling in London this year to really signify that commitment. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Just before we do move on, can I welcome Surrey Square Primary School 

from Southwark?  Welcome.  We are talking about cycling today and I hope you find this bit interesting.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  Yes, your last point brings me nicely on to the next question, which 

is on Quietways.  I am interested if you have evidence that Quietways are encouraging more women to cycle.  

If that could be shared with the Committee, that would be very helpful. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We do have that and we do share it, but 

I would say that because that programme is still developing, we have that only from some routes at the 

moment.  We are monitoring routes as they get built. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  More broadly, what evaluation of the Quietways programme has been carried out so far? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  First of all, the Quietways are an 

essential part of the network of cycling that we need to provide in London.  80% of cycling happens on 

borough roads and we need to be improving those.  The new infrastructure certainly shows signs that they are 

working.  We undertake monitoring of the routes as they go forward, which we will happily provide, as I 

mentioned, in terms of the uptake by women, for example, of cycling. 

 

What we are also seeing is a greater increase on Quietways, the ones that we have studied.  There are more 

people taking cycling and we are seeing a greater increase along those routes than any other routes.  For 

example, Quietway 1 had a 56% increase of people cycling compared with some of the other routes, which 

were in the low 50s and 40s in terms of percentage uptake. 

 

Interestingly, what we are also seeing is that Quietways are seeing a higher load of mode shift.  People are 

shifting from other forms of transport to cycling.  Quietways, for example, have seen - the ones that we have 

measured anyway - a 45% shift in mode and so 45% of people shifting from another mode of transport to 

Page 27



 

 
 

cycling along those routes.  That compares with the Mini Hollands, for example, around 37% and the Cycle 

Superhighways around 42% of people using those have shifted from other modes of transport. 

 

We need to be investing in that network of Quietways across the city, connecting the strategic locations, 

town centres to town centres.  Julian was gracious enough to invite me down to see their new cycle route in 

Ealing and we opened that.  It was great seeing the different schools along that road using that cycle 

infrastructure for a healthy way to get to and from school.  We know that not everybody wants to be cycling 

along busy main roads, even if they are protected and segregated routes.  We know that this is a critical part 

of our infrastructure. 

 

As I said, for all of those routes that we put in, we are monitoring the number of cyclists.  We are also doing 

some stop surveys to understand who the cyclists on there are because, just by counting, we do not get an 

understanding of that mode shift or the gender or any of the other backgrounds that we want to look at in 

terms of our targets. 

 

However, as I said before, with new infrastructure, we need to continue to look at how we improve that.  We 

will continue to work with the boroughs, TfL and the Mayor across London to make sure that those routes are 

being delivered to a high quality.  It would be fair to say there have been some compromises along some of 

the routes that have been delivered and I know I have asked TfL and Nigel’s team to undertake a review of 

the routes and the quality along those some of the routes.  When there are challenges, we are tackling those 

head-on. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  In terms of quality, do you have minimum standards for Quietways and can they be shared 

with us? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Nigel, do you want to talk a bit about 

those? 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  We have the London Cycling 

Design Standards, which provide the backbone guidance for the boroughs that are working.  We have an 

assurance process where we look at the designs that come through from the boroughs. 

 

However, as Will has said, we are on a learning curve - as the boroughs are - with this programme.  We have 

constructed 100 kilometres out of a 250-kilometre overall programme.  There are 30 boroughs involved in 

this and so it is a hugely complex picture.  We are now starting to go back and look at some of the proposals 

and look at some of the designs.  We are starting to say, “We do not think in the context of this area some of 

these designs quite fit”, and we are working with the boroughs to revise that and bring that up. 

 

There is not a minimum fixed standard because there are so many different contexts, but we are very aware of 

that and very keen to ensure that we have the right quality route sections coming forward.  As an example of 

that, we have six sections we are expecting to open in the early part of this year.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  These are Quietways? 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  They are six Quietway sections.  

They are, we would describe as, significant sections.  We do not want to get into just how many kilometres we 

have produced and effectively salami-slice the programme, and so we are dealing in significant sections, 

which we would equate to above three kilometres in length. 

Page 28



 

 
 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Are these part of the two existing Quietways or are these new Quietways? 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  Yes, there is a whole range.  To 

give you a feel, we have opened the whole of Quietway 1 and that is up and running, but we have already 

opened significant sections on Quietways 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 14 and 22.  Because of the length of the routes and 

the complexity of the delivery environment, that is the right way to go, but we are making absolutely sure 

that the sections we do open are significant sections connecting through to significant destinations or making 

significant coverage of the network. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  There are more Quietways along the way? 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  Absolutely. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We have heard evidence from Simon Munk from the London Cycling Campaign basically 

saying that they had not been a success.  Andrew Gilligan [former Mayor’s Cycling Commissioner] has made 

his views on this very clear, as he always does.  Just so that we are clear, Will, the Quietways programme is 

going to continue? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  It is continuing.  It is delivering results.  

To think that they should be stopped is a nonsense.  We need to be able to provide a network for all of 

London.  I know my predecessor has some idea now that it should be focusing on the TfL Road Network 

(TLRN), but that would exclude whole boroughs from having access to safe cycling.  We need to be investing 

in this.  There is a programme of investment.  You will see new routes beginning to open up and that will 

continue because they are an important part of our network. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am not a cyclist, but I did cycle Quietway 1 with Sustrans.  It is clear where investment 

has gone in and there are some very nice interventions, but there are also some sections of it where you do 

interact with some very busy traffic.  I can see why the people who it is aimed at might find that quite 

intimidating. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Completely, and that is why we need to 

continue to work with the boroughs.  Reducing the level of traffic, volume of traffic and speed of traffic 

along those routes is absolutely critical.  That is why the filtering is so important.  Where we are seeing the 

success and people are liking that is where we have that sufficient filtering.  We will continue to work with the 

boroughs.  I know Julian has a lot of experience and knowledge on this. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, I was hoping Julian would come in very quickly - I know we are short on time - just 

on the borough commitment to the Quietways programme. 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  Yes, 100%.  I was 

going to make a comment about the quality of the Quietways.  Will talked about what is called the Ruislip 

Road East Quietway, which we are doing in two phases.  Will and I opened the first phase, which runs halfway 

between Greenford and Ealing Broadway, and the second phase will take it all the way to Ealing.  The quality 

of that Ruislip Road Quietway is just superb.  I will ride down it just for the smoothness of the ride and just 

for the fun of it.  It is just first class.  I am a hardened cyclist who is quite happy to mix it with the traffic, but I 

will make sure I always go on that Quietway.  Even somebody like me, who is quite happy to mix it with the 

traffic, immediately relaxes and gets this absolutely smooth ride.  No wonder the kids are cycling to the 

Page 29



 

 
 

schools that link off that route and also cycle to the leisure centre and the swimming pool that are on that 

route.  There is 100% support. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Good. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you very much. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I have some questions about outer London.  I would like to thank both Will and Nigel 

for coming on Transport Committee visits to outer London to see just how hostile some of those street 

environments are during our rapporteurship on hostile streets.  We are expecting a response to 

our recommendations, which we are expecting in March [2018].  Is that right? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Our response you will hopefully 

receive before March [2018]. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Excellent.  That is marvellous.  In terms of outer London, we know that there is huge 

unmet potential for walking and cycling in outer London, 55% in outer London, whereas in inner London and 

central London it is more like 35%.  Dr Rachel Aldred [Reader in Transport, University of Westminster] told us 

at our last meeting that the injury odds are seven times higher on outer London roads. 

 

My question is: how can the significant unmet potential for cycling growth in outer London be met while the 

roads are so much more dangerous for people who are cycling and riskier in outer London than in inner? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  I wanted to just pick up the 

point about the ambition around ‘vision zero’, which is at the heart of the MTS, because Rachel is right in 

terms of the risk per journey.  It is much higher in outer London, even though absolute numbers of people 

being hurt are higher in the centre.  We know that what stops people cycling is fear and, when that fear is 

rightly placed, then we need to do something about it. 

 

With the ambitions of ‘vision zero’, you would focus first and foremost on tackling speed.  There is a real need 

to tackle speed before you even start thinking about cycle routes and reducing traffic dominance and 

reducing dangerous traffic speeds in outer London.  The MTS sets out very clear policies around the need for 

extensions of 20-mile-an-hour zones - and that includes our own roads as well as borough roads - and 

greater enforcement of speeds. 

 

Will, you might want to come in and talk about routes, but creating a speed-friendly environment is the first 

and most important thing you are going to do to tackle that risk point -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  A low-speed-friendly environment? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Yes, a low-speed-friendly 

environment, somewhere where you feel safe anyway and are safe.  That is a prerequisite to anything else we 

do. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Building on that, at the same time, we 

need to be looking at how we are delivering safer routes in outer London.  I mentioned before my recent visit 

Page 30



 

 
 

to Kingston, where it was very encouraging seeing, when we put in those routes, the increasing number of 

cyclists in those areas.  Caroline [Russell AM], when we went out to Waltham Forest, you could see some of 

the changes happening there and, also, going out to Enfield and looking at the great stuff that is happening 

there. 

 

What I am very excited about is this recent announcement and the number of new routes.  We are looking at 

outer London routes here.  I went out to visit a significant development in Barking Riverside.  I cycled around 

that area.  We are having 15,000 new homes going into that space.  We need to make sure that the 

infrastructure is there to connect people so that they can choose a healthy and sustainable mode of transport 

on that, and connecting those developments not only to the new stations that are going in there but also to 

the other areas such as Ilford.  That is why I am excited that we are now looking at putting new infrastructure 

in outer London. 

 

However, as well as the end-to-end routes, what is really important is looking at how we drive some of those 

local journeys.  You talked about the high potential in outer London.  We know there is very high car 

dependency but there is very high potential in terms of the number of journeys that could be made.  The 

essential part of that is not necessarily thinking that we need a route from Hounslow to Dagenham all the way 

across London.  What we need to be thinking about is those radial routes into town centres and around 

transport hubs. 

 

That is why we have the Liveable Neighbourhood programme.  We did an announcement of seven new 

schemes in seven boroughs working on their Liveable Neighbourhood programme.  Some of those are in 

outer and inner London.  We have Ealing, Greenwich, Hackney, Haringey, Havering, Lewisham and Waltham 

Forest as part of that first round and that is the first year.  This is a £114 million programme.  A lot of 

boroughs applied for that, but what we need to do is improve the quality of the applications and work with 

those boroughs closely, just as we have been talking about with the other routes, to make sure that the 

proposals that are coming from the boroughs - because these are largely borough roads and we are working 

with them - are very high quality so that we can invest there and drive that potential, particularly for those 

local trips around those town centre/transport hub radials. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  When do you anticipate that the first Liveable Neighbourhood schemes will be 

delivered? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We announced the first stage of the 

funding.  That is getting all the plans up to delivering a feasibility design and out for consultation.  We are 

working with the boroughs and going out to visit them to work on improving that.  Different schemes are at 

different stages of development and so that will be an ongoing process. 

 

What we will do is we will have another round of applications next year and so there will be another loan, and 

so that will create that pipeline.  Which will come first?  I am not sure because it depends on the state of 

development of each of those schemes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Presumably, these Liveable Neighbourhoods are learning from the Mini Holland 

experience? 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Yes. 

 

Page 31



 

 
 

Caroline Russell AM:  When will your evaluation of the Mini Hollands programme be published?  Are you 

expecting to publish one? 

 

Nigel Hardy (Head of Project Sponsorship, Transport for London):  Clearly, as in all of our schemes, 

we would monitor the success of the programme.  I would think it would be something like 12 months when 

we start to see the full impact of an entire Mini Holland programme.  Even Waltham Forest, which has been 

running ahead on its development, is not yet complete.  Once we have given a time for the whole investment 

in a particular area to be implemented and to be fully completed, then we can start bringing that kind of 

analysis forward. 

 

In the meantime, though, as you have heard today and can see in part of our evidence submission, whatever 

facts and figures we are getting back from the boroughs we are introducing as we go. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Certainly it seems, if you are wanting to raise the quality of the bids that you are 

getting from the boroughs, then sharing as much of that learning from the process of consultation for the 

Mini Hollands but also in terms of what works and what does not work.  It has been quite a gritty process for 

some of these pioneer boroughs and it makes sense for other boroughs to learn from what they have done 

and run with the good stuff efficiently.  From 2000 to 2016 in Lea Bridge Road, there has been a 763% 

increase in cycling.  However, just in 2015/16 - and that was with the Mini Holland not yet finished - we saw 

a 97% increase in cycling.  Clearly, they are doing something that is constructive and helpful. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  We are seeing that being replicated, 

yes.  I hope with some of the questions that we have answered up until now we are showing how the 

learnings from the Mini Hollands and other work is getting integrated not just into Liveable Neighbourhoods 

programming but across all our work in terms of consultations and in terms of greater borough engagement.  

We have to have that learning and prototyping approach to delivering this as we go forward. 

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  Can I just add?  

Boroughs are also keen to learn from other boroughs that have already done this.  In Ealing, we have had a 

Cycling Commission and we had [Councillor] Clyde Loakes from Waltham Forest as one of our commissioners 

to present what they have learned from their Mini Holland.  We are trying to get as much best practice as we 

can from wherever in order to make sure that our Liveable Neighbourhood project is a real success. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Could that be an ongoing programme of sharing and learning?  Could TfL help the 

boroughs with that? 

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  Cycling is one issue, but the 

MTS sets a whole change agenda for London.  One of the things we are considering right now and is exactly 

what support, workshops, information and data we are going to provide regularly, particularly over the next 

12 months as boroughs will be redrafting their LIPs.  That is a programme of activity and outreach that we are 

planning right now.  I will be speaking with Julian about this to see what is going to be helpful, when and 

where. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We are going to have to move on.  Thank you very much.  We have really 

run out of time but, Joanne, in five minutes could you do your bit? 

 

Page 32



 

 
 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes.  In actual fact, some of what I am going to ask you perhaps you could put in 

writing to me.  Cycle parking is a real issue and, as cycling increases, there is a need to provide secure 

cycle parking.  I understand that there are 22,000 reported cycle thefts each year and that cycle retention is 

an issue.  A quarter of those people who stopped cycling or reduced it say lack of parking is a real issue.  I 

wonder if you could write to the Committee and let us know whether you have any figures for what the 

shortfall is, perhaps over the next five to ten years, and whether you have targets on that.  Andrew Gilligan 

[former Cycling Commissioner] when he was here said that the previous Mayor [Boris Johnson] met his 

80,000 target but I got some e-mails afterwards saying, “How did he count them?  Did they count the ones 

that were taken away or the ones that were in private businesses and therefore not open to the public?”  If 

we could just have some real information, that would be very useful.   

 

Perhaps I could ask you this now.  It is fine on the street but lots of people want to cycle, want to own their 

own bikes, but do not have space at home.  I am going to ask both Julian and Will, if I can, about what you 

are doing to ensure that people who want to own their own bike can?  I know Hackney, for example, is 

leading the way with their street hangars.  Residents can hire a hanging space.  I think, Julian, you have 

started doing that in Ealing and some boroughs subsidise those for residents.  Some do not.  I am just 

wondering what the barriers are and what plans you have for those. 

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  Should I start on Londonwide and you 

can talk a bit about Ealing?  Would that make sense?  Certainly, you are completely right, bike parking is 

essential.  Every journey starts and stops with that.  One of the challenges is looking at how much bike 

parking is actually available because as you rightly say, some of that is in public land and some of it is in 

private land.   

 

From 2008 to 2016 we delivered about 130,000 bike parking spaces, places to lock up your bike, across 

London.  What we are doing at the moment is an audit of all the cycle infrastructure across London.  That is a 

digital audit that will help us inform a whole raft of different things but cycle parking is one of them, going 

street by street analysing what infrastructure they include and the parking facilities.  This will be open data 

that will be shared and that should be available later this year, I hope.  There are some technical challenges in 

doing this - no other city has done this - but it will help inform a lot of strategic investments going forward, 

including wayfinding and other things.  The parking side of that will allow us to see where the parking spaces 

are across the board and be able to make investments along those lines.  We continue to invest in parking as 

part of each one of our schemes as we go forward and we will continue to be doing that.  More broadly, as 

part of the Healthy Streets agenda, bike parking is one of those indicators.  For all our schemes that will be 

part of that.   

 

One of the things to point out that has changed recently is that the London Plan now has very specific 

minimum cycle parking requirements for a whole raft of different types of developments, whether that is a 

nursery, a place of work, a hospital or flats themselves.  There are minimum requirements for new builds as 

part of the planning process, both in terms of the number of fulltime employees or students in a place and 

also the number of visitors who would be attending.  That will help deliver thousands of places into the new 

developments and retrofitting.  It is how it gets delivered into the existing housing stock that is the challenge.  

We are continuing through the LIP money.  In other areas there will be borough parking facilities.  It is not 

just Hackney that is now doing the hangars.  I know Ealing have done it and other boroughs.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  In your LIP guidance to boroughs, do you include cycle parking?   

 

Page 33



 

 
 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  In terms of it being one of the 

items boroughs should be considering investing in, yes, indeed.  Specific guidance on where you might want 

to do it is not in the guidance itself.  It is more generally available from us.   
 

Can I just add one point?  It is not all good news.  One of the barriers I would highlight is just finding space in 

central London.  For us, one of the real challenges is mainline rail stations.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That is one of my other questions.   

 

Lilli Matson (Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London):  There are some good examples 

of parking at mainline rail stations but getting access to space in these stations is a real challenge.  Ensuring 

that other agencies like Network Rail and those people responsible for the land value the space for cycle 

parking as highly as cyclists or we might do has been a challenge.  I do not have a solution for that, I just flag 

that and say that is a problem.  We do need support in that area.   

 

Dr Will Norman (Mayor’s Walking and Cycling Commissioner):  It is depressing if you go into the new 

London Bridge how, with millions and millions of pounds in there, there is not a single sign that I could see 

that had a bike indicated on it.  There are United States airports that have better parking facilities than our 

mainline rail station.  It is absolutely critical that Network Rail play their part in terms of doing that to deliver 

the Strategy for London.   

 

Cllr Julian Bell (Chair, Transport and Environment Committee, London Councils):  First of all, London 

Councils did some polling about air quality.  One of the questions we asked was how we could get more 

people to take up cycling and 23% said that we needed to provide better secure cycle parking.  The issue of 

bike theft is a real issue and it is one of the curses of being a cyclist.  Quality cycle parking and safe, good, 

secure cycle parking is really important so yes, we have done the bike hangars.  Again, it is about taking away, 

sometimes, car parking to replace it with cycle parking.  Always there is a tension and it becomes controversial 

but you do it because it is absolutely the right thing to do.   

 

Also, I know we are talking about trying to get people with their own bikes to have some parking but again, 

the bike hire schemes are all part of this for those who do not have their own bikes.  What we have said as a 

borough is that we are going to cover the borough with Sheffield stands - those are the hoops - and make 

sure there is one outside every shop, because again this economic argument is critical.  Every shop should 

have some Sheffield stands outside it in order to get people going to those shops to spend their money.  We 

know they do more so than car drivers.  Again, it is about space and clearly in our town centres you can look 

to take away some car parking and replace it with cycle parking.  We have certainly done that and will do it. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much indeed for your time, ladies and gentlemen.  It has 

been very informative.  It has been a bit longer than we predicted but that is because it is a very interesting 

subject and very important for London.  Thank you very much for coming in. 

 

Page 34



 
 

 
Appendix 2 

 

 

Transport Committee – Thursday 1 February 2018 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 – Deputy Mayor for Transport 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Welcome, Valerie Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport.  Lovely to see 

you.  And, of course, Alex Williams.  Good to see you.  We have worked together in the past. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We have. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Good to see you again.  You are the Director of City Planning, Transport for 

London (TfL).  Lovely.  Welcome.  We have some questions for you but before we start, would you like to make 

an opening statement? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I was just intending to say a few words about 

where we are with redrafting the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) but that might be something you have in 

the questions anyway.  It is up to you, Chairman.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  All right, we will kick off then.  Did you want to touch on Crossrail at all, 

either of you? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I hope you will have seen that we had a very open 

and thorough discussion at the TfL Board.  The TfL Board is now meeting in this Chamber so the meeting is 

more accessible for you in the sense that you can listen to them on the webcast.  As part of our commitment to 

transparency we have made real efforts to rub, sometimes, some of the gloss off some of the people who come 

to give evidence.  On this occasion, this week we asked Sir Terry Morgan [CBE, Chairman of Crossrail] to come 

and give an honest, open and factual account of where things are.  As interest grows as we get closer to the 

completion of the project, the Mayor thinks it is really important that we are keeping Londoners up to date, 

yourselves and in particular the Board.   

 

Sir Terry Morgan talked about the programme and where we are on it.  Of course, the project is now 90% 

complete.  At the moment it is still within the budget envelope.  However, there have been some issues.  The 

fact is that these are the very last stages now of a huge and complex project and there are risks.  We should not 

hide the fact that on any project like this there are risks.  The construction work has gone very well, as you 

know.   

 

The biggest risk we identified was the fact that the signalling software environment - I am not pretending to be 

an expert; those words flow from a piece of paper into my mouth - has five different systems on it.  The 

integration of those systems and getting the same trains to function on all of those different systems is always 

going to be challenging.  In fact, that seems so far to be going fairly well.  There is no wood to touch but that 

does seem to be going very well.  Sir Terry reported that they had had one of the trains down to Heathrow to 

test it there and that worked.   

 

The issue that has arisen is that before Christmas energisation of the scheme was supposed to be started.  That 

would pave the way for more testing.  The trains have to be tested and run on the tracks to get the final 

Page 35



 
 

certification for safety.  In fact, the circuity -- I have forgotten the name of the equipment that was 

concerned -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  So have I, sorry.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The circuitry did not just not function, but it 

actually made a bang.  They investigated it and it seems there was a design error in the equipment that went in 

before Christmas.  That had to be taken away and redesigned and they tried to energise it last night.  Last 

night it did not work, apparently.  I have not had a report back -- I do not know if Alex has -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  -- as to whether or not they think at this stage 

that it was caused by a minor issue or a more major one, but clearly that is a problem.  Crossrail is still 

predicting that they can meet the overall time targets and that we will be looking at opening the Paddington to 

Abbey Wood section in December this year, but clearly what happens now is it does start to compress the 

testing time.  This is the worrying stage of the project, and our commitment is to be honest with people about 

what is going on and where it is.   

 

Having said that, it was ever thus.  Any major project has a difficult time.  Somebody quoted Sir Alex  

Ferguson [CBE, former manager of Manchester United] and I am not supposed to repeat it but it has 

something to do with shuffling in your seat in the last stages of a match.  We are in the last stages and things 

have gone very well.  The good news is that Bombardier, who are responsible of course for the trains and the 

signalling software connection, have been, we are told, putting their very best people on it and giving it huge 

time and attention.  There is no lack of expertise and personnel working on the completion of the project.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  That is helpful.  Could I just ask you to comment on Capita’s 

profit warning?   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Capita at the moment only manage the 

Congestion Charge call centre, website and back office functions, paying the fees for congestion charging.  

Over a year ago, around Christmas, some of you will remember that there were a series of outages on that 

website and we had some trouble.  We had trouble because they were not reporting to us that that was 

happening, very alarmingly.  We were hearing from our customers before we were hearing from them.  That 

caused us, politically as well as professionally, a lot of alarm because in particular Capita were due to be 

commissioning the changes for the T-Charge functionality, if you remember.  Very strong lights and 

interventions went in.  Capita, I am very pleased to say, rose to it because they knew that they could not let the 

Mayor down on the implementation of the T-Charge and we have had very good service from Capita this year.  

They are performing like a strong contractor and a strong organisation.   

 

TfL always keeps an eye on the financial status of contractors and there is always a contingency step-in plan 

for every contract, as there was with Carillion.  I think at the moment we have no concerns.  Should they be 

bidding for any future contracts there would be due diligence done, as there is always due diligence done on 

the finances.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is worth noting that in the Board 

report there is some data tracking Capita’s performance.  The story that Val just talked about, their 

Page 36



 
 

performance worsening but improving, all of that data is in the Board reports in the section Vernon presented 

[Vernon Everitt, Managing Director- Customer Experience, Marketing and Communications, TfL].  

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That is very helpful.  Thank you very much.  We will move on to my first 

question then.  Can we expect to see significant changes from the draft version when the MTS is published, 

and do you accept that the Mayor needs more mode share targets for specific modes and interim targets 

before the end date of 2041? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I can say a little bit about the MTS, some 

overview stuff, and then perhaps Alex will back me up with some more detail.  We did have over 6,000 

responses to the consultation.  What was very interesting was that well over 500 key stakeholder organisations 

across the realm, not just transport ones but business, disability, the voluntary sector and so on, gave very 

substantial and detailed commentaries.  They were from a lot of very good organisations.  A profound dialogue 

happened, I think.  London Councils, for example, gave us a huge and detailed response.  That has been and is 

being analysed.  I have to say there were a lot of very good stakeholder meetings as well.  In addition to the 

engagements that TfL organised, we got invited to lots of things and took up those opportunities.  It was a 

really healthy opportunity for London to talk to its transport operator about what it is doing, how and why.  All 

sorts of stuff came up.   

 

We are on track to be delivering you the finalised version for your Assembly meeting, which I think is on  

12 March [2018].  We should be publishing properly before purdah and it will be the first of the Mayor’s 

Strategies to do so.   

 

There were quite a lot of things that were said but if I can pick out the ones that seem more consensual, 

broadly based comments, there was a lot of support for the broad vision of the Strategy, which I think is why 

we had so many good responses in.  You ask people really serious questions and they give you some serious 

answers.  There was very strong support for the Healthy Streets approach and for the broad 8% mode share 

target.  There was a lot of welcoming of it.  Very interestingly, the health sector responded very positively to it 

as well.  There was broadly a lot of support for the strategic direction.  Really the questioning was about, “We 

want to see it.  When are you going to do it?  When do we get it?”   

 

In regards to the particular things that people picked out, improvement in air quality was very strongly 

supported.  Walking and cycling proposals, not particular schemes but broadly what we were doing, was very 

strongly supported.  There was very strong support for the Vision Zero approach, which we have yet to spell 

out in more detail.  That is coming shortly through the TfL Board system to tackle road danger.  In fact, there 

was a strong call for us: why do we not do Vision Zero, zero deaths, right across the transport sector?  It was 

quite interesting to me because we had gone for Vision Zero in the draft MTS because for the rail sector, 

although it is branded differently, there is a ‘vision zero’ approach, there is an institutional framework, 

procedures and targets.  We thought we were addressing the deficit in the roadscape, where so many people 

die and are injured on an annual basis.  People said, “I like Vision Zero as a concept.  Let’s have it across the 

board”.  It was interesting.   

 

There was quite a lot of commentary on road user charging and quite a lot of support for that even though the 

reference in the MTS was a relatively short “We want to explore this” reference.  We want to see more coming 

back from the community.  There was a lot of support for Crossrail 2 and a lot of support for rail devolution and 

metroisation, particularly from the passengers.  There was lots of support for comments about improving 

stations, station capacity, and overall support for buses but the boroughs, amongst other stakeholders, are 

saying, “We want to make sure that we get more of a say on those bus services”.  There was support for the 

principles of what we are calling Good Growth, which you will see across the other Strategies, ie where 

Page 37



 
 

development happens it will happen more sustainably if it happens around public transport nodes and with 

Healthy Streets investment.  There was quite a lot of support for the Mayor’s continuing objection to Heathrow 

expansion from stakeholders.  That felt like a strong message.   

 

The kinds of things people said we had either not said enough about or they were worried about included 

things like the demand that we should say some more about the opportunities of new technology.  We had laid 

out some principles in the first document but of course we have been doing more work in the interim.  Things 

have happened like dockless bikes and things you are talking about.  There is a lot of enthusiasm for things like 

autonomous vehicles and the whole concept of mobility as a service.  We should say a bit more about that and 

our approaches but it is important to point out that those things have to be looked at through the prism, the 

glasses, the policy direction in the MTS.  Road space, for example, is still an issue.  Health is still an issue.  It is 

not completely unalloyed enthusiasm, but what can we use that is beneficial for the community? 

 

There was a lot said about outer London.  “We want more modal shift in outer London because we want more 

public transport.  You need to be doing more”.  We are looking to what we can do to strengthen the public 

transport offer in outer London.  We need to say more about freight.  Again, that was one of the areas where 

we knew we needed to say more and we have carried on working on freight consolidation, efficiency, cleaning 

it up, taking more stuff off the roads and moving it around through sustainable means.  There was demand for 

more to be said about public transport accessibility, not just station access but communication with disabled 

passengers and that sort of thing.   

 

There was a lot of demand for more rail capacity, even where it was not ours but we would like it to be.  They 

asked for more ambition on the tram extensions.  There was a strong lobby for the tram extensions and a desire 

for more proposals for orbital public transport.  In fact, there was a very strong pitch made by the northwest 

London boroughs - Hounslow, Ealing and all the boroughs around there - for a development on the  

Dudding Hill freight line.  There was a real desire to see an orbital Overground system, which we have looked 

more at.  There were a few areas where there were very mixed views.  The community has a lot of different 

views about river crossings: the type, where they are, all of that.  Those are the kinds of things that we will see.   

 

Just as a headline, I will say that we will be strengthening the narrative around the new technology.  We will be 

clarifying the Vision Zero policy and addressing this point about having standard approaches there.  We will 

need to be doing more work - this is not necessarily in the final MTS but just work to be done - on rational 

approaches to street space allocation.  There is much more about freight and coaches in there.  A strengthened 

narrative on National Rail.  A strengthened narrative on the Sutton tram extension.  We went to see Sutton and 

Merton yesterday on that.   

 

There is this tiny little squiggle in the draft MTS about the proposed west London orbital rail line.  We have 

looked at that proposal in much more detail.  I was escorted around the route with a whole bunch of Council 

Leaders.  I was in august company.  They were very interesting proposals and I am very pleased to say Network 

Rail engaged with us on that.  Very interesting.  Some good stuff there.  There is a lot more, as I said, generally 

on outer London.   

 

Those are the things, just as headlines.  I have the tracked version here, Chairman.  I will not dip into it in the 

meeting but I just want you to know that it does exist.  It is being kicked around all of the Mayoral Advisors 

and of course the Mayor himself.  We are on track to produce what I hope will be a powerful document for the 

future of London.   

 

Page 38



 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That is brilliant actually, but there are those who are concerned about modal 

share.  You have targets in there around cycling and walking but can they be disaggregated so that we know 

what the target is for walking and what the target is for cycling and so on, so that there is a clearer idea?   

 

Also, the other request from this Committee repeatedly is around what I would call a pathway of steps.  We 

know you have the Vision Zero but in order to get to zero you have to make a number of steps.  Would you be 

able to give targets, either yearly or five-yearly, as to where you would like to see yourself and how you get to 

zero?  Having a zero at 2041 is admirable but you do not just go to zero.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I understand what you are saying, Chairman.  It is 

about people wanting more security about the delivery of the ambition.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is difficult in a Strategy that goes over such a 

long time.  We have set a very strong direction.  The design of this was that it is the intention of the annual 

review of the Business Plan, or the Business Plan itself to give us that shorter-term detail of the steps that we 

want to take on cycling and modal share, for example, because that is where we make it real.  The further away 

you go the more fictional it is.   

 

I would also say there is an issue about what we are trying to achieve, which is a much more integrated 

approach.  The Healthy Streets approach is much more integrated: walking, cycling and public transport.  Some 

of the schemes that go in and cover an area are, by definition, catering for improvement of access to public 

transport, improvement in pedestrian and improvement in cycling.  It is much less difficult to say, “Here are 

these schemes, this is the chunk of money and this is the precise outcome” because so many more of these 

projects have to have multiple benefits.  You will see the targets in the short-term documentation around the 

five-year rolling Business Plan and the broad targets are in here.   

 

The 80% sustainable transport target - walking, cycling and public transport - is a real target but how exactly 

the breakdown of that will be at this stage is very difficult to see.  However, that is where we know we want to 

get and we will be giving expression to that.  In fact, we are going to upgrade that target to the number one 

policy in the document.  It is a Mayoral policy.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It might be worth me saying that in 

the MTS we have roadmaps that set out how we are going to move towards the ambitions for zero-emission 

transport, accessibility and bus improvements.  In terms of Vision Zero, you probably are going to see that in 

the document that we are working on now, the Vision Zero strategy.  In terms of where we are on interim mode 

share stuff, it is about us making that real in the business planning documents and the scorecard documents, 

making sure that we are all working towards that overarching target.  The last thing we want this to do when it 

is published is gather dust or props up screens or anything like that.  This has to be a real working document 

that genuinely shapes how TfL runs its operations going forward.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We heard earlier Councillor Julian Bell refer to the reduction in Local 

Implementation Plan (LIP) funding this year.  I just wondered which elements of Healthy Streets may not be 

delivered as a result of that reduction in LIP funding.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The Healthy Streets programme as a whole is in 

shape.  The element of the traditional LIPs programme that has suffered a reduction is the LIPs corridors and 

the road maintenance.  We appreciate that is difficult for the boroughs and it is particularly bad for the next 

Page 39



 
 

two years.  However, the Healthy Streets programme is intact.  We are still managing to deliver an average of 

over £200 million per year on the borough schemes in total.  That is regrettable but it is not a huge hole in our 

delivery of Healthy Streets or the projects.   

 

The issue - we have talked about this - of the way that TfL has had all its revenue grant funding removed does 

mean that we are less revenue resilient and of course we get no money for roads now at all from the 

Government.  It is quite a difficult issue.  The Mayor has asked us, following the discussion that was held with 

the Assembly Plenary on the budget, to look at whether there is anything we can do on this.  We are tearing 

through everything again, although we had gone through it, to see what we can do.  It is far more difficult to 

find revenue than it is to find capital but we will be going back to the Mayor hopefully at the beginning of next 

week with some ideas.  Is there any way we can offer further assistance to the boroughs?  It is an extremely 

tight year financially.  That is just a fact. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We have in the past asked for a breakdown by borough of LIP funding.  

Would that be possible? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, that is possible.  In fact, we are working on a 

breakdown not just of LIP funding by borough but borough funding by borough because there are many 

schemes, for example the gyratory removals and improvements, where two or three boroughs might be 

affected. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That would be helpful.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Many of the cycling schemes cut across three or 

four boroughs.  If we look at everything that is spent on the ground, we ought to be able to try to give some 

indication of how much by borough.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That is very kind.  Thank you.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  Good morning.  I would like to ask you about private hire and the 

taxi trade in particular.  One of the things that people are concerned about which is causing congestion is an 

increase in the number of private hire vehicles being licensed by TfL.  I believe it has increased from about 

50,000 in 2013/14 to about 90,000 today.  One of the things that has been talked about is making private hire 

vehicles pay the Congestion Charge.  Are you going to make them pay the Congestion Charge? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  This is something we have been talking about.  

There is work going on right now and there has been for some time.  When we get the final outcome of that 

research work we would be aiming to do a consultation on it this year.  As at this moment, I do not have the 

final package of work.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  You will notice that when we started 

work on this we sent that to all of the private hire operators so that they are aware we have started the process 

and this is going on.  Clearly, we need to understand the analysis that that comes back with, particularly the 

effect on small operators as to what implications removing that exemption would have.  We have started the 

work but it is for a consultation later this year, potentially.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Potentially.   

 

Page 40



 
 

David Kurten AM:  I do understand there was a feasibility study which has been done by TfL but that has 

been delayed a couple of times.  I hear that the Commissioner told the Committee in March last year that there 

was a study that was ongoing.  He said in July 2017 he would provide the feasibility study to the Assembly but 

that has not happened yet.  Do you know what is happening with the feasibility study? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Assembly Member Kurten, can I just say in 

general there is a resourcing problem around taxis and private hire staffing?  You said yourself there has been 

more than a doubling in the number of private hire vehicles and drivers.  There has been a huge array of legal 

challenges being thrown at TfL.  With the volume of correspondence, sometimes from the same people in huge 

volumes, this department is very, very stretched and quality really matters because livelihoods are affected.  

Also, it has a big requirement to assist with the lobbying agenda, which is really important to us.  We now have 

the support of something like 50 other licensing authorities on this issue of the need for changes to the out of 

area rules.  There is a huge workload facing this part of TfL and sometimes the delivery has to be prioritised.  

You will have noticed as well that the taxi issue, the zero emissions capable taxis coming in, the electric taxis 

and all of that has been extra work for the section.  The work will be done.  I can only say I am sorry that we 

have not been able to deliver it as quickly as we would like.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I do not know if this will give you any 

confidence or not but in response to those resource challenges the work on this is shifting to my team.  That 

feasibility work, because of those pressures, was never completed.  We need to get a group set up to have a 

look at this properly and complete that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  It has not been completed? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  No, but we are close to it.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is the work we just restarted.  

When it is done we will release that in a timely fashion.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  TfL as a whole has been undergoing a 

transformation.  There have been job vacancies to fill and people leaving but now City Planning is up and 

running, led by Alex.  That is a good, secure place and the right place to do this kind of research and planning. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Do you need to complete the feasibility study before you then do the consultation that 

you need to do? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  We are aiming to do the consultation this year. 

 

David Kurten AM:  This year some time, so in the next 12 months or so.  Moving on to something slightly 

different, one of the things the Mayor has said he wants to do is to try to get the power to cap private hire 

licences, the numbers that he has to issue.  Of course, that would help with congestion.  He has mentioned 

that a few times in answers to questions I and other people have asked.  What has he done so far in 

communicating with the Government and other people to try to get the power to cap private hire vehicles?  

What has been the Government’s response to that? 

 

Page 41



 
 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There is a regular dialogue with 

Government on this.  I was in a meeting with Val with one of the Ministers probably a year ago talking about 

this very issue.  I think they left the Department soon after through a reshuffle.  My take on it is the 

Department for Transport (DfT) understand the issue and get the need to address it.  It is more about 

prioritising its time and resource through a parliamentary process. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  On capping, I would say we have been told, “No, no, 

no” verbally.  The DfT is not interested in capping.  It is more interested and sympathetic to the issue of  

cross-border hiring, especially as there have been issues out of London.  It gets that.  There has been interest, 

of course, in the pedicabs.  The election also threw a few things in the air we were getting some way towards 

achieving.  On the capping issue, at the moment we have pretty much been told we are barking up the wrong 

tree. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Was it [Rt. Hon] Chris Grayling [MP, Secretary of State for Transport] or another Minister 

in the Department who told you that? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I have sat in meetings with [Rt. Hon] Chris Grayling 

[MP] and with Lord Ahmad [former Transport Minister, Skills & Aviation Security].  They have been very 

constructive meetings and it has been made pretty clear to us that capping was not going to be -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK, so the Government is not making favourable noises about that. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  They did not see it as the solution. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Cross-border hiring is a big issue as well.  Obviously if you do not give a licence to one 

company they can get licensed in another area of Brighton, Sheffield or somewhere and operate in London.  

What is the situation on talks with the Government on that issue?  You say it is more favourable.  How often 

are you meeting with the Government to talk about this? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There is a technical working group now on a number 

of these issues that we send a couple of TfL officers to. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am afraid I do not know the detail.  

We can supply more details on that.  I think there is a framework about how we would like cross-border hiring 

to work.  There is a consensus across the various operators.  I am afraid I do not know your core issue of 

whether that has any track within the Department.  I will go back and maybe it is one of those things we can 

follow up with a letter. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  To begin with it became apparent that for some areas 

it is not as simple as it looks.  If you are in an area where there are a lot of licensing authorities in a small zone 

they need to have cross-border hiring to have an efficient market.  It is how you deal with that.  It has become 

more apparent that there are voluntary ways of licensing authorities clustering together and agreeing some 

common standards.  This is all quite a technical legal area.  Some of it was a bit more complex.  By definition 

we are working with local government where there are different aspirations in different areas.  There is more 

interest in it but I would not say we have the major solution on the stocks yet. 

 

David Kurten AM:  One other thing, have you spoken or met with the all-party parliamentary group that is 

led by Wes Streeting [Member of Parliament (MP) for Ilford North]?  Have you met with it to discuss these 

issues as well? 

Page 42



 
 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I have met with the MP who is pushing a Private 

Member’s Bill at the moment who is Daniel Zeichner [MP for Cambridge] and who is getting a degree of 

Government help.  Some of that work seems now to be focusing on the issue of information data about the 

drivers themselves, if somebody seeks registration in one area and is refused and having some data there.  I 

have hit a memory block, I cannot remember exactly.  However, there is a Private Member’s Bill being worked 

up. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  At this point I would like to welcome the Freedom Pass Rovers, welcome. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I join you shortly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to pick up on a couple of questions on road 

maintenance funding.  Could you give us an update on your discussions with central Government over vehicle 

excise duty (VED)?  Given TfL said it cannot afford to undertake proactive road maintenance work without 

VED devolution, what alternative sources of funding are you looking at to maintain the road network? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We have set out many times how we 

feel it is inequitable that Londoners pay VED but the money is used for the motorway network across the 

country and very little of that comes into the capital.  [Rt. Hon] Chris Grayling [MP, Secretary of State for 

Transport] issued a consultation on something called the Major Road Network.  That is a potential new 

designation of network and some of that VED income could be spent on projects on that network.  That 

consultation is out at the moment.  We will respond to that.  It is setting out criteria for how you define the 

network, mainly on the basis of the number of vehicles using it.  We think in urban settings there are other 

factors to be taken into account, such as congestion, air quality and things like that, and also how we address 

issues such as public transport as well.  We will be responding to that.  We feel that is the biggest lever out 

there to try to access some of that money.   

 

It is quite interesting that the document with the consultation has a notional map of the network.  It goes to 

the North and South Circular.  It goes to a lot of the TfL Road Network (TLRN) that comes into London.  It is 

progress.  It does move beyond the motorway network to some of the TLRN, but just to the North and South 

Circular.  However, it does highlight some of the lack of understanding of the network in London.  For 

example, the roads that approach the Woolwich Ferry are in that network and the roads that approach the 

Blackwall Tunnel are not in that network.  Anybody who knows those roads knows that if you were going to 

choose which the major road was it would be the Blackwall Tunnel approaches rather than approaches to the 

Woolwich Ferry.   

 

There is a dialogue with Government on that at senior civil servant level that my colleague, Lilli Matson 

[Director of Transport Strategy, TfL], is leading.  We are trying to discuss the response to that consultation 

before it goes in.  However, that is an opportunity to lever in some funding for road maintenance for London.   

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There have been multiple lines of connection on this 

topic.  We have shouted through every keyhole.  Ian Nunn [former Chief Financial Officer, TfL] started and 

Simon Kilonback [Interim Chief Finance Officer, TfL] continued talking to officials at the Treasury as has the 

Mayor’s Office, which maintains a dialogue with the Treasury.  We have also raised it at ministerial meetings.  

We cannot stress any more how bizarre it is that London gets no roads funding and yet those who drive are all 

paying road tax, petrol tax and all the rest of it.  It is bizarre. 

 

Page 43



 
 

London Councils, notwithstanding the fact it was very upset about the treatment of the corridor funding etc 

for LIPs, volunteered to make cross-party lobbying work with us on this very issue.   

 

We fear there is a pattern developing.  When the air quality funding was announced recently we were told 

explicitly that London could not bid and, of course, London has 40% of the most air polluted roads in the 

country.  What is that about?  Why can London have these big problems, can pay its taxes and yet not get help 

on these issues? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you for that.  I am sure we did put in our congestion 

report about needing VED devolved to London and so on.  I am sure we can look at whether we, as a 

Committee, could do a cross-party response supporting it if you could point us in that direction. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We need that kind of cross-party support. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That fits in with what we had said.  Linking on from that, in 

that report we did on congestion we put forward the need for road pricing to be looked at by the Mayor.  You 

said yourself that a huge number of responses said road pricing is potentially needed in this part of the MTS.  

Are you going to consider this going forward?  A recent independent study on congestion commissioned by 

TfL put this forward as well. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There are two things we have said.  One is that the 

congestion charging equipment system, as it stands at the moment, will need refreshing and replacing in the 

future.  We have to do work for that.  The other thing is that, as you will be aware, we are keen on 

electrification of vehicles.  If we get to a point - let us hope - where all vehicles in London are environmentally 

sustainable, we immediately have a problem with the current exemptions and the Government has a problem 

with a lack of income from fuel duties.  The world is changing.  The point is we are needing to do blue sky 

researching and thinking now about how the future will look for London within the period of the MTS but not 

within the current Mayor’s term.  We do need to think long term about these things. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The only other thing I would say is 

that the LIPs guidance that goes to the boroughs will go out at the same time as the MTS.  That is also an 

opportunity for us to work with the boroughs on some of these initiatives.  Post the local elections there will be 

further discussions with them on what they want to do in their local area. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I could see that the Workplace Parking Levy that you were 

talking about earlier could work, that boroughs could work together and levy that to help fund that sort of 

scheme. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I know a number of boroughs - I will not name them 

for privacy reasons - have visited or have had conversations with Nottingham where there is a real scheme in 

operation now.  Of course, Nottingham is a very different place from most of the boroughs in London but there 

is active interest in the topic. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I will be moving on to bus services.  However, regarding the conversation about the 

major road network, I am pleased with your response around that.  Speaking to some senior colleagues - not in 

this building but elsewhere - they are relatively unsighted on this consultation piece, which I think runs out on 

19 March [2018].  There are opportunities in these straitened times.   

 

Page 44



 
 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The consultation on the major road network is 

consultation about the criteria, it is not the bidding.  We are responding to that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  As you pointed out, some obvious roads have not been mentioned. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  A23. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  The A22 and A23, Purley Cross, is mentioned.  I am quite excited about that.   

 

Turning to bus services, you mentioned earlier about bus service capacity and increasing outer London.  

Everyone on this Committee sees the benefits of that.  If we want a modal shift to get people using public 

services they need those bus services.  There are great swathes of outer London that are not served well by bus 

services.  We have had this conversation for some time about what I call the rebalancing of bus services from 

inner to outer London.  Val, would you like to comment on how that, in practicality, has been moved on? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We have had an issue about a drop-off in bus 

passenger numbers in some areas.  There has been reduction in frequencies in some areas because of it.  In 

particular, there have been removals of some buses in preparation for the transformation of Oxford Street and 

the coming on-stream of Crossrail 1 and the Elizabeth line.  We are pleased to say that the signs are now that 

that reduction in bus users has stabilised.  The Hopper ticket has been an important part of that as has the bus 

priority programme.  That needed to be stabilised.  There was a paper taken through the TfL Board last year on 

the review of services to hospitals.  Those programmes are moving forward.  The other schemes are the growth 

agenda, looking at areas where the population has grown and whether those projects are going in where we 

need to be putting bus services.  It is very much work in progress at the moment.  There is a lot more to be 

done on it, I know there is.  It is still early days. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I know you are passionate around that.  We were having this conversation last year 

about last summer’s review with boroughs and we are now in February.  The Oxford Street piece has been 

talked about and referred to considerably, that is obvious.  There has to be something more to it, surely? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I know you are right, Steve.  I would say there is a 

huge practical delivery programme put in place on the bus priority schemes.  That was about stemming the loss 

of bus passengers because of traffic congestion.  I cannot remember off the top of my head how much we 

spent but there has been a very major programme with bus corridors being improved.  It is perhaps not so 

visible sitting here but we are definitely seeing the impact in terms of the improved journey times and 

efficiency of the bus routes.  We have stemmed the flow there.  However, we need to move on through the 

review to look at areas where we do need more investment.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I know there is conversation with the boroughs separately about their bus routes.  

What I would welcome and thank you for is that TfL is moving towards a more strategic review of bus areas.  

Rather than looking at individual routes, it will take areas out, looks at the complete area and talks around that. 

 

My point really - and this is the challenge we all have - is that as constituency Members we get requests for 

additional buses on certain routes.  We go to TfL and TfL will say, “Hear what you are saying but there is no 

business case.  The cost of it is prohibitive so we cannot do it.”  This is the challenge we have.  Clearly we have 

to look at increasing potentially bus services in outer London areas to get people out of cars and on buses.  

However, we have to get over that hurdle of affordability.  I do not know the answer to it but that is the 

quandary you probably have.   

 

Page 45



 
 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  If we step back for a minute and look at the number 

of passenger seats in London, we are about to see the big Crossrail uplift.  We will have the Northern line 

extension uplift.  There have been improvements in the Docklands Light Railway (DLR).  There is something 

like a 2% increase in the Northern line frequency and a 7% increase in the Jubilee line frequency this year.  

There are improvements to the timetables on the Tube network.  We are seeing a growth of public transport 

generally.  That is going to have some impact on the bus service and how people make their journeys. 

 

I absolutely hear what you say, Steve.  We know that we have more work to do in investing in outer London. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is the old narrative that under the former Mayor - and you will agree with this as a 

Croydon person yourself - that it is all very well saying there is a big increase in public transport with Crossrail 

and Undergrounds but if you are out in the Suttons, Croydons and Bromleys you are nowhere near any of that 

stuff. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  No, but because we have other transport growth that 

gives us the opportunity to release some capacity elsewhere.  It is a very tight Business Plan, as you can see.  

We are also looking for services that will be used and used well. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, I get that.  The last question is really about express routes.  The X26, I have just 

been briefed that is the only one we have.  It, of course, goes Heathrow, Sutton, Croydon and probably some 

other wonderful places to be named.  It is now a double-decker which is very exciting.  Are there any other 

plans about increasing express routes, Alex? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I know they are being looked at for 

down to Heathrow, the 142 is being looked at and other routes are being looked at.  I do not have a list in 

front of me. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We could write back to you. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are certainly looking at those 

being more common across London.  They are the exception, not the norm.  The X26 is a legend. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is the X26 now but it has been there for about 

150 years by one name or another.  It is an amazing route really.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Of course, when you put one in everyone writes to us saying, “Can it stop there and 

there as well”. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  You should also be aware - this comes back to the 

new technology bit - things are changing.  TfL has a power called the London Service Permit.  TfL has to grant 

permission for anybody to operate a bus, be it private or public.  We have been having a number of applications 

from private bus operators doing something that I would say is between the mini cab and the service bus 

serving an area, a hopper bus serving a station, for example.  Not in competition with a public service bus but 

where there is a gap in the market.  Those are interesting ideas.  TfL is looking at whether or not some of those 

could be supported. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I want to have a look at Crossrail 2.  Can you provide us with an update of discussions you 

have been having with the Government around funding of Crossrail 2? 

 

Page 46



 
 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We put in the outline business case in 

March 2017, I think it was.  It has been with the Government for some time.  The reality is that this is a very 

expensive project and it is a major Government decision to take about how you progress and fund it.  The 

challenge is whether London can fund more of the project and can it fund it sooner.  In the Budget in the 

autumn it was agreed there would be another funding and financing review - and that work has started - to 

look at those issues again, about how you can reduce costs by various means.  That will report in the autumn.  

It is a very big decision for the whole project.  There was a further look, with Government, about how to reduce 

the costs of the scheme.   

 

The other thing we should not lose sight of is that while there is an ongoing debate about funding and 

financing the Government did also say that it does support the project, which is really important.  As you can 

see it is the jewel in the crown of both the London Plan and the MTS to unlock the growth that London really 

needs. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are saying TfL is also having to look at what changes it could possibly put forward? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  After TfL put the original business case in the 

Government then asked TfL to amend the business case to show how we could cover 50% of the cash 

throughout the project.  That is quite challenging.  Then it has come back and said, “Yes, we still support 

Crossrail but we want an independent financial review to look at whether or not you could reduce the costs and 

how viable what is proposed is”.  It seems to be a long and slow process, but it is still moving in the right 

direction.   

 

We would like to be able to consult, to make sure we have all the routes safeguarded and that Londoners know 

what we are working on.  However, this is a joint project with the Government so at the moment we are unable 

to release all of the detail without the Government’s consent.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It would be a bit early to start talking about hybrid bills to Parliament? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are still working towards that.  

However, clearly you need an agreed funding strategy.  You cannot put in a hybrid bill, like a Transport and 

Works Act order, until you are clear you have all the money to deliver the scheme. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Parliament will not waste its time on it unless you 

have a funding package agreed--  

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It’s one of the things we’ve had in our notes for this discussion so I put it out there.  

Listening to your earlier answer obviously makes that slightly defunct, the word that has been thrown around 

on this side of the table.   

 

To wrap up, clearly it is very, very difficult, especially with this 50% across the project rather than it being back 

loaded.  How confident is TfL it can achieve this?  There is a lot of pressure on TfL’s funding.  Revenue is hard 

to find.  Bus passengers are going down, etc.  Can Londoners be confident that TfL will be able to get this 

done? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We answered that exam question when we were asked 

to.  The paperwork and proposals went in.  It was not easy, and would not be easy, to do but we know we 

could achieve it if that is what we needed to do.  We have jumped every hurdle we have been asked to jump, 

quickly and well. 

Page 47



 
 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I am going to stop there, Chairman.  I am sure this is a subject we will return to. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is very firmly in the MTS.  We are not holding back 

on this one.  It is a key project for the 2030s for the future of London. 

 

David Kurten AM:  A quick one on something slightly related, but not exactly the same.  I asked the Mayor 

last month about whether he had plans to extend Crossrail 1, the Elizabeth line, from Abbey Wood to 

Ebbsfleet.  He said he was.  He said he was putting forward a Business Plan.  How serious is he about this, the 

Business Plan and funding? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is in the MTS.  It is a good scheme 

that does unlock a lot of housing in, and beyond, south-east London. 

 

The Mayor is serious about it.  However, the other thing to be mindful of is the Thames Estuary Growth 

Commission that is chaired by Sir John Armitt [CBE] who will report this Easter on the growth plans for the 

Thames Estuary.  My personal view is this extension is probably the biggest facilitator of growth in that region.  

I would hope and expect to see a strong emphasis on that project, but also some understanding of how it will 

be funded.  It is safeguarded all the way through to Ebbsfleet under the original Crossrail Act in any event.  

Whilst the Mayor is very keen to see that it is also recognised that a lot of the benefits are outside of London 

and therefore they should pay their fair share of this project to get it delivered, a national project from DfT and 

the authorities in Kent should also contribute to this project. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It would take the Abbey Wood branch further out.  It 

is of great benefit to Bexley and then, of course, all of the councils outside as it reaches Ebbsfleet. 

 

David Kurten AM:  One of the concerns I do have is for the existing communities there who do not want 

some of their existing homes demolished and then built over.  What plans do you have to make sure those 

people do not lose their homes and any housing development might happen away from existing homes? 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The councils that represent those people are 

supporting this project and, of course, the alignment is not detailed or settled. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The line is safeguarded.   

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is a very broad safeguard. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is true, it is under the original 

Act.  I did see your Mayor’s Question on that.  The other thing to bear in mind is that if it is extended there are 

two choices to make for that extension.  Do you use the existing traffic rail, where you are working with an 

existing framework and there would be no impact on properties, or do you have a separate new set of tracks 

for the Elizabeth line services to give them priority on that network?  Those are two very different schemes.  

We are not there at the moment on defining which one we go down. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  Thank you for your time and overstaying a bit.  It is 

very kind of you.  It was a very, very interesting discussion.  There was a lot of information.  We very much look 

forward to the new MTS when it is published without the track changes.  Thank you very much. 

 

Val Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Thank you very much, Chairman. 

Page 48



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 1 March 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 1 February 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

Director of Transport Strategy, Transport for London 

(TfL) to provide: 

 Further information to clarify whether TfL will set 

out interim mode share targets for each borough in 

the Local Implementation Plan guidance;  

 The current shortfall of cycle parking spaces, the 

expected shortfall over the next 5 to 10 years, and 

whether there are targets on parking spaces; and 

 How the previous Mayor’s [Boris Johnson] parking 

target of 80,000 was measured. 

 

The Walking and Cycling Commissioner to provide 

further information on evidence which demonstrated 

Quietways were encouraging more women to cycle. 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to 

guests on 9 February 

2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Director of 

Transport 

Strategy, TfL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Walking and 

Cycling 

Commissioner 

 

 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

Deputy Mayor for Transport 

Deputy Mayor for Transport to provide: 

 A breakdown of Local Implementation Plan funding 

for each of the London boroughs;  

 Further information on the work of the technical 

working group tasked with looking at issues relating 

to taxis and private hire vehicles, including cross-

border issues, and any related framework 

agreements; and 

 Further information on plans to increase potential 

express route buses. 

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to 

guests on 9 February 

2018) 

 

Deputy Mayor 

for Transport 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 6 December 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

7. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pedicabs 

Transport for London to provide the Committee with: 

 Pedicab collision data for 2016 and 2017; and 

 Data on the number of pedicab riders who have 

been issued with a community protection notice. 

 

 

 

London Pedicab Operators Association to provide the 

Committee with: 
 

 The number of pedicab riders who are also members 

of the London Pedicab Operators Association who 

have undertaken the National Cycling Standard Level 

3 and a pedicab or work bike module; and 

 Further details on the publicly available specification 

standard for pedicabs, and the standard that was 

agreed with TfL previously along with the proposed 

registration scheme agreed with TfL and 

Westminster City Council. 

 

 

 

 

Michael Faye, Pedicab Rider, agreed to provide the 

 

Completed, attached 

at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

Closed. Proposals for a 

registration scheme for 

pedicabs and 

corresponding 

information was 

reported to the 

Committee meeting on 

10 January 2018. 

Details on a BSI 

Standard have not yet 

been received by the 

Committee.  

 

 

 

 

Sean Conroy, 

TfL 

 

 

 

 

Chris 

Smallwood, 

London Pedicab 

Operators 

Association 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Michael Faye, 

Page 50



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

 

 

 

8. 

 

 

 

 

 

Committee with further information on pedicabs riders 

volunteering with Great Ormond Street Hospital to 

provide excursions to patients. 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

The former Cycling Commissioner agreed to provide the 

Committee with the following: 

 The report for the National Infrastructure 

Commission (NIC) on cycling once it has been 

finalised; and 

 A list of potential cycling schemes yet to be 

undertaken by the current administration. 

Closed 

 

 

  

Ongoing 

The list of cycling 

schemes was reported 

to the Committee 

meeting on 10 January 

2018. The report of 

the NIC has yet to be 

published.  

Pedicab 

 

 

Andrew Gilligan 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 8 November 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Motorcycle Safety 

Director of Transport Strategy, TfL, to provide the 

following: 

 An update on the actions within the Motorcycle 

Safety Action Plan;  

 Confirmation of the Healthy Streets Budget and any 

specific sums within that programme for specific 

issues such as Bike Safe; 

 Examples of monitoring work undertaken following 

improvements to junctions as part of the Healthy 

Streets Programme and any notable outcomes, 

including any adverse impacts; and  

 Further information, if available, on the number of 

collisions between cyclists or pedestrians and 

motorcyclists in bike lanes. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the 

meeting. 

 

 

 

Ongoing (officers 

requested an update 

on 9 February 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Director of 

Transport 

Strategy, TfL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Page 51



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 
 
 

 

9. 

Cycling Infrastructure 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any related site visits. 

 

London Underground Rolling Stock 

The Deputy Mayor for Transport to provide the 

following: 

 Further information about how the decision to 

cancel the World Class Capacity programme was 

communicated to relevant parties including the TfL 

Board and to undertake a review of what 

information the TfL Board receives in order to fulfil 

its obligations;  

 Details of any further discussion with the 

Government regarding the future of the Silvertown 

Tunnel and any associated air quality monitoring; 

and 

 Update the Budget and Performance Committee at 

the meeting in January 2018 with further analysis 

on the change in tube passenger numbers and the 

impact on forecasts in the Business Plan.  

 

 

The Director of Strategy and Service Development, TfL, 

to provide the following: 

 An outline of the planned changes to the Northern 

line and the Jubilee line as part of the Tube 

modernisation programme, including the frequency 

of trains and future timetable enhancements, 

following the decision to cancel the World Class 

Capacity programme;  

 Clarification on the future of contracts for radio 

and CCTV equipment following the decision to 

cancel the World Class Capacity programme; and 

 Further information on whether the ageing 

population outside London may be part of the 

cause of the 2% drop in passenger numbers. 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing (officers 

requested an update 

on 9 February 2018) 

An update from the 

Deputy Mayor for 

Transport on the 

Silvertown Tunnel was 

reported to the 

Committee meeting on 

10 January 2018. 

This meeting took 

place on 3 January 

2018. The agenda and 

minutes from the 

meeting can be found 

here1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Manager 

 

 

Deputy Mayor 

for Transport  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Director of 

Strategy and 

Service 

Development, 

TfL 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=6265&Ver=4  

Page 52

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=6265&Ver=4
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=6265&Ver=4


        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 10 October 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

Future Transport 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 

investigation into Future Transport. 

Completed. Further 

information is set out 

at Agenda item 6. 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 12 September 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

11. Future Transport 

Professor Maria Kamargianni, UCL, agreed to provide 

the Committee with the survey undertaken by UCL on 

mobility as a service for London. 

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to the 

guest on 22 September 

2017) 

Professor Maria 
Kamargianni, 
UCL 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 18 July 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

4. Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

Transport Commissioner to provide the following: 

 The feasibility study considering the potential need 

and impact of congestion charging for private hire 

vehicles; 

 Supporting information and evidence which has 

been published alongside the Transport Strategy, 

notably data on numbers and types of vehicles on 

the road network; and 

 Details of TfL’s response to the Chris Gibb report 

on the Southern Rail Network and TfL’s response 

to the South Eastern trains consultation by Geoff 

Hobbs, Head of Transport Planning, Transport for 

London. 

Ongoing (officers 

requested an update 

on 9 February 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport 

Commissioner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



        

Additional actions for noting 

 Letter from the Commissioner, Transport for London, re TfL Business Plan 

The Chairman wrote to the Commissioner of TfL on 13 December, regarding funding for Healthy 

Streets and Air Quality in TfL’s Business Plan. The reply was sent on 5 February 2018 and is attached 

at Appendix 2. 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 
4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Follow up information, Sean Conroy, TfL, dated 20 February 2018 

Appendix 2 – Letter from Commissioner, TfL, dated 5 February 2018. 

 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 889 (Future Transport), MDA 894 (Cycling Site Visits) 

 

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 54

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


Page 55

lpelling
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



Page 56



Page 57

lpelling_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



Page 58



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Future Transport Report 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 1 March 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper provides details of the Transport Committee’s recent report on emerging transport 

technology. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report, Future Transport: How is London responding to 

technological innovation?, as agreed by the Chairman under delegated authority, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee has been investigating emerging transport technology in 2017/18. The terms of 

reference for the investigation were: 

 To identify how recent and ongoing technological innovations are likely to affect London’s 

transport system over the next 25 years. 

 To assess the risks and benefits of new transport technology to London and Londoners, in 

light of the Mayor’s proposed Healthy Streets approach for the transport system. 

 To understand how well equipped TfL is to deal with technological advances in the transport 

sector. 

 
3.2 The investigation included a call for views and information, site visits to view new technology in 

action, and meetings with Transport for London (TfL) and other stakeholders. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The recommendations of the report are: 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



        

Recommendation 1 

TfL should establish an advisory panel, with the Department for Transport, London boroughs and 

other key stakeholders, to have input to and oversee the work of the Transport Innovation 

directorate. This panel and Transport Innovation officers should be asked to regularly update the 

TfL Board on emerging technological trends in the transport sector and lead a discussion on action 

TfL needs to take in preparation. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 

whether a panel will be established and what process will be put in place to update the TfL Board.  

Recommendation 2  

To ensure the introduction of CAVs is beneficial for London, the Mayor and TfL should produce an 

update to their car club strategy in 2018/19 which reflects the new Mayor’s Transport Strategy and 

specifically considers how to embed car sharing in the context of the potential emergence of 

connected and autonomous vehicles. The Transport Innovation directorate and advisory panel 

should have input to the modified strategy. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of 

May 2018 that this work is underway.  

Recommendation 3  

The Mayor and TfL should consider the potential development and impact of autonomous bus 

technology on London. A review of this area should be undertaken during 2018/19 and the 

potential implications for London’s existing bus network, including the risks of changing the way 

bus services are staffed. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that this 

work is underway.  

Recommendation 4  

TfL and boroughs should consider whether to introduce a London-wide licensing regime for 

dockless cycle hire. This could involve a small number of operators being granted permission to 

operate across London. Licensing requirements could specify commitments to provide services in 

outer London boroughs, and adherence to the terms of TfL’s code of practice for operators. We 

ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that discussions on this proposal are 

underway.  

Recommendation 5  

The Mayor and TfL should engage in discussions with the Government, boroughs and operators to 

develop the principles of a new regulatory regime for demand-responsive bus services. These 

should include requirements to serve areas with less dense public transport coverage, and ensure 

accessibility for older and disabled passengers. Thereafter the Mayor and TfL should implement 

these principles where possible, and ask the Government to make any necessary legislative 

changes. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 its plans to initiate these 

discussions.  

Recommendation 6  

TfL should continue to make its data open for use by app developers, but seek to enter reciprocal 

agreements whereby data produced by apps powered by underlying TfL data is shared with TfL. 

This should be a requirement for existing apps using TfL data and new apps seeking to do so. This 

principle should also be in the Mayor’s upcoming Smart London plan. We ask the Mayor and TfL to 

confirm by the end of May 2018 what steps they are taking to deliver this.  

 

Page 60



        

Recommendation 7  

The Mayor and TfL should seek to understand the likely scale and impact of commercial drone use 

in London, both airborne and ground-based. Any existing use of drones in London should be 

monitored, and discussions should take place with the logistics and retail industries and other 

stakeholders.  

TfL should produce new projections for drone use in London to inform continued debate about 

how to regulate and manage their operations. We ask the Mayor and TfL to produce initial findings 

and projections by the end of May 2018.  

Recommendation 8  

The Mayor and TfL should proactively engage in discussions with the Government, London 

Boroughs, the drone industry, National Air Traffic Services and other relevant stakeholders about 

the future control system for drones in London, ahead of the expected publication of the 

Government’s draft Drone Bill in Spring 2018.  

TfL’s aim should be to agree a common set of principles for a new control system, including the 

necessity for new TfL powers in this area. Consideration should also be given to the need for an 

integrated control system for ground-based autonomous vehicles and airborne drones, and how 

this could be implemented.  

We ask the Mayor and TfL to update the Committee by the end of May 2018 with details of 

discussions they are undertaking. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
5.2 Officers confirm that the report, Future Transport: How is London responding to technological 

innovation? falls within the Committee’s terms of reference. 
 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Future Transport: How is London responding to technological innovation? 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 889 (Future Transport) 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 61

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Future transport 
How is London responding to 
technological innovation?  

Transport Committee 
February 2018 

Appendix 1 

Page 63



 
 
 

Holding the Mayor to 
account and 
investigating issues that 
matter to Londoners 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 64



 
 
 

Transport Committee Members 

 
 
 

 
 
The Transport Committee holds the Mayor and Transport for London to account for their work 
delivering the capital’s transport network. The committee examines all aspects of the transport 
network and presses for improvements on behalf of Londoners. 
 

Contact Media enquires  
Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager Alison Bell, External Communications Manager 
TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk Alison.Bell@london.gov.uk  
0207 983 4000 0207 983 4228  
 

Follow us 
@LondonAssembly  
#AssemblyTransport 
facebook.com/london.assembly 

Steve O’Connell AM 
Conservative 

Caroline Pidgeon 
MBE AM (Deputy 
Chair) 
Liberal Democrat 

Keith Prince AM 
(Chairman) 
Conservative 

Florence Eshalomi 
AM 
Labour 

David Kurten AM 
UK Independence 
Party 

Joanne McCartney 
AM 
Labour 

Caroline Russell AM 
Green 

Shaun Bailey AM 
Conservative 

Tom Copley AM 
Labour 

Navin Shah AM 
Labour 

Page 65

mailto:TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Bell@london.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.facebook.com/london.assembly


 
 
 

 

 

Contents  

 

Summary ............................................................................ 6 

Recommendations ............................................................. 9 

1. Planning and monitoring ......................................... 11 

2. Connected and autonomous vehicles ...................... 16 

3. App-based services .................................................. 26 

4. Drones ..................................................................... 36 

Appendix 1: Views and information ................................. 43 

References ....................................................................... 45 

Other formats and languages .......................................... 49 

Page 66



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 5    

“Who among us can 
honestly say we 
know what the 
transport network 
will look like in 
twenty years' time?” 

Keith Prince AM  
Chairman of the Transport Committee 
 

These are exciting times in transport. The way 
Londoners move around the city is constantly 
evolving, but the pace of change has accelerated 
in recent years. Who among us can honestly say 
we know what the transport network will look 
like in twenty years' time? 

There are so many positive aspects of the new 
technologies we see being developed. 
Autonomous vehicles could make roads safer. 
Dockless bikes could spread the benefits of 

cycling to the whole city. Demand-responsive buses could give people a public 
transport service tailored to their needs.  

None of these outcomes are guaranteed, and the risks are plentiful, but the 
opportunity to improve mobility for millions of Londoners is there and we 
have to take it. 

London has been caught unaware by the 
application of new transport technology 
recently. To some extent this may be 
inevitable, but it reinforces the need for 
effective monitoring and planning by the 
Mayor and Transport for London.  

To paraphrase Donald Rumsfeld, 
anticipating unknown unknowns is 
impossible. Failing to prepare for known unknowns is inexcusable. 

I would like to thank the many people who have contributed to this report by 

sharing their time and expertise with the committee.  

I believe we have identified the right steps the Mayor and TfL can take now to 
make sure London is ready for the future of transport. 

 

 

Page 67



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 6    

Summary 
Technological change is a constant process. Several developments in the 
transport sector mean that we are in the midst of a major upheaval. These 
innovations are likely to enhance the way Londoners get around the city, in 
many ways.  

We have focused on technological change in three different, but closely 
related areas. In each case we have considered the key challenges that are 
likely to arise if and when this technology is more widely used. We also sought 
to learn lessons about how effectively the Mayor and TfL monitor and plan for 

the emergence of new technology in the transport sector:  

 Connected and autonomous vehicles (CAVs), also known as ‘driverless 

cars’. The introduction of CAVs to our roads is potentially the biggest 
change in the way we use cars, which remain the most prevalent 

transport method used by Londoners.1   

 App-based services. Londoners have been empowered by the spread 
of smartphone technology, with apps that have delivered information 
in new ways and enabled new types of transport service to be 
delivered on a large scale. 

 Drones. In this category we include airborne drones, which have been 

in use for various purposes for a number of years but are now 
increasingly being used for freight delivery; and droids (or ground-
based drones), programmed to transport goods along pavements and 
other pedestrian spaces. 

Planning and monitoring 

We have identified a number of steps the Mayor and Transport for London 
can make to take advantage of new technology for Londoners’ benefit. Firstly, 
we want to ensure effective planning and monitoring at TfL. There have been 
recent failures in London’s preparations for innovative transport services, 
notably the rapid growth of private hire operator Uber and the disruptive 
launch of dockless cycle hire service oBike. Embedding the work of TfL’s new 
Transport Innovation directorate across the organisation will help avoid this in 

the future. 

Connected and autonomous vehicles  

There is much hype around CAVs becoming a feature of our roads in the 
imminent future. This is not likely to be the case, with 2030-2040 more 
realistic for widespread rollout. CAVs could make our roads safer, and 
increase mobility for people who have difficulty accessing the transport 
network.  

Page 68



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 7    

With traffic congestion having increased to unacceptable levels in recent 

years, however, it is vital that CAVs do not simply provide a like-for-like 
replacement for private, human-driven cars. There is a good opportunity to 
increase car sharing as CAVs are introduced, if TfL builds on the existing car 
sharing services London has to make this is a normal way of getting around for 
Londoners. TfL needs to consider the implications of any proposed 
introduction of autonomous buses to London’s roads, particularly safety 
issues and potential reduction in customer service for bus passengers. 

App-based services 

A large number of apps have been introduced to help people use the 
transport network. Two evolving transport modes enabled by apps are 
dockless cycle hire services and demand-responsive buses. In both cases we 

believe these can supplement existing transport services.  

Dockless bikes allow people to take up cycling in areas not covered by TfL’s 
Santander Cycles scheme. Demand-responsive buses could fill in the gaps in 
the bus network, providing a cost-effective alternative to the car. TfL should 
be working more proactively to shape the market for these services. For 
dockless bikes we believe a supportive Londonwide licensing scheme would 
be effective. Demand-responsive buses also need a new regulatory regime, 
although this will be more complex to introduce and requires further 
discussion with the Government. 

Many transport apps are powered by TfL data. We welcome TfL’s openness 
and commitment to supporting app developers. There should be reciprocity, 

however, so TfL can gather additional data from the apps they underpin, to 
inform further enhancements to the transport network. 

Drones 

Increasing freight traffic is a major contributor to London’s congestion 
problem. Using drones—airborne or pavement-based (also known as 
droids)—could help alleviate this problem. We know a number of companies 
are pursuing this. In all likelihood drones will not remove a significant amount 
of freight traffic from our roads, and would only be suitable for the ‘last mile’ 
in the delivery chain. However, we do need more clarity on the likely scale of 
drone use. TfL should produce new projections. 

The controlled use of drones should be explored if risks can be minimised. At 

present it is clear that planning for a future of increased drone use is not 
advanced. Airborne drones in particular need an effective control system to 
ensure they can deliver packages without being unsafe or causing excessive 
noise pollution. Such a system may need to be integrated with control 
systems for other modes, such as CAVs.  

Healthy Streets 

In this report we consider these technological challenges in the context of the 
Mayor’s Healthy Streets agenda. This is the central principle of the Mayor’s 

Page 69



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 8    

new Transport Strategy, and mandates TfL to pursue policies that shift 

Londoners away from cars toward walking, cycling and public transport, and 
produce street environments that are more pleasant and less polluted.  

Delivering healthy streets is a huge challenge, and we know from TfL’s 
evidence to our investigation that TfL is aware of how new technology may 
contribute to or detract from its efforts to meet it: 

“London’s streets need to become safer (particularly for vulnerable 
road users), more attractive places to walk, cycle and spend time. 
Technologies such as fitness apps, new types of cycle hire or improved 
street lighting could contribute to encouraging greater physical 
activity. Improved engine technology can help reduce noise and 
emissions, while driver assistance systems, automatic speed control 

and enforcement technologies could reduce road danger and improve 
the street environment more widely. However, there could also be 
adverse health impacts if technology incentivises new non-active 
transport services for people who would otherwise have walked or 
cycled.”2 

To help us understand how to combine support for technological innovation 
with the Healthy Streets approach, we have gathered a wide range of 
evidence from many contributors. Our call for evidence attracted over 40 
submissions from transport providers, experts, technology companies, other 
stakeholder organisations and individual Londoners. At two committee 
hearings we heard from a number of these organisations and also took 

evidence from other cities in the UK innovating in ways London has yet to try. 
We also held informal meetings with a range of other organisations, including 
with app developers at a ‘Dragon’s Den’ style session at City Hall. Finally, we 
have conducted two site visits during the investigation, the first to the 
GATEway project in Greenwich to view an autonomous vehicle trial, and 
secondly to view a Starship Technologies ground-based delivery drone in 
action. 

In this report, we set out the conclusions of our investigation and make 
recommendations to TfL about how London can harness new technology to 
improve the transport system in line with the Mayor’s key objectives. We 
recognise that the future is essentially an unknowable entity, but by being 
proactive and pragmatic, TfL can give itself the best chance of achieving this. 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 70



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 9    

Recommendations 

Recommendation 1 
TfL should establish an advisory panel, with the Department for Transport, 
London boroughs and other key stakeholders, to have input to and oversee the 
work of the Transport Innovation directorate. This panel and Transport 
Innovation officers should be asked to regularly update the TfL Board on 
emerging technological trends in the transport sector and lead a discussion on 
action TfL needs to take in preparation. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm 
by the end of May 2018 whether a panel will be established and what process 
will be put in place to update the TfL Board. 

Recommendation 2  
To ensure the introduction of CAVs is beneficial for London, the Mayor and TfL 
should produce an update to their car club strategy in 2018/19 which reflects 
the new Mayor’s Transport Strategy and specifically considers how to embed 
car sharing in the context of the potential emergence of connected and 
autonomous vehicles. The Transport Innovation directorate and advisory panel 
should have input to the modified strategy. We ask the Mayor and TfL to 
confirm by the end of May 2018 that this work is underway. 

Recommendation 3 

The Mayor and TfL should consider the potential development and impact of 
autonomous bus technology on London. A review of this area should be 
undertaken during 2018/19 and the potential implications for London’s 
existing bus network, including the risks of changing the way bus services are 
staffed. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that this 
work is underway. 

Recommendation 4 

TfL and boroughs should consider whether to introduce a London-wide 
licensing regime for dockless cycle hire. This could involve a small number of 

operators being granted permission to operate across London. Licensing 
requirements could specify commitments to provide services in outer London 
boroughs, and adherence to the terms of TfL’s code of practice for operators. 
We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that discussions 
on this proposal are underway. 

Page 71



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 10    

Recommendation 5 
The Mayor and TfL should engage in discussions with the Government, 
boroughs and operators to develop the principles of a new regulatory regime 
for demand-responsive bus services. These should include requirements to 
serve areas with less dense public transport coverage, and ensure accessibility 
for older and disabled passengers. Thereafter the Mayor and TfL should 
implement these principles where possible, and ask the Government to make 
any necessary legislative changes. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the 
end of May 2018 its plans to initiate these discussions. 

Recommendation 6 
TfL should continue to make its data open for use by app developers, but seek 
to enter reciprocal agreements whereby data produced by apps powered by 
underlying TfL data is shared with TfL. This should be a requirement for existing 
apps using TfL data and new apps seeking to do so. This principle should also 
be in the Mayor’s upcoming Smart London plan. We ask the Mayor and TfL to 
confirm by the end of May 2018 what steps they are taking to deliver this. 

Recommendation 7 
The Mayor and TfL should seek to understand the likely scale and impact of 
commercial drone use in London, both airborne and ground-based. Any 
existing use of drones in London should be monitored, and discussions should 
take place with the logistics and retail industries and other stakeholders.  

TfL should produce new projections for drone use in London to inform 
continued debate about how to regulate and manage their operations. We ask 
the Mayor and TfL to produce initial findings and projections by the end of May 
2018. 

Recommendation 8 
The Mayor and TfL should proactively engage in discussions with the 
Government, London Boroughs, the drone industry, National Air Traffic 
Services and other relevant stakeholders about the future control system for 
drones in London, ahead of the expected publication of the Government’s 
draft Drone Bill in Spring 2018.  

TfL’s aim should be to agree a common set of principles for a new control 
system, including the necessity for new TfL powers in this area. Consideration 
should also be given to the need for an integrated control system for ground-
based autonomous vehicles and airborne drones, and how this could be 
implemented. 

We ask the Mayor and TfL to update the committee by the end of May 2018 
with details of discussions they are undertaking. 

Page 72



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 11    

1. Planning and monitoring 
Key points 

 TfL faces a difficult challenge in attempting to 
predict and prepare for changes in technology and 
its application to the transport sector. 

 Recent developments in the private hire and 
dockless cycle hire industries appear to suggest TfL 
has been unprepared for new uses of technology by 
the private sector. 

 TfL’s new Transport Innovation directorate is 
leading work to monitor and plan for technological 
change. Its findings and recommendations need to 
be embedded across TfL.   

Page 73



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 12    

1.1 The key challenge for London is to predict and prepare for future trends in 

transport technology. In doing so, it is important to draw lessons from  recent 
experience of technological change. The two examples we highlight here are:  
the emergence of one app-based private hire operator (Uber); and the launch 
of an app-based dockless cycle hire operator (oBike). Both of these 
developments have been disruptive – to the way streets are used, the way 
people book transport and to how Transport for London plans for new 
technology. For instance, London Councils told us:  

“Where TfL drives the change to new technology, it is well-planned. 
Examples of this include cleaner vehicles, retrofitting of buses and 
introducing Ultra Low Emission Zone charges. However, where new 
technology comes from the private sector, TfL is slow to react. Examples 

of this include Uber and dockless cycles.”3 

Private hire 

1.2 Uber allows people to book private hire journeys via a smartphone app, 
connecting passengers directly to individual drivers. This service has proven 
highly popular in many cities, and contributed to a dramatic increase in the 
number of licensed private hire vehicles on London’s roads: this rose from 
49,854 in March 2013 to 84,886 in November 2016 – an increase of 70 per 
cent in less than four years.i As discussed in our 2016 report on the topic, it is 
likely this has been a factor in the recent increase in traffic congestion.4 

1.3 TfL has faced criticism that it did not foresee how far and how fast Uber would 
grow. Much of this has come from the company’s competitors, but it still 

leaves TfL with questions to answer. The trade union RMT, which represents 
taxi drivers and other transport workers, told us: 

“Given that Uber and similar disruptors (such as Airbnb) had been 
operating in the USA for some time in a similar manner, before launching 
in the UK, TfL should have been able to react more effectively.”5 

1.4 Taxi app firm Gett UK also queried TfL’s preparations, while recognising the 
difficulties the organisation faced: 

“By the very nature of technology, it is sometimes difficult to adequately 
prepare for its large-scale adoption across an industry. The rise of app-
based platforms has certainly been a radical change, which TfL has not 

been able to fully prepare for, with many issues perhaps not 
anticipated.”6 

1.5 Arguably, TfL had limited room for manoeuvre to influence or respond to 
Uber’s growth as its regulatory powers are limited. And this episode has led 
successive mayors to lobby for TfL to have increased licensing powers, such as 
a cap on the number of private hire licences. We have previously examined 

                                                      
i
 We are not in this report making any comment on whether or not Uber has breached the 
terms of its private hire licence in London. At the time of writing this is a matter before the 
court. 

Page 74



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 13    

this topic in our traffic congestion report and will not repeat the discussion 

here.7 However, it is disappointing that London could only begin to lobby for 
these changes on a reactive basis after the disruption associated with Uber’s 
growth was evident. 

Dockless cycle hire 

1.6 Uber was not a one-off. A comparable situation developed, even more 
rapidly, when a ‘dockless’ cycle hire scheme was launched in London in 2017 
by oBike. This service allowed users to hire a cycle from on-street locations 
using a smartphone app to unlock it.ii It is similar to TfL’s Santander Cycles 
scheme, but bikes can be collected and left anywhere, rather than at 
dedicated docking stations. 

1.7 After oBike launched in London, without notifying TfL or London boroughs, 
there were reports of significant disruption to street environments. Bikes 
were left in inappropriate places, blocking pedestrians and other road users.8 
Subsequently, TfL and boroughs began to seize the company’s bikes. oBike is 
not currently operating in London, although other dockless cycle hire services 
are doing so. 

1.8 Michael Hurwitz, TfL’s Director of Transport Innovation, explained TfL’s 
perspective on the episode at our meeting in October 2017: 

“There were issues with oBike. They did not tell anyone they were 
coming; they launched without a helpline, without a proven operating 
model, without an understanding of the complexity of boroughs and the 

powers of the transport authority, and therefore there were issues and 
it caused a number of boroughs, and us as well, significant concerns. We 
ended up asking them to remove the bikes and they did.  We did not 
crack down immediately because we want to try to welcome innovation, 
and the fact is this is potentially something that could really increase 
access to cycling.”9 

1.9 Conversely, Westminster City Council’s submission to our investigation was 
critical of the Mayor and TfL’s failure to foresee what would happen: 

“The draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy in July 2017 did not predict the 
launch of dockless cycle hire three weeks later, because it has virtually 
no consideration of transport trends, such as ‘on demand’, Mobility as a 
Service, autonomous vehicles, homeworking and deliveries, and 
alternative vehicles (pedicabs, hoverboards, electric bicycles, etc)… This 
is a fundamental weakness as the final MTS needs to address this by 
analysing these ‘disruptive technologies’ and measuring them against its 
aims.” 

1.10 The bike-sharing firm ofo (an oBike competitor) also argued TfL could have 
been better prepared: 

                                                      
ii
 Dockless cycle hire schemes are discussed further in general in Chapter Three of this report. 

Page 75



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 14    

“Like any large organisation, TfL struggles to respond as quickly as 
necessary when new technology emerges. A better ability to recognise 
and respond to emerging trends may have seen a more positive 
introduction of free floating bike share to the capital this summer.”10  

TfL planning 

1.11 What do these examples tell us about how TfL should be responding to 
technological change? Clearly, predicting technological advancement and its 
implications can never be a perfect process. This point has been made 
strongly during our investigation, including in a submission from the 
Institution of Engineering and Technology (IET): 

“It is our opinion that TfL does effectively plan for the possible 

largescale adoption of new technology however the difficulty here is 
that both the likely take-up and the impact is often difficult/impossible 
to predict and so planning for specific instances of adoption of new 
technology is also difficult.”11 

1.12 We are encouraged to see that TfL recently established its Transport 
Innovation directorate, which describes its role as: 

“TfL’s Transport Innovation directorate is responsible for identifying 
areas where disruptive business models and emerging technology could 
potentially impact TfL’s business. Its purpose is to identify, anticipate 
and advise on emerging business models to ensure they deliver Mayoral 
and city objectives. The Transport Innovation directorate also 

investigates the potential negative consequences arising from emerging 
business models. TfL’s job is to make sure all innovations and 
developments within the transport market support the Mayor’s 
Transport Strategy, to ensure TfL operates safe, efficient and sustainable 
services.”12 

1.13 This is a step forward but to be successful, of course, this team’s work will 
need to be taken into account and implemented across TfL. This will require a 
significant cultural shift in other parts of TfL, requiring teams to move from 
simply focusing on current service pressures to predicting developing trends. 
Such an intangible change may be hard to track, but TfL has governance 
procedures in place that can help ensure this happens as far as possible.  

1.14 This process is starting. In July 2017 this directorate submitted a paper for 
discussion at TfL’s Customer Service and Operations Panel on emerging trends 
with autonomous vehicles and demand-responsive transport. To ensure these 
and other trends remain at the forefront of TfL’s thinking, we would want to 
see this exercise repeated regularly, and taking place at TfL Board level as well 
as the sub-Board level. To be most effective this work should be carried out 
with input from other major stakeholders from central and local government, 
independent experts, and professional engineering institutions. 

Page 76



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 15    

 

  

Recommendation 1 
TfL should establish an advisory panel, with the Department for Transport, 
London boroughs and other key stakeholders, to have input to and oversee 
the work of the Transport Innovation directorate. This panel and Transport 
Innovation officers should be asked to regularly update the TfL Board on 
emerging technological trends in the transport sector and lead a discussion 
on action TfL needs to take in preparation. We ask the Mayor and TfL to 
confirm by the end of May 2018 whether a panel will be established and 
what process will be put in place to update the TfL Board.  

Page 77



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 16    

2. Connected and 
autonomous vehicles 
Key points 

 Connected and autonomous vehicle (CAV) 
technology has significant potential benefits for 
road safety and mobility. 

 Predictions vary widely on when and how CAVs will 
be used on London’s roads. TfL faces a difficult 
challenge in planning for different possibilities. 

 The main objective of the Mayor’s Transport 
Strategy is to reduce private car use in London. 
CAVs may put this in jeopardy if they simply replace 
existing cars or encourage greater car use.  

 The most effective strategy for TfL is to embed 
sustainable transport choices ahead of CAV rollout. 
Shared usage of CAVs is likely to be the most 
sustainable way of harnessing this technology in 
London. TfL can take steps now to encourage car 
sharing, to embed this as part of the transport 
network. 

 There could be significant job losses in driving 
professions if CAV technology becomes widespread.  

  

Page 78



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 17    

2.1 Potentially the most far-reaching technological change affecting London’s 

transport system is the development of connected and autonomous vehicles 
(CAVs). CAV is a term referring to motor vehicles that can travel with reduced 
or no input from a human driver, and which are able to communicate with 
other networked vehicles. The ‘autonomous’ aspect of this technology in 
particular has garnered significant media and political attention in recent 
years, with these vehicles often being described as ‘driverless’ cars. 

2.2 To some extent this technology is already being used on London’s roads. 
There are differing levels of autonomy for cars. For instance, many cars are 
already equipped with features such as cruise control or anti-lock braking. 
Cars with much higher levels of autonomy are being tested, including in 
London, but are not yet available for public use. See Figure 1 on the next page 

for an explanation of the distinct levels of autonomy. As TfL explained in its 
submission: 

“Far before fully driverless vehicles, features such as autonomous 
emergency braking, steering assistance and pedestrian detection or 
alerts will become more prevalent, all having the potential to reduce 
road danger… Less can be said definitively about the speed at which we 
will see the introduction and commercial availability of highly or fully 
autonomous vehicles. This depends on the pace of technology 
development, which is rapid and backed by significant investment 
worldwide, and also on regulations and vehicle type-approval 
mechanisms, which is often developed internationally and at a slower 
pace.”13 

2.3 Existing forms of autonomy in cars mean that TfL should be in position to 
react to future advances. Nobody knows the likely timescale and extent of the 
introduction of CAVs on London’s roads. Predictions vary considerably, and 
depend on definitions of autonomy. In November 2017, the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer predicted that ‘fully driverless cars’ would be on Britain’s roads by 
2021.14 In our meeting on this topic with a range of experts there was a broad 
consensus that the widespread rollout of advanced CAVs—for instance, cars 
without a steering wheel—was more likely to occur over the period from 2030 
onwards.15 Professor Natasha Merat of the University of Leeds told us the 
longer timeframe was because of the range of factors that will influence 
uptake beyond the CAV technology itself: 

“I would say much later for a fully automated vehicle that can take me 
from A to B and I do not have to intervene. I am thinking more like 2030 
to 2040 because the issues are around acceptability, trust, uptake, 
affordability, infrastructure availability, connectivity and so on.” 

 

  

Page 79



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 18    

Figure 1: Levels of autonomy in vehicles 16 

 

 

Page 80



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 19    

2.4 Public acceptability, in particular, may be a barrier to a quick rollout of CAVs. 

Many people remain sceptical about travelling in or alongside these 
vehicles.17 Goodyear Tyres undertook survey research with the London School 
of Economics in late 2016 which found that, for instance: 

 55 per cent of respondents would feel uncomfortable driving on roads 
alongside CAVs. 

 64 per cent agreed that humans should be in control of their vehicles. 

 78 per cent of UK drivers would want a steering wheel in a CAV to 
allow the driver to override the system. 

2.5 It is likely public misgivings would dissipate, however, as people become 
familiar with the technology and its safety record is proven. The Docklands 

Light Railway in London already operates without human drivers on board. It 
does appear likely that CAVs will become a significant feature of London’s 
roads over the next two decades. We have therefore considered what the 
benefits and risks of this change might be, and what the Mayor and TfL can do 

to enhance the former while minimising the latter. 

Safety, accessibility and efficiency 

2.6 CAVs have the potential to deliver a number of benefits for the transport 
system. Indeed, anticipated features of this technology may help achieve the 
Mayor’s ambition to create healthy streets across London. First, CAVs could 
help improve road safety. This could happen if CAVs are programmed to give 

more space to vulnerable road users, driving in a way that reduces risk of 
collisions. At present, of course, the safety benefits of CAVs operating on 
public roads alongside a variety of different road users are still unproven, and 
some legal issues such as liability for collisions need to be clarified. CAVS are 
expected to reduce the impact of human error—in whole or part—which is a 

contributory factor in many road collisions. As we heard from Rob Wallis of 
the Transport Research Laboratory: 

“Of the deaths and serious injuries on the road anywhere in the world, 
95 per cent predominantly have some element of human interaction 
that has made a contribution to that accident. If you are able to take the 
driver out of the equation, some of the time or all of the time there 
should be demonstrable reduction in deaths and serious injuries. The 

societal benefit of that alone says that it is worth pushing really hard to 
see if we can make it work.”18 

2.7 CAVs could improve mobility for those who have difficulty accessing the 
transport network. This includes older and disabled Londoners, who may not 
be able to drive or face restrictions in using public transport because of 
distance or poor service design. There is no guarantee this will happen, of 
course. It is probable that using—or summoning—a CAV will require a level of 
digital literacy that may continue to exclude many older and disabled 
people.19 

Page 81



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 20    

 
Autonomous vehicle trial run by the GATEway project in Greenwich. 

2.8 CAVs should also be able to use road space more efficiently, in comparison to 
human-driven cars. The shape and size of vehicles may differ from 
conventional cars, allowing them to use less space. CAVs can be programmed 
to travel more closely together, perhaps in convoy. This could create more 

space for other road users, particularly cyclists. If CAVs accelerate and 
decelerate less this would smooth traffic flow and help maintain speed limit 
compliance. The Cross River Partnership (while also recognising potential 
downsides) highlighted how this could happen: 

“With autonomous vehicles reducing the need for braking distances, 
traffic lights, accidents, and other congestion-causing phenomena 
overall London’s street network could operate more efficiently.”20 

2.9 The Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy also summarised this benefit of CAVs: 

“This technology could also improve how efficiently road space is used, 
such as through route choice that avoids congested areas, optimising 
gaps between vehicles or simultaneous acceleration at junctions.”21 

2.10 Professor David Metz of University College London agreed but also explained 
there would need to be a lot of CAVs on the road to achieve greater 
efficiency: 

“It is possible that autonomous vehicles could operate at reduced 
headways (in platoons in the most extreme case) on narrower lanes, 
and could be more efficiently managed at junctions, thus increasing 
effective road capacity… The implications of varying levels of 
autonomous vehicle deployment and styles of behaviour have been 

Page 82



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 21    

explored in traffic simulation modelling. The general conclusion of most 

such studies is that there is little impact on traffic flow and capacity until 
relatively high penetrations of vehicles with high levels of 
automation.”22 

2.11 We have heard that specific steps need to be taken, whether by TfL, central 
government or industry, to enable these efficiency gains to be made. The 
British Standards Institute argued that common standards are needed to 
ensure interoperability of CAVs, to enable communication between CAVs and 
supporting infrastructure.23 Similarly, the Institution of Engineering and 
Technology argued that CAVs will place a higher demand on communications 
infrastructure that will need to be met.24 This is discussed further in the 
chapter on drones. 

Congestion impacts 

2.12 Although CAVs could use road space more efficiently, there are still concerns 
about their impact on the transport network. These concerns are mainly 

related to the behavioural choices that Londoners may make if and when the 
technology becomes available. Put simply, people who currently drive very 
little or not at all may decide to take advantage of CAVs by travelling in cars 
more often. If this happens on a large scale, this would mean CAVs may 
contribute to traffic congestion, and/or prevent a hoped-for shift towards 
more sustainable transport modes. 

2.13 A potential increase in congestion and car usage has been highlighted by a 

number of contributors to our investigation. As reported by the committee in 
early 2017, congestion has increased significantly in London in recent years, 
with more time lost to traffic delays, a drop in traffic speed and rise in bus 
waiting times.25 Westminster City Council argued that CAVs could exacerbate 
this: 

“The impact of autonomous vehicles on the Mayor, TfL and boroughs is 
probably the greatest challenge faced by the draft Mayor’s Transport 
Strategy as it is likely to increase driving, congestion, pollution (in the 
short term), and reduce bus passengers, probably cycling and even 
walking.”26 

2.14 London TravelWatch similarly warned about the potential impact on public 

transport fares: 

“Autonomous vehicles could reduce the need for people to walk, cycle 
or use public transport, or make the use of these modes [less 
convenient] or unreliable by increasing congestion... Reduced use of 
public transport also brings pressure to raise fares for other passengers. 
This in turn makes public transport less affordable and therefore likely 
to lead to a further reduction in usage.”27 

2.15 A related concern is about the impact of CAVs on individuals’ health. The 
Mayor has a target for all Londoners to undertake at least 20 minutes of 

Page 83



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 22    

active travel per day by 2041, in order to improve health outcomes.28 If 

people choose to travel in CAVs rather than walking or cycling, this may not be 
achieved. 

2.16 The Mayor has highlighted these sorts of risks in his draft Transport Strategy: 

“There are also risks to be managed. Increasing access to car sharing 
could bring benefits, but these would be outweighed by the impacts on 
congestion, emissions and health if cheap, convenient car travel is 
extended to Londoners who do not own a car or do not have a driving 
licence. Even if technology is able to improve how efficiently cars use 
road space, connected and autonomous cars will not be as space-
efficient as walking, cycling or public transport.” 

2.17 The Mayor and TfL do not as yet have any detailed policies on how they will 

respond to CAVs. TfL told us that they have commissioned work from the 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) to help model the impact of 
CAVs; this work is due for completion in summer 2018. The Mayor’s draft 
Transport Strategy sets out some broad principles of how TfL will approach 
new technology—for instance seeking to encourage a shift away from car 
travel—but does not set out any detailed policy responses. 

2.18 In our investigation, we have heard from a range of contributors that the best 
outcome for London will be if CAVs become a shared resource, rather than 
being privately owned on a mass basis. Dan Phillips of the GATEway project—
an autonomous vehicle trial in Greenwich—told us that CAV technology will 
lend itself to car sharing, in part because people will not need to have a car 

parked at home in order to access a CAV. However, new business and service 
models to support shared usage will have to be developed to achieve this 
aim.29 As Professor Merat explained, we do not yet know if or how this will 
happen, and there are a range of complex factors to consider: 

“On the one hand, it would be good to have shared autonomous 
vehicles but, on the other hand, how do we encourage the public to use 
them?  There are things like the fact that normally at the moment a lot 
of people use their cars just because of a habit. It is making people 
understand that actually, if they just drop that habit and be able to car-
share, it will reduce the number of privately owned vehicles. What will 
make us car share? Things like if it is comfortable, if it is low cost, if it 
reduces our time, if it is with people we like, if it has connections, and so 

on.”30 

2.19 Car sharing services are already established. We have explored the provision 
of car clubs in London. TfL has an ambition to increase the number of car club 
members to one million by 2025, up from around 200,000 today. DriveNow, a 
car club, argued that embedding the use of car clubs will help the transition to 
shared CAVs as Londoners will see vehicles as a service rather than a 
possession to own.31 The previous Mayor launched a Car Club Strategy in 
2015, with London Councils and other stakeholders.32 However, we have 
heard that provision remains scarce in some areas, especially outer London, 

Page 84



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 23    

and car clubs face difficulties, such as agreeing parking spaces. As David Wong 

of the Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders (SMMT) told us: 

“What is critical is what our vehicle manufacturing members have 
experienced in terms of running car sharing services. They have been 
telling us that, because of the fragmentation of the boroughs in London 
and sometimes conflicting priorities, they have run into various 
stumbling blocks in terms of deploying car sharing services. One of them 
exited the London market and exited the UK market altogether a few 
years ago for largely the same reasons: they just could not make car 
sharing work despite how promising car sharing services are because of 
the conflicting priorities of some of these London boroughs.”33 

2.20 It is crucial, and possible, to ensure the introduction of CAVs is beneficial for 

London. The Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy indicates his support for car 
clubs, but is short of detail on specific measures he will take to increase 
membership or encourage boroughs to facilitate their provision. Given the 
looming development of CAVs, we believe there should be a renewed focus 
on this area, to help embed car clubs as a viable transport option. Doing this 
would go some way to addressing concerns about CAVs causing congestion. It 
would not directly address the risk of CAVs discouraging active travel, 
however, so we would also urge the Mayor to prioritise walking and cycling 
measures; we will have further recommendations on this topic in an 
upcoming report on cycling infrastructure. 
 

 

 

  

Recommendation 2 
To ensure the introduction of CAVs is beneficial for London, the Mayor and 
TfL should produce an update to their car club strategy in 2018/19 which 
reflects the new Mayor’s Transport Strategy and specifically considers how 
to embed car sharing in the context of the potential emergence of 
connected and autonomous vehicles. The Transport Innovation directorate 
and advisory panel should have input to the modified strategy. We ask the 
Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 that this work is 
underway. 

Page 85



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 24    

Autonomous buses 

2.21 Autonomous buses are a subset of CAVs which raise a host of further issues. 
Autonomous buses have been trialled in various places, including on a public 
bus route in Estonia in 2017.34 TfL currently funds and commissions public bus 
services in London, including designing routes, and setting service 
specifications and vehicle standards. It would therefore have a significant role 
to play in the possible introduction of autonomous buses.  

2.22 As a shared form of transport, we would welcome autonomous buses, as an 
alternative to people driving their own private CAVs. This would be the most 
efficient use of road space and help minimise any congestion impact. Safety 
concerns and customer service issues need to be addressed, however.  

2.23 We have also recently investigated bus safety in London, making 
recommendations on issues such as driver fatigue and distractions, as well as 
operator contract incentives and TfL staff bonuses.35 We believe the 
introduction of CAV technology has the potential to reduce collisions and 

injuries, providing robust trialling proves the safety of the technology. 
However, this is not a substitute for TfL taking substantive action now to 
improve the safety of bus passengers and those sharing road space with 
buses; we have expressed disappointment with TfL’s response to our report.36 

2.24 Clearly, the introduction of autonomous buses would have implications for 
bus staffing. Thousands of Londoners are employed as bus drivers and their 
positions may be at risk with the rise of this technology. This may also apply to 
other driving professions, including in the freight, taxi and private hire sectors. 

Job losses as a result of automation may have a negative economic impact on 
London. As we heard from Rob Wallis of Transport Research Laboratory: 

“The introduction of greater levels of automation and driver assist or 
indeed potentially no driver can only improve the safety aspects of that 
over time, once those technical solutions are proven and robust and 
licensed.  One of the downsides of that, of course, is what that means 
for all of these bus drivers currently operating in London... The 
introduction of autonomy could suddenly have a massive economic 
issue for any country or any city embarking on levels of automation.”37 

2.25 Removing on-board staff altogether would also affect passengers, as the 
customer service drivers provide would be unavailable. London Councils has 

argued that an autonomous bus should have a staff member on board to 
prevent fare evasion and anti-social behaviour.38 

2.26 The provision of autonomous buses on London’s roads is likely many years in 
the future, and we do not yet know what service models will be used. 
However, TfL should be preparing for this change, engaging with bus 

operators, manufacturers, trade unions and others. In particular, there should 
be in-depth study of the implications for bus staffing. Our strong view at this 
stage is that TfL should be planning for public buses to remain staffed even if 
they are driven autonomously, with on-board staff providing customer service 

Page 86



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 25    

to passengers. 

 

 

  

Recommendation 3 
The Mayor and TfL should consider the potential development and impact 
of autonomous bus technology on London. A review of this area should be 
undertaken during 2018/19 and the potential implications for London’s 
existing bus network, including the risks of changing the way bus services 
are staffed. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 
that this work is underway. 

Page 87



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 26    

 

3. App-based services 
Key points 

 App-based services have already had a major impact 
on London’s transport network, in positive and 
negative ways.  

 Although TfL provides few app-based services itself, 
the organisation is a vital enabler of these services 
by making its data freely available. Londoners may 
see more benefit from this if the private sector 
made its data available to TfL in turn. 

 Dockless cycle hire schemes are an example of a 
new app-based service that could make getting 
around London easier and more sustainable. TfL 
could actively shape this market. A new light-touch, 
Londonwide regulatory regime could realise these 
benefits while minimising risks. 

 Buses are the mode most liable to radical change as 
a result of this technology, as new providers offer 
bus journeys booked by app. At present there is no 
dedicated regulation of these services, which would 
be necessary to encourage their growth while 
maintaining public service requirements. 

  

Page 88



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 27    

3.1 Smartphone apps have already transformed the transport system, and the 

way Londoners experience it. This includes apps helping Londoners plan 
journeys, or track service disruptions on social media. Some apps are designed 
to interact with services, such as apps telling people about the availability of 
bikes and docking spaces for the Santander Cycles services. Others allow 
people to book and pay for transport services, including some private hire and 
dockless cycle hire services. 

Dockless cycle hire services 

3.2 In Chapter 2 we discussed London’s first dockless cycle hire service, oBike, 
which proved to be highly disruptive and was launched without the 
cooperation of TfL or local boroughs. Since then, several similar services are 

now operating in different boroughs, including Ofo, Urbo and MoBike. 

3.3 TfL’s Santander Cycles scheme is a cycle hire service in which bikes are 
collected from and returned to dedicated docking stations. The scheme has 
proven popular with Londoners and visitors, with over 10 million journeys 
annually. However, it requires an operating subsidy from TfL: this was 
£3.6 million in 2016/17, down from an average of £10.5 million in the 
previous five years.39 The scheme is also limited geographically to central 
London, with TfL having no plans to extend it.  

3.4 Dockless cycle hire services are operated via apps. Members can find the 
locations of available bikes on the app, and then use their phone to unlock a 
bike. Bikes can be left anywhere once at the end of a journey, although firms 

running these services take measures to help ensure bikes are left in 
appropriate locations; for instance, by rewarding members for returning a 
bike to an approved location. 

On-street parking area for Ofo, a dockless cycle hire service. 

Page 89



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 28    

3.5 We believe that dockless cycle hire services, combined with other measures, 

can help increase cycling take-up, especially in areas not covered by 
Santander Cycles. We are currently running a separate investigation into how 
the Mayor and TfL can improve London’s cycling infrastructure. In our future 
transport investigation we have identified ways in which TfL can help enable 
dockless cycle hire services to flourish in a way that meets Mayoral objectives. 

3.6 London’s local government landscape poses a significant obstacle to the 
growth and take-up of these services. At present—with the exception of the 
unexpected oBike launch—operators have entered into arrangements with 
individual London boroughs to allow them to offer the service within that 
borough. This includes, crucially, permission to establish dedicated parking 
areas for the bikes.40 Richard Dilks of London First, which represents 

businesses in London, told us how this may be problematic: 

“People do not cycle by borough boundary, so what they do not need is 
a borough with lots and lots of bikes, absolutely nothing, and then not 
much, and then lots, a patchwork. We have heard in other kinds of 
cycling infrastructure that does not work very well.  There is clearly a co-
ordination need here. It is difficult because of London’s governance 
landscape that it has, but nonetheless the need is there.”41 

3.7 Similarly, Drive Now told us that some potential users will be discouraged 
because restricting journeys within borough boundaries will prevent people 
making one-way trips.42 Dr Justin Spinney of the University of Cardiff shared 
findings of his research in China, where these services are popular, and 

warned that having a plethora of different operators would be difficult for 
users and transport authorities: 

 “For a number of reasons, I would suggest the fewer operators the 
better.  From the user perspective in Shanghai, we have seen that most 
users only are signed up to one or two operators. You do not want a 
phone full of 30 different apps, each one for a different bike operator.  
In the London context, with each borough having a different operator, it 
could be quite problematic. In terms of integration with other kinds of 
ticketing, the fewer operators the better. In terms of just a broader 
sustainable mobility plan, trying to co-ordinate with 33 different public 
bike operators, how they fit into TfL’s broader masterplan, becomes 
more problematic.”43 

3.8 TfL is actively engaging with the dockless cycle hire sector. It has produced a 
code of practice for operators; see the box below for details.44 We welcome 
this initiative from TfL. To help operators to offer this service in a way that 
encourages take-up of cycling among Londoners, TfL could go further by 
actively seeking to shape the market. The objective of doing this would be to 
enable Londoners to make cycling journeys without being restricted by 
borough boundaries, while ensuring the code of practice is implemented and 
any disruption to other road users is minimised. 

Page 90



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 29    

3.9 One way to achieve this is for TfL and the boroughs to work collaboratively to 

license a number of operators to provide their service across London. The 
number of operators should be set in order to allow for competition, but 
avoiding an excessive number of unused bikes being left to clutter pavements 
and roads. Operators would still require borough agreement on the locations 
of dedicated parking spaces; in general, such spaces should be available to all 
approved operators. 

3.10 While there is currently no legislative provision for TfL to regulate this market 

and impose mandatory conditions on operators, TfL and boroughs should still 
be able to take these steps using existing powers. That is, only approved 
operators would have access to the support provided by TfL and boroughs, 
including permission to establish parking spaces. TfL and boroughs could in 
turn require that operators adhere to the code of practice, and provide 
services in areas currently not served by Santander Cycles. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

TfL code of practice for dockless cycle hire services 

TfL launched the code of practice in September 2017, in the wake of the 
disruptive launch of oBike several months earlier. The code sets out a variety 
of requirements for operators, such as: 

 Meeting safety standards for their bikes, and having robust 
maintenance regimes 

 Preventing bikes from causing obstruction to other road users, and 
promptly removing any bikes causing an obstruction 

 Sharing anonymised trip data with highway authorities to help them 
enhance the cycling network 

 Offering 24-hour communication channels for customers, including a 
telephone number 

Recommendation 4 
TfL and boroughs should consider whether to introduce a London-wide 
licensing regime for dockless cycle hire. This could involve a small number 
of operators being granted permission to operate across London. Licensing 
requirements could specify commitments to provide services in outer 
London boroughs, and adherence to the terms of TfL’s code of practice for 
operators. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 
that discussions on this proposal are underway. 

Page 91



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 30    

Demand-responsive bus services 

3.11 Demand-responsive bus services are an emerging form of transport. Although 
they are in their infancy and could develop in a variety of ways, we expect 
they will differ from traditional bus services in several respects. While 
traditional bus services operate on fixed routes and follow a regular 
timetable, for demand-responsive services these would be determined by 
journey requests made by users.  

3.12 Londoners would use a smartphone app to request a particular journey from 
the service, and a route would be designed to accommodate that request. 
Buses would not arrive at a person’s home, but at designated ‘virtual bus 
stops’ nearby, to which the app would direct passengers. This bridges a gap 

between conventional buses and the ‘ride-sharing’ service some private hire 
operators provide. In many ways, these services would operate in a way 
similar to the Dial-a-Ride minibus service TfL offers for disabled people, but 
with the intention of responding in real-time to journey requests and on a 
larger scale. 

3.13 The Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy, published in July 2017, endorses the 
principle of these services. The strategy explains some of the potential 
benefits: 

“Demand-responsive bus services, which operate without necessarily 
fixed routes or frequencies, are one particular application that could 
potentially cater for gaps in service provision where public transport is 
required. This could offer benefits particularly in outer London where 
travel patterns are characterised by trips having many different start 
and end points, and consequently conventional public transport is less 
able to provide services that cater for people’s needs. These demand-
responsive services could also help address demand pinch-points or 
provide alternatives.” 

3.14 The Mayor’s draft strategy states that TfL will ‘explore and trial’ demand-
responsive bus services. In October 2017, Michael Hurwitz of TfL told us they 
were “thinking through whether and where a trial would be helpful,”45 
although no further details have been released. We have heard of at least 
three companies planning to introduce different forms of demand-responsive 
bus service: 

 Citymapper is known for providing a journey planning app used by 
many Londoners. The company has recently launched the CM2 night 
bus service in east London on Friday and Saturday night, and revealed 
plans to launch demand-responsive services in the future.  TfL has 
worked with Citymapper to help it establish its east London service, 
although this is effectively a conventional bus route and not a 
demand-responsive service.  

 Via has run demand-responsive bus services in the United States since 
2013, with operations now in New York, Chicago and Washington, D.C. 

Page 92



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 31    

It provides around 1.5 million journeys per month. Via applied to TfL in 

April 2017 for a license to run the service in London.  

 The Chariot shuttle bus service, operated by Ford, has been granted 
permission by TfL to launch a shuttle bus service, for around a year on 
a trial basis.46 Chariot will run on four routes, with seats booked using 
an app. Chariot is already operating in five US cities.  

3.15 There are a range of opportunities and risks of demand-responsive bus 
services. Professor Maria Kamargianni of University College London told us 
that these services can fill gaps in the transport network and may be able to 
reduce cost:  

“With the demand response services, we can offer users door-to-door 
mobility. As we mentioned before, one of the problems is the last mile 

or the access into the main transport mode. With all demand services, 
we can solve this issue and offer more flexible travel… It can also reduce 
the cost of the public transport system. For example, nowadays, we 
operate some bus lanes to some areas where the demand is not high.  
With on-demand systems, we can save this money to subsidise the bus 
route and initiate an on-demand service.”47 

3.16 This suggests demand-responsive buses could supplement the existing 
transport network by offering journeys that are not currently possible except 
by private car. Arguably, however, they could undermine conventional bus 
services if they siphon off potential passengers, or if they increase traffic 
congestion by putting more vehicles on the road. Making existing services less 

viable may be detrimental particularly for older passengers, who rely on the 
bus network and may be less familiar with the technology needed to use 
demand-responsive services. Regarding traffic impacts, Chris Lane of 
Transport for the West Midlands told us: 

“You need to be careful of your mass transit network. Having lots and 
lots of dynamic services could start to threaten your mass transit and, as 
I said, you are not building new roads in London. You have less and less 
road space… you need to be careful where these services are because 
you do not want to slow your mass transit down and make that less 
attractive. It has to complement what is happening there and potentially 
look at the gaps.”48 

3.17 A significant unanswered question about these services is how they can and 
should be regulated. TfL commissions public services in London and directly 
operates Dial-a-Ride, while licensing other types of buses (for instance tourist 
coaches) and private hire services. It is not clear which regulatory regime 
demand-responsive services should fall under. Citymapper and Via have both 
applied for private hire licences, but their similarities to conventional buses 
suggests this may be not be appropriate. The Chariot service has obtained a 
London Service Permit from TfL, which can be granted to buses that are not 
part of the London bus network (such as sightseeing tour buses). Michael 
Hurwitz of TfL discussed this issue at our meeting: 

Page 93



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 32    

“What we are learning from this agenda is that the regulatory 

environment does not quite match. The nearest thing we have for this 
space at this moment is something called the London Service Permit 
(LSP), which is designed for tour buses or buses that run outside the 
London bus network.  We are thinking through right now whether we 
need to put advice to the Mayor with proposals to revise that to make it 
fit for the emerging technology services.”49 

3.18 There are wider questions for the transport network, too. For instance, many 
London roads have dedicated bus lanes, which any vehicle with at least 10 
seats can use. If demand-responsive buses are smaller than this, but 
efficiently run—in the sense that they are often full to capacity and enabling 
people to make essential journeys—this would strengthen the case to allow 

them to use the bus lanes. Allowing this, in turn, may affect other bus lane 
users. More generally, TfL will need to consider whether demand-responsive 
services form part of London’s public bus network, or if they are a separate 
entity. 

3.19 TfL needs to remain closely involved with the development of demand-
responsive bus services. They offer potential benefits for Londoners and may 
be more efficient than alternative services. While there are risks, we have 
previously called for reform of the bus network to make sure capacity goes 
where it is needed, particularly in outer London.50 Managed properly, this 
type of service could help enable this change to happen. 

3.20 As the sector develops, the details of a new, supportive regulatory regime will 

need to be considered by all relevant stakeholders. Unlike with the private 
hire regulation being used currently, a new form of regulation could 
guarantee public service requirements, such as serving areas with poor 
connections.  
  

 

 

Recommendation 5 
The Mayor and TfL should engage in discussions with the Government, 
boroughs and operators to develop the principles of a new regulatory 
regime for demand-responsive bus services. These should include 
requirements to serve areas with less dense public transport coverage, and 
ensure accessibility for older and disabled passengers. Thereafter the 
Mayor and TfL should implement these principles where possible, and ask 
the Government to make any necessary legislative changes. We ask the 
Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 its plans to initiate these 
discussions. 
 

Page 94



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 33    

 
Data-sharing 

3.21 Apps that enable new transport services rely on data. This may include, 
among other things, data about transport users and the journeys they make, 
geographical data, data on road conditions, or operational data for the public 
transport network. 

3.22 TfL publishes a large amount of data. This includes real-time data sets on the 
operation of the transport network, such as live bus arrival times or Santander 
Cycles availability. TfL told us how this data now underpins a huge number of 
apps used by transport users: 

“The tens of millions of trips made on London’s transport network every 
day create a huge quantity of (anonymous) information about how and 
where people are travelling, which helps us to plan and manage our 
networks more efficiently… We have opened up our data, such as bus 
arrival times, to third parties, allowing over 600 apps and other 
customer-facing channels to be developed. These are used by 42 per 
cent of Londoners, and combined with the arrival boards at more than 
2,500 bus stops, allow us to improve customer satisfaction and make 
bus services more attractive.” 

Mobility as a Service 

‘Mobility as a Service’ (MaaS), refers to new ways for individuals to arrange 
and pay for transport services. The key innovations behind MaaS platforms 
are that multiple public and private transport operators can offer services via 
a single gateway, a smartphone app.   

Via the app, users can plan and pay for a journey using any providers’ services.  
Services may go beyond conventional public transport, for instance to include 
cycle hire, private hire or car clubs. Users can tailor their journey for specific 
requirements, such as speed, cost or accessibility. Payment can be made for 
specific journeys or by regular subscription. 

Since October MaaS has been trialled in the West Midlands using the Whim 

app, first launched in Helsinki in 2016. We heard from MaaS Global, the 
company behind Whim, that app users have increased their public transport 
use and reduced personal car use, although they have also increased taxi 
usage.51 We have heard some concerns that MaaS may discourage people 

from walking and cycling, as paid-for, less active modes become more 
convenient. 

TfL told us that London already has a form of MaaS in its integrated Oyster 
system, through which users can pay for journeys across providers.52 
However, London does not have an app offering the full functionality of 
journey planning plus booking and payment. We will review the findings of 
the West Midlands MaaS trial to assess how these could be applied in London. 

Page 95



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 34    

3.23 We welcome TfL’s commitment to open data, and believe this has stimulated 

a vibrant marketplace for transport apps to the benefit of Londoners. We 
have heard, however, that the flow of data should ideally be two-way, with 
app developers that use TfL data also agreeing to share their data with TfL. 
Professor Kamargianna told us this could help identify gaps in the transport 
network, referring to the opportunities provided by the Citymapper journey 
planning app: 

“Citymapper, by having all this data about Londoners, identified the 
gaps in the public transport system.  Imagine if they had some 
agreements with not only Citymapper but with all the transport modes 
available in the city and all the transport operators. They will have 
amazing data about the demand for all transport modes and the 

citizens’ needs. It is very important to have a two-way flow of data, 
therefore, yes, definitely provide the data but also for the companies to 
give back the data and especially the data from on-demand services 
which can provide the public authorities more information about how 
people move around.”53 

3.24 Similarly, Chris Lane of Transport for the West Midlands argues that the more 
complete data an app developer may hold could inform transport investment 
decisions: 

“Some of these companies might see it as their commercial intellectual 
property, that information they have gained, but if there is an inefficient 
part of the transport system and you do not know about it, you cannot 

do anything about it. That might be best filled with a new bus service.  It 
might be that a company that knows this would fill that with taxis. You 
need to know about it… You do know your public transport trips but 
what the apps know is where somebody started from their home 
address to their final address and that is also a really critical piece of 
information because you do not know whether it is a good route to get 
somebody from their housing on to the transport network in the first 
place.” 

3.25 Reciprocal data-sharing is an established principle at TfL. In the code of 
practice for dockless cycle hire services, as discussed above, TfL asks operators 
to share anonymised trip data with TfL and boroughs, to help enhance the 
cycling network. Although we are mindful of the need for private companies 

to protect their competitive advantages, we believe data-sharing should be 
the norm for any app that requires TfL data to function. 

3.26 The Mayor is currently developing a Smart London plan, which is expected to 
have a strong emphasis on sharing and using data to improve services, 
including through new city-wide data partnerships.54 TfL partnering with app 
developers with reciprocal data-sharing arrangements should be an integral 
part of this agenda. 
 

Page 96



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 35    

 

 
 
 
  

Recommendation 6 
TfL should continue to make its data open for use by app developers, but 
seek to enter reciprocal agreements whereby data produced by apps 
powered by underlying TfL data is shared with TfL. This should be a 
requirement for existing apps using TfL data and new apps seeking to do 
so. This principle should also be in the Mayor’s upcoming Smart London 
plan. We ask the Mayor and TfL to confirm by the end of May 2018 what 
steps they are taking to deliver this. 

Page 97



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 36    

3.27  

4. Drones 
Key points 

 Congestion is increasing in London, in part because 
of an increase in delivery vehicle traffic. We have 
previously recommended ways to address this issue. 

 Airborne and pavement-based drones are two 
emerging methods of making deliveries that are 
potentially more efficient and free up road capacity. 

 The likely scale of the introduction of drones is 
uncertain as the business case is not proven and 
there are specific challenges using them in dense 
urban areas. 

 Although there are existing rules around drone use, 
these are likely to come under pressure if 
companies embrace the technology for deliveries on 
a large scale. We need to see a more proactive 
approach from TfL and partners to agree how to 
manage London’s airspace and pedestrian space. 

  

Page 98



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 37    

4.1 Freight traffic is a major contributor to traffic congestion in London. We 
identified in our 2017 report on this topic that van traffic had increased 11 per 
cent over just four years. This change appears to have been driven primarily 
by a shift towards online retail, with Londoners increasingly having shopping 
delivered to them at home or their workplaces. 

4.2 In our congestion report we recommended ways to reduce the level and 
impact of freight traffic. Measures we recommended included the 
introduction of more consolidation centres, an expansion of ‘click and collect’ 
at stations, use of sustainable modes such as cargo bikes and restrictions on 
workplace deliveries in central London.  

4.3 In the current investigation, we have also considered whether making 
deliveries by new modes could also contribute to this; in particular, the use of 
drones. Broadly speaking, ‘drone’ is a term used to describe a vehicle that is 
controlled remotely. It has mostly been used to describe aerial vehicles 
without a pilot, although we have also seen ground-based drones operating in 
London (also sometimes referred to as droids or delivery robots). Drones can 
also be autonomous. 

Use of drones in London 
4.4 Drones are already used in London for a variety of purposes. Many individuals 

use airborne drones for recreation, for instance. In late 2017 the Metropolitan 
Police initiated a drone trial programme, with plans to use them to search for 
missing people or suspects, undertake weapon sweeps or identify cannabis 
factories.55 TfL also envisages using drones to manage the transport network: 

“We do see clearer value in drones for certain functions, such as our use 
of the technology for asset management purposes. This could allow us 
to improve the safety of staff by reducing exposure to hazardous 
environments, such as monitoring live electrified track or using 
harnesses for bridge and tunnel inspections.”56 

4.5 Our investigation has mainly focused on the potential commercial use of 
drones for deliveries. This is not yet happening with airborne drones in 
London, although some companies are pursuing this delivery mode: retailer 
Amazon has experimented with drone deliveries in Cambridge,57 while 
logistics firm DHL has an established drone programme in Germany.58 

4.6 Ground-based drones are already being used for deliveries in London, 
although so far this is on a small scale. During this investigation we visited the 
London base of Starship Technologies, a company using this technology to 
deliver takeaway food on behalf of a number of retailers, including Just Eat 
and Domino’s Pizza. The company has operations in 100 cities around the 
world. 

4.7 The likelihood is that drones would be used for the ‘last mile’ in the 
distribution chain, toward the customer’s home or workplace. This stage of 
the journey is often the most inefficient, in that the number of vehicle miles 

Page 99



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 38    

undertaken per item is much higher. Furthermore, drones are not likely to 
have as long a range as road vehicles, in large part because of battery life.59 

 
Starship delivery robot at pedestrian crossing, Southwark60 

4.8 We have sought to establish the likely scale of drone use for deliveries in 
London. The Institution of Engineering and Technology told us their use to 
deliver small packages of high importance is likely to increase rapidly, 
although they may not be cost effective compared to road delivery for larger 
items.61 Professor Alan McKinnon of Keuhne Logistics University in Germany 
told us that the economics of drone delivery in urban areas are likely to mean 
they are not used on a large scale in London: 

“Drones’ competitive advantage against vans tends to increase as the 
density of the population diminishes and so there would be a role for it 
in those [remote] areas…. Conversely, I do not see much future for the 
use of drones in inner urban areas where there is a dense population 
and where you have all sorts of safety and security issues about drones 

overflying large populations and buildings.”62 

4.9 The use of drones will also be affected by the regulation put in place to 
control them, or the lack of regulation, as we discuss in the next section. The 
Government has announced its intention to publish a draft Drones Bill in 
Spring 2018.63  

4.10 At present, we do not know the likely scale of drone use in London. A number 
of companies are considering or planning their use for deliveries. However, 
this seems likely to be limited to the ‘last mile’ of the delivery chain, and even 
there the logistical challenges may prove very difficult. Our best estimate is 

Page 100



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 39    

that they will replace some deliveries currently made by road vehicles, but 
probably not to the extent of having a significant impact on traffic congestion 
levels. Even on a small scale, however, drones would have an impact on 
Londoners and need to be effectively controlled.  

4.11 We expected that the Mayor would address drones in his upcoming Transport 
Strategy. His draft strategy, however, does not mention drones.64 This is a 
missed opportunity to consider the potential risks and benefits of this 
technology and to set out how the Mayor and TfL intend to respond. The next 
step the Mayor and TfL can take to inform this discussion is to produce much 
clearer projections on the likely use and impact of drones. 
 

 

 

Management and regulation 
4.12 Realising the potential benefits of drones and minimising the risks requires 

effective regulation of how the technology is used. This should support drone 
use where appropriate, while ensuring drones do not have a negative impact 
on Londoners and the transport network.  

4.13 At present, the Civil Aviation Authority is responsible for regulating London’s 
airspace. The CAA’s remit, however, does not extend to all airspace or all 
types of aircraft. Further information is provided in the box below. TfL does 
not have any powers in this area, although some boroughs have imposed 
byelaws on the use of drones in their areas.  

4.14 We have explored some of the safety risks and environmental impacts of 
drones. For airborne drones, there are risks of collisions with buildings and 
other aircraft, which would need to be controlled. Drones would require safe 
landing zones if delivering packages, which may not always be available in 
densely populated areas.65 They would also create noise pollution, which 
would be exacerbated if used in large numbers.66  There are also privacy 
concerns if drones fitted with cameras are flying in populated areas. TfL has 
set out its own concerns about airborne drones in a submission to our 
investigation: 

Recommendation 7 
The Mayor and TfL should seek to understand the likely scale and impact of 
commercial drone use in London, both airborne and ground-based. Any 
existing use of drones in London should be monitored, and discussions 
should take place with the logistics and retail industries and other 
stakeholders.  

TfL should produce new projections for drone use in London to inform 
continued debate about how to regulate and manage their operations. We 
ask the Mayor and TfL to produce initial findings and projections by the 
end of May 2018. 

Page 101



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 40    

“Drones must overcome a series of safety, noise and legal hurdles, in 
addition to gaining public acceptance, before their commercial use is 
acceptable. Prime among these concerns is the irresponsible use of this 
technology and the use of airspace above a crowded city, as London’s 
airspace is some of the busiest in the world. It is also possible that 
drones flying overhead could have an impact on the attractiveness of 
the street environment below.“67 

4.15 For droids, or ground-based drones, concerns are focused on how they 
interact with people on pavements and other pedestrian areas. As we heard 
from Living Streets: 

 “Pedestrians already find the footway littered with obstructions, 
including street furniture and vehicles parked on the pavement. 
Pavement-based droids are an additional obstacle and introduce a new 
threat because they are moving. They will particularly affect blind, 
partially sighted and disabled users of the pavement.”68 

4.16 Our assessment of the ground-based drones we viewed in action during our 
investigation was that they interacted safely with pedestrians. Safeguards 

Drone legislation 

A range of laws and regulations apply to the civilian use of drones in the UK: 

 Legislation relating to drones is mainly contained in the Civil Aviation 
Act 1982 and the Air Navigation Order 2016, with additional guidance 
set out by the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA).  

 All airborne drones must be flown within direct, unaided visual line-of-
sight of the pilot, or operator. 

 Drones weighing more than 7kg must not be flown at a height of more 
than 400 feet or no further than 500 metres from the pilot, in 
controlled airspace, or within an aerodrome traffic zone during the 
notified hours of watch of the air traffic control unit. 

 Drones fitted with cameras must not fly within 50 metres of a person, 
or within 150 metres of congested areas or large gatherings of 1000 or 
more people. 

 Commercial operations require permission from the CAA. Pilots 
working for organisations conducting regular flights must undergo 
assessment by the CAA.  

 The Air Navigation Order 2016 defines congested areas as “any area of 
a city, town or settlement which is substantially used for residential, 
industrial, commercial or recreational purposes”. 

 Ground-based drone use is not governed by legislation. In London, one 
operator has agreed memorandums of understanding with boroughs 
to sanction their use. 

Page 102



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 41    

have been put in place to ensure this is the case. However, if used in larger 
numbers it is more likely these drones would cause an obstruction to 
pedestrians. Even if they do not present a significant risk of injury, they may 
still get in the way of Londoners making use of pedestrian space; this outcome 
should be avoided. 

4.17 A recurring concern of our investigation is that an effective system for 
controlling drones has not yet been put in place. Referring to the use of 
drones for small packages, the Institution of Engineering and Technology told 
us: 

“But even this relatively low risk activity cannot happen until a safe 
control system is in place. As far as we are aware, thinking on how such 
control systems might be established and operated is not advanced and, 
therefore, we cannot see even small unmanned aircraft systems (SUAS) 
coming under effective airspace control over or close to urban areas for 
at least 5 years.”69 

4.18 London Councils specified the range of issues that needed to be addressed in 
designing a management system for drones: 

“We suggest that access to airspace will need to be managed carefully. 
How much will depend on how prolific they become. Drones may 
require different legislation depending on who is operating them. If they 
are owned by a family or person (like a car) a driving-licence style 
approach might be appropriate, overseen by a body similar to the Drive 
and Vehicle Licensing Agency. Were their usage and ownership more 
exclusive, for example only by companies, a different way of managing 
access might be more appropriate and may require all the highways 
authorities to come together...”70 

4.19 Another issue brought to our attention is that in the future we are likely to 
see interchangeability and close interactions between different forms of 
transport. Some drones may carry passengers; for instance, it is conceivable 
that low-flying drones could be used to establish new river crossings over the 
Thames. Some vehicles may be able to operate on the surface and in the air, 
in which case it may be beneficial to have an integrated system that can 
control and monitor vehicles wherever they go.71 

4.20 There is a pressing need for clarity about how the use of drones in London will 
be overseen in the future. There are indications that the private sector will 
seek to use drones for deliveries, both in the air and on the ground, although 
the viability of doing this in London is unproven. It is vital that the Mayor and 
TfL are part of the discussion about this, and shape the future regulation of 
drones. At present we do not see this happening. Although we understand the 
Mayor’s and TfL’s concerns about how drones may be used in London, they 
need to be proactive in responding to this technology if the mistakes of the 
past are to be avoided. 
 

Page 103



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 42    

 

 

  

Recommendation 8 
The Mayor and TfL should proactively engage in discussions with the 
Government, London Boroughs, the drone industry, National Air Traffic 
Services and other relevant stakeholders about the future control system 
for drones in London, ahead of the expected publication of the 
Government’s draft Drone Bill in Spring 2018.  

TfL’s aim should be to agree a common set of principles for a new control 
system, including the necessity for new TfL powers in this area. 
Consideration should also be given to the need for an integrated control 
system for ground-based autonomous vehicles and airborne drones, and 
how this could be implemented. 

We ask the Mayor and TfL to update the committee by the end of May 
2018 with details of discussions they are undertaking. 

Page 104



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 43    

 

Appendix 1: Views and 
information  
Meetings 
 
We met the following guests at our committee meeting on 12 September 2017: 

 Jonn Elledge, Editor, CityMetric 

 Dr Maria Kamargianni, University College London 

 Chris Lane, Head of Smart Travel, Transport for West Midlands 

 Brian Matthews, Milton Keynes Council 

 Professor Natasha Merat, University of Leeds 

 Dan Phillips, GATEway project/Royal College of Art 

 Rob Wallis, Transport Research Laboratory 

 David Wong, Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders 
 
We met the following guests at our committee meeting on 10 October 2017:  

 Henry Harris-Burland, Starship Technologies 

 Tony Henley, Royal Aeronautical Society (RAeS) 

 Michael Hurwitz, Transport for London 

 Professor Alan McKinnon, Keuhne Logistics University 

 Lauren Sager Weinstein, Chief Data Officer, Transport for London 
 
During the investigation Committee Members and officers have also met with 
Citymapper, Drone Major Group, Faxi, ofo, Travel ai, and Via. 
 
Site visits 
 
We visited Starship Technologies in Southwark on 1 November 2017. We visited the 
GATEway project in Greenwich on 13 November 2017. 
 
Submissions 
 
We received submissions from the following individuals and organisations: 

 British Standards Institute 

 Camden Cycling Campaign 

 City of Westminster 

 Cross River Partnership 

 DJI 

 DriveNow 

 Emovis 

 FiveAI 

Page 105



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 44    

 Flit Technologies 

 Gett UK 

 Goodyear Dunlop Tyres 

 Govia Thameslink Railway 

 HERE Technologies 

 Inrix 

 Institute of Mechanical Engineers 

 Institution of Engineering and Technology 

 Kingston Environment Forum 

 LEVC 

 Living Streets 

 London Councils 

 London, East and South East Region of the Trades Union Congress 

 London TravelWatch 

 Professor David Metz, University College London 

 MaaS Global 

 NATS 

 Norton Rose Fulbright 

 ofo 

 PCH Innovations 

 Policy Network 

 Royal Aeronautical Society 

 RMT 

 Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders 

 Starship Technologies 

 Sustrans 

 Transport for London 

 University of Southampton, University of Westminster, University of 
Lancaster and University College London (Freight Traffic Control 2050) 

 Dr Chris Tennant, London School of Economics & Dr Sally Stares, City, 
University of London 

 Wayfinder 

 WSP 
 

  

Page 106



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 45    

References
 
1 Transport for London, Travel in London – Report 10, December 2017. In 
2016, 10 million journey stages were undertaken in London by car (driver or 
passenger) in an average week, compared for instance to 6.6 million by 
walking, 6.2 million by bus, and 3.7 million by tube. 

2 Written submission from Transport for London, September 2017. Written 
submissions are available to download via: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-
publications?order=DESC 

3 Written submission from London Councils, October 2017 

4 London Assembly, London Stalling: Reducing traffic congestion in London, 
January 2017 

5 Written submission from RMT, October 2017 

6 Written submission from Gett UK, October 2017 

7 London Assembly, London stalling: Reducing traffic congestion in London, 
January 2017 

8 Evening Standard, Cycle hire company oBike accused of ‘littering London’s 
streets as bikes vandalised, 21 July 2017 

9 Michael Hurwitz, TfL, Transport Committee meeting, 10 October 2017. 
Transcripts of committee meetings are available via: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1
73  

10 Written submission from ofo, October 2017 

11 Written submission from Institution of Engineering and Technology, 
November 2017 

12 TfL Customer Service and Operational Performance Panel, ‘Future Mobility 
Business Models’, 13 July 2017 

13 Written submission from Transport for London, September 2017 

14 BBC News, Hammond: Driverless cars will be on UK roads by 2021, 19 
November 2017  

15 Dan Phillips GATEway Project; Professor Natasha Merat, University of 
Leeds; David Wong, Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders, Transport 
Committee meeting, 12 September 2017 

16 Text adapted from Isabel Harner, IoT For All, The 5 Autonomus Driving 
Levels Explained, 6 November 2017 

 

Page 107

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/travel-in-london-reports
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?order=DESC
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?order=DESC
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-stalling-reducing-traffic-congestion
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-stalling-reducing-traffic-congestion
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/transport/cycle-hire-company-obike-accused-of-littering-londons-streets-as-bikes-vandalised-a3593161.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/transport/cycle-hire-company-obike-accused-of-littering-londons-streets-as-bikes-vandalised-a3593161.html
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=173
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=173
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/csopp-20170713-part-1-item10-future-mobility-business-models.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/csopp-20170713-part-1-item10-future-mobility-business-models.pdf
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-42040856
https://medium.com/iotforall/the-5-autonomous-driving-levels-explained-b92a5e834928
https://medium.com/iotforall/the-5-autonomous-driving-levels-explained-b92a5e834928


 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 46    

 
17 Written submissions from Goodyear Tyres; British Standards Institute; Dr 
Chris Tennant, London School of Economics & Dr Sally Stares, City, University 
of London, October 2017 

18 Rob Wallis, Transport Research Laboratory, Transport Committee meeting, 
12 September 2017. The Committee uses the term ‘collision’ rather than 
‘accident’. However, terminology used in direct quotes from contributors has 
not been edited.  

19 Written submission from London TravelWatch, October 2017 

20 Written submission from Cross River Partnership, September 2017 

21 Mayor of London, Mayor’s Transport Strategy: Draft for public consultation, 
June 2017 

22 Written submission from Professor David Metz, September 2017 

23 Written submission from British Standards Institute, October 2017 

24 Written submission from Institution of Engineering and Technology, 
November 2017 

25 London Assembly, London Stalling: Reducing traffic congestion in London, 
January 2017 

26 Written submission from Westminster City Council, September 2017 

27 Written submission from London TravelWatch, October 2017 

28 Mayor of London, Mayor’s Transport Strategy: Draft for public consultation, 
June 2017 

29 Dan Phillips GATEway Project, Transport Committee meeting, 12 September 
2017 

30 Professor Natasha Merat, University of Leeds, Transport Committee 
meeting, 12 September 2017 

31 Written submission from DriveNow, October 2017 

32 Transport for London, A Car Club Strategy for London, 2015 

33 David Wong, Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders, Transport 
Committee meeting, 12 September 2017 

34 BBC News, ‘No major incidents’ as driverless bus launches in Estonia, 2 
August 2017 

35 London Assembly, Driven to Distraction: Tackling safety on London’s buses, 
July 2017 

36 London Assembly, Report impact review, December 2017 

37 Rob Wallis, Transport Research Laboratory, Transport Committee meeting, 
12 September 2017 

38 Written submission from London Councils, October 2017 

 

Page 108

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/draft-mayors-transport-strategy-2017
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-stalling-reducing-traffic-congestion
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/draft-mayors-transport-strategy-2017
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-car-club-strategy.pdf
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/blogs-news-from-elsewhere-40800867
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/driven-distraction-tackling-safety-londons
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s66958/Responses%20to%20bus%20reports%20Appendix%202%20-%20bus%20safety%20impact%20review.pdf?platform=hootsuite


 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 47    

 
39 Transport for London, Santander Cycles performance to end of September 
2017, 2017 

40 Living Streets has argued that dockless bikes should be parked on roads 
where possible, or not in areas that will obstruct pedestrians if on pavements. 
Written submission from Living Streets, November 2017 

41 Richard Dilks, London First, Transport Committee meeting, 10 January 2018 

42 Written submission from DriveNow, October 2017 

43 Dr Justin Spinney, University of Cardiff, Transport Committee meeting, 10 
January 2018 

44 Transport for London, Dockless bike share code of practice: For Operators in 
London, September 2017 

45 Michael Hurwitz, TfL, Transport Committee meeting, 10 October 2017 

46 The Guardian, Your Chariot awaits: shuttle bus service gets green light in 
London, 29 January 2018 

47 Professor Maria Kamargianni, University College London, Transport 
Committee meeting, 12 September 2017 

48 Chris Lane, Transport for the West Midlands, Transport Committee meeting, 
12 September 2017 

49 Michael Hurwitz, TfL, Transport Committee meeting, 10 October 2017 

50 London Assembly, London’s bus network, August 2017 

51 Written submission from MaaS Global, October 2017 

52 Written submission from Transport for London, September 2017 

53 Professor Maria Kamargianni, University College London, Transport 
Committee meeting, 12 September 2017 

54 Greater London Authority, Smarter London Together, January 2018 

55 Metropolitan Police Service, Met Police trials use of drones, 11 September 
2017 

56 Written submission from Transport for London, September 2017 

57 The Telegraph, Amazon makes first drone delivery to house in Cambridge, 
14 December 2016 

58 DHL, Successful trial integration of DHL parcelcopter into logistics chain, 5 
September 2016 

59 Notes of visit to Starship Technologies, 1 November 2017 

60 Image from Starship Technologies / Twitter 

61 Written submission from Institution of Engineering and Technology, 
November 2017 

 

Page 109

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/santander-cycles-transparency-to-end-of-september-2017.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/santander-cycles-transparency-to-end-of-september-2017.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/dockless-bike-share-code-of-practice-september-2017.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/dockless-bike-share-code-of-practice-september-2017.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/jan/29/fords-trial-minibus-ride-sharing-scheme-to-launch-in-london
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/jan/29/fords-trial-minibus-ride-sharing-scheme-to-launch-in-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/londons-bus-network
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/business-and-economy/science-and-technology/smart-london/smarter-london-together
http://news.met.police.uk/news/met-police-trials-use-of-drones-259291
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/technology/2016/12/14/amazon-makes-first-drone-delivery-house-cambridge/
http://www.dhl.com/en/press/releases/releases_2016/all/parcel_ecommerce/successful_trial_integration_dhl_parcelcopter_logistics_chain.html
https://twitter.com/StarshipRobots/status/955875837991153665


 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 48    

 
62 Professor Alan McKinnon, Keuhne Logistics University, Transport 
Committee meeting, 10 October 2017 

63 Department for Transport, New powers for police to address illegal and 
unsafe use of drones, 26 November 2017 

64 London is one of five cities participating in Nesta’s Flying High challenge, to 
design how drone technology could operate in complex city environments. 
See: flyinghighchallenge.org  

65 McKinsey & Company, Parcel delivery: The future of the last mile, 
September 2016 

66 Written submission from Cross River Partnership, October 2017; Professor 
Alan McKinnon, Keuhne Logistics University, Transport Committee meeting, 
10 October 2017 

67 Written submission from Transport for London, September 2017 

68 Written submission from Living Streets, November 2017 

69 Written submission from Institution of Engineering and Technology, 
November 2017 

70 Written submission from London Councils, October 2017 

71 Informal meeting with Drones Major Group, 12 January 2018 

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-powers-for-police-to-address-illegal-and-unsafe-use-of-drones
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-powers-for-police-to-address-illegal-and-unsafe-use-of-drones
http://flyinghighchallenge.org/
file://homedata/home$/rberry/Downloads/Parcel_delivery_The_future_of_last_mile.pdf


 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 49    

Other formats and languages 
If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then 
please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 
 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 

Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 111

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 50    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[This page has been intentionally left blank] 
 
  

Page 112



 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 51    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[This page has been intentionally left blank] 

Page 113



 

  
 

©Greater London Authority 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk  

 
 

 

 

Page 114



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Commissioner of Transport  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 1 March 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion with the Commissioner of Transport. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to the 

Commissioner of Transport and notes the discussion. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee seeks to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport every year in 

order to explore Transport for London (TfL)’s current and emerging priorities, and discuss TfL’s 

response to recent Committee work. 

 

3.2 Recent Committee work includes investigations into new transport technology, walking and cycling 

at Outer London junctions, motorcycle safety, and responses to the draft London Plan and draft 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy. It has an ongoing investigation into cycling infrastructure. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 Mike Brown MVO, Commissioner of Transport at TfL, has been invited to attend the meeting. Simon 

Kilonback, Interim Chief Finance Officer at TfL, will also be in attendance.  

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



        

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 116

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London TravelWatch Performance 
Report  
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 1 March 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch on the organisation’s 

performance for April to September 2017. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes London TravelWatch’s performance over the 6 months, the 

financial position as at 30 September 2017, and the business plan objectives for 2018. 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 This paper presents the report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch setting out the 

organisation’s performance for the period April to September 2017 and the financial position as at 

30 September 2017.  It also sets out London TravelWatch’s key business plan objectives for 2018 set 

out in an Annex to the report.  

 

3.2 The Committee is asked to note London TravelWatch’s performance over the 6 months, the financial 

position as at 30 September 2017 and London TravelWatch’s key business plan objectives for 2018. 
 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch setting out the organisation’s performance 

for the period April to September 2017 and the financial position as at 30 September 2017 is 

attached as Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 Under Schedule 18 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly has various powers and duties 

in respect of London TravelWatch. These include the powers to: agree London TravelWatch’s 

budget, appoint members of the London TravelWatch Board, approve officer appointments made by 

London TravelWatch, receive London TravelWatch’s accounts and audit and, under s.251 of the GLA 

Act, to issue guidance and directions as to the manner in which London TravelWatch shall exercise 

its functions.  

 

5.2 The Assembly has delegated its functions in respect of London TravelWatch to the Transport 

Committee.  

 

5.3 Under s.34 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly may do anything which is calculated to 

facilitate, or is conductive or incidental to the exercise of any of the functions of the Assembly. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

 

  

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1: Performance monitoring report from the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 

Telephone: 020 7983 4399 

E-mail: ed.williams@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 118

mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk


 

 

                          
London TravelWatch Performance Report to 30.9.17  

1 Introduction  

1.1. This report sets out London TravelWatch’s performance from April to September 
2017 and shows the financial position as at 30 September 2017. Information on 
more recent developments is also included in the narrative where appropriate. It 
confirms how London TravelWatch has met its key business plan objectives and 
the outcomes it has achieved for transport users.  

1.2. The report summarises the volume and type of casework activity London 
TravelWatch handled during the period and includes a short overview of the main 
issues raised by the public.  

1.3. A key milestone was the change of Chair at the end of September 2017. We 
welcomed Arthur Leathley as our new Chair and said farewell to Stephen Locke 
at the end of his five years of service. 

 

2 Key areas of achievement     

2.1. London TravelWatch continues to make a real difference for the travelling public 
in and around London. In the six months to September we  

 kept the issue of falling bus speeds on the agenda with regular updates to the 
Board, press releases and ongoing discussions with TfL officers 

 succeeded in persuading TfL to prioritise bus priority 

 secured funding for research into bus occupant safety  

 generated action to remove pavement obstructions on London’s streets  

 made the case for Crossrail 2 

 worked to improve surface access to London’s airports 

 continued to champion the need for good interchanges 

 dealt with 4,366 enquiries and complaints from the travelling public 

 

3 Progress against the business plan objectives for 2017-18 

3.1. This section highlights progress against London TravelWatch’s key business plan 
objectives for the first six months in 2017-18 and demonstrates the impact our 
work has had for passengers in London. 

 

 
Appendix 1 

Page 119



 

 

Response to Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

3.2. We held a special board meeting to discuss the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy 
with the Deputy Mayor for Transport, Val Shawcross, following which we formally 
responded to the consultation.  

3.3. In our response to the draft strategy, we emphasised the great potential for linked 
cycle and rail trips in outer London. There are 137 zone 5 and 6 stations in outer 
London. We included a map demonstrating the area around each of these stations 
within 15 minutes cycling distance to show that often, these stations will be easily 
accessible by bicycle. We want to see the Mayor, London boroughs and station 
operators work together to encourage more cycle trips to these stations.  

Promoting bus priority measures 

3.4. Bus speeds have been declining in London, particularly in the centre. We 
highlighted our concerns in a letter to the Mayor of London and called for more 
action to be taken to tackle the problem. We reiterated the need for more bus 
priority and extending the operating hours of existing schemes as well as extending 
the congestion charge to include private hire vehicles and increasing the 
operational hours of the charge. 

3.5. London TravelWatch is concerned that not enough is being done to deliver bus 
priority on the streets used by London’s bus services. Some bus priority continues 
to be lost to cycle, town centre and other schemes. Where such losses occur, there 
should be complementary improvements to bus priority elsewhere along the routes 
affected. TfL have established a bus priority team and a budget to deliver additional 
bus priority on both their and borough controlled roads which is welcome, providing 
it delivers real improvements. We worked hard to get a budget and bus priority 
team back into TfL after it had been abandoned. Our previous Chair raised this at a 
London Assembly scrutiny. 

Bus occupant safety research 

3.6. London TravelWatch successfully applied for a grant from the Road Safety Trust to 
commission Loughborough University’s Design School to investigate bus occupant 
safety. Three of London’s bus operators are working with us to provide data. The 
work will commence in spring 2018 and be completed by the autumn. 

Research on annual season tickets 

3.7. Every year over 1 million commuters living in and around London pay more than 
£2billion on season tickets to travel to and from their place of work. Yet our recent 
research shows that many commuters feel taken for granted and unrewarded for 
their loyalty, with the majority unaware of the full range of tickets available to them, 
and some paying more than they need to for their daily commute.  

3.8. Our research found that for many people, the renewals process has become 
automatic, with little information and help available to ensure they are not paying 
more than they need to. As working habits and travel times become more flexible, 
and contactless payment is easy, there are many people who no longer need 
annual tickets, but they do not have the right information to decide.  
 

Page 120



 

 

3.9. The research also found that many commuters prefer to make large purchases 
face-to-face in a welcoming environment as they would when they buy other 
expensive items such as financial services or cars.  

3.10. Many of our recommendations could be quick wins for operators and we will press 
them to improve options for passengers. 

Crossrail  

3.11. We continued to ensure that the investment in the Crossrail Elizabeth Line brings 
maximum benefit to passengers and that there is a direct link to Terminal 5 at 
Heathrow Airport. We provided archive information to assist the case to allow 
Crossrail to serve Terminal 5 from December 2019. 

3.12. There were fears that the Crossrail 2 project would be shelved following its 
omission from the Queen’s Speech and the focus on investment elsewhere in the 
country.  We continued to highlight the importance of the project for passengers 
who will experience further overcrowding if it does not proceed, writing to the 
Secretary of State for Transport and highlighting our concerns. 

3.13. We received a response to our letter from the Secretary of State in which he 
stressed that ‘a thorough analysis is currently being carried out by the Department 
for Transport (DfT) to ensure Crossrail 2 is a robust scheme’. On 24 July, the Mayor 
of London and Secretary of State issued a joint statement announcing plans to 
work together on a financial package ahead of the autumn Budget. We understand 
that interventions from ourselves and others were influential in making the case for 
the scheme. 

Improving public transport access to London’s airports 

3.14. Following the Government’s decision to expand capacity at Heathrow Airport, we 
have continued to emphasise the need to improve public transport access to all 
London’s airports to help ensure best use of existing aviation capacity as set out in 
our 2014 report on improving surface access to airports. 

3.15. We wrote an article in the ‘Transport Times’ on improving surface access to 
London’s airports, particularly in the context of the new East Midlands rail franchise. 
We emphasised the need to improve public transport links to Luton Airport – in 
2016 just 15 per cent of passengers made the journey by rail, the lowest proportion 
of air passengers using public transport to get to any of London's airports.  

3.16. We specifically called for four fast trains per hour, between Luton Airport Parkway 
station and London St Pancras as opposed to the reduction of long-distance inter-
city services included in the franchise consultation document published by the DfT. 
We also support the new Mass Passenger Transit system, which would link Luton 
Airport Parkway with the terminal building.  

3.17. Having recently helped secure the extension of Oyster/Contactless to Gatwick 
Airport and Heathrow in May, we see the next logical step to be extending this 
payment method to Luton and Stansted. This would also help contribute to the 
Mayor of London's draft transport strategy objectives to increase public transport 
use in London and improve air quality.  

Page 121



 

 

3.18. In the longer term, we have highlighted the strong case for a new interchange 
station at West Hampstead on the Chiltern line. Passengers wishing to access 
Gatwick and Luton airports from locations like Amersham, Harrow and Wembley 
would benefit from this and passengers travelling to other airports would only have 
to change once instead of making multiple changes or travelling by road as they 
currently have to.       

Interchanges 

3.19. We continued to review and rate key interchanges in London on our interchange 
matters blog using the star system passengers told us would be most effective. 
Over the last year we have been focussing on the interchanges at London’s 
airports and we also posted blogs on the interchanges at Wimbledon and West 
Ham. We held a successful Interchanges Seminar at which Gareth Powell, (then) 
Director of Strategy and Service Development at London Underground and 
London Rail, made a public commitment to start identifying key interchanges and 
then working with partners to introduce ‘one team management’ at these 
locations. 

3.20. Our Interchange Matters seminar in January 2018 focused on improving surface 
access to London’s airports with particular reference to Heathrow and Gatwick. 

Tackling pavement obstructions on London’s streets 

3.21. London TravelWatch has been campaigning for years for TfL and the London 
boroughs to keep their pavements clear of illegal obstructions. Only a small handful 
of London boroughs properly enforce against pavement obstructions. These 
obstructions are a nuisance for all pedestrians and a particular hazard for those 
with limited mobility or who are partially sighted. 

3.22. We continued to highlight the issue and made TfL aware that Sainsbury’s 
supermarket was one of the worst offenders, with advertising boards outside many 
of their London stores. Following our intervention and engagement with TfL, 
Sainsbury’s supermarket became the first major retailer to agree to no longer 
obstruct London’s pavements with their advertising boards. The supermarket has 
withdrawn its boards from outside all their stores on TfL’s streets, the ‘Red Routes’. 

3.23. We also began to ‘name and shame’ London boroughs that were choosing not to 
enforce against pavement obstructions on their streets. We 'tweeted' photos of the 
worst obstructions in Camden, Southwark, Islington and Westminster, and are 
publishing comparisons of borough performance to spur them on to undertake this 
important role.  

3.24. Our ‘tweets’ helped to raise the issue and those relating to Camden were 
particularly successful, with local residents and a councillor all joining our calls for 
the Council to take a stronger line against those who obstruct the pavement. 

Trams 

3.25. As a statutory consultee, we provided input to the safety review of the Rail Accident 
Investigation Board investigation into the Sandilands tram derailment on behalf of 
passengers. 

 

Page 122



 

 

Communications and public engagement 

3.26. Our website and use of social media provide an effective and cost-efficient way 
to help engage the public in our work and to disseminate best practice to the 
industry. 

3.27. We continued to ‘live tweet’ from our public meetings. Key issues discussed 
included progress with actions stemming from our review of Tube ticket office 
closures and an update on the work being carried out by the Old Oak and Park 
Royal Development Corporation. 

3.28. There were 93,633 unique visits to our website in the first half of the year, slightly 
less than the same period during the previous year when there were 116,091. 
However, that year we received a particularly large number of hits as a result of the 
ticket office consultation we carried out for the Mayor of London.  

3.29. We successfully got train operators and TfL to amend links to London TravelWatch 
where our details are more prominent than they should be and make it clearer that 
dissatisfied passengers need to complain to the operator before they contact us. 
This is likely to have reduced the number of visits to our website and means that 
the visits we are receiving are of a higher quality. This is backed up by the fact that 
in recent months the average number of pages viewed per user has increased 
slightly and the bounce rate (percentage of single page visits in which there was no 
interaction with the webpage) has fallen slightly.  

3.30. The most popular webpages continued to be: ‘money saving tips’ and the 
frequently asked questions, ‘where can I top up my Oyster card?’ and ‘where can 
I use my Pay As You Go Oyster card?’. A lot of the topics covered derive from 
enquiries we receive in casework. We continue to analyse our website to see 
what sort of information people are viewing and tailor this information to help 
reduce the number of unnecessary enquiries we receive. 

3.31. Each year our Annual Review highlights the impact our work has made to 
improve the consumer experience for the travelling public in and around London. 
This was sent out to key industry stakeholders and politicians in July and 
generated positive feedback. 

3.32. We attended the London Pensions Partnership’s annual member forum in 
September as we have done over the past few years, taking advantage of the 
opportunity to have a stand and engage with pensioners about transport issues 
affecting them. With backgrounds in the public sector, the attendees are very 
engaged and can provide us with useful feedback on the services they use. 
Comments mentioned in returned surveys included the need for better signage, 
overcrowding, the fact that you can’t use a Freedom Pass before 9.30am and the 
problem of dangerous cycling. 

3.33. In November we hosted the second annual Ruth Thompson Memorial Lecture. The 
lecture was given by Riccardo Marini, formerly of Gehl Architects and reflected on 
how London is doing from a street, urban design and walking perspective. 

3.34. We have now transferred our online bus users’ community to Twitter. We managed 
to double our followers this quarter after targeting community groups in London with 
an interest in the bus service. We have also been putting out updates on Twitter 

Page 123



 

 

much more frequently than with the newsletter we used to issue by email. We 
currently have more than 100 followers of our @LTWbuscommunity Twitter 
account, having started from a low base and this number continues to grow. We 
plan to change the way we engage with bus users. 

 

4 Casework  

4.1. From April to September 2017 our casework team dealt with 4,366 written and 
telephone enquiries and complaints. Most of these could be dealt with quickly or 
passed on to the operator for an initial reply. The vast majority of cases 
concerned service performance on both trains and buses, including delays, early 
departure, penalty fares, lack of travel information and complaint handling by rail 
operators.  

4.2. We investigated 1,105 appeals from members of the public travelling in London 
and the surrounding areas. The highest number of appeals we received 
concerned complaint handling and refunds including Oyster and contactless 
payment. 

4.3. Of those complaints that required further detailed investigation, 68% related to 
National Rail (compared to 76% during 2016/17). Over the past year, there has 
been a 14% increase in the number of appeal cases we need to take forward in 
respect of TfL’s services. A large number of journeys of rail journeys into and out 
of London include TfL’s modes. The categories are not necessarily exclusive and 
some appeals need us to negotiate with more than one transport operator.   

4.4. In August 2017, South West Trains were replaced by South Western Rail (SWR).  
By 11 September the old charter compensation method was replaced by the 
more flexible and straightforward ‘delay repay’.  A slight reduction of appeals 
received by SWR passengers has already been noticed. 

4.5. We continue to negotiate with TfL to encourage them to make it easier for 
transport users to make complaints via the website. The link for ‘help and 
contact’ appears at the top and bottom of their home page. This link directs the 
user to the help page which has changed completely and it is now much easier to 
see how to complain, claim refunds, give feedback and ask for help. 

4.6. In July, London TravelWatch launched the new customer satisfaction 
questionnaire which is sent to all passengers at the time their appeal is closed.  
The feedback has been positive and data will be scrutinised with a view to 
continuously improve. 

4.7. We have continued to use feedback from our casework to inform the 
independent expert advice we give to policy-makers as well as informing our 
research and campaigns. 

 

Page 124



 

 

5 Financial outturn  

5.1. Part 1 of the Annex gives details of expenditure against budget as at the end of 
September 2017. At the end of the half year there was an overspend against 
budget of £21k for the financial year 2017/18. 

5.2. There is an overspend of £11.9k on accommodation as a result of the significant 
increase in rent. The overspend on supplies and services of £13.4k was due to 
unbudgeted research work that was commissioned but not completed in 2016/17 
and other expenditure incurred in advance of the profiled budget. 

Risk areas   

 

5.3. With a smaller staff complement, the principal risk for the future is that we will not 
have the capacity for an unexpected and unavoidable rise in workload, which 
might be required to fulfil our statutory objectives, without extra expenditure and 
without draining our reserves to an unacceptable level.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Janet Cooke 
           Chief Executive, 
           London TravelWatch 
 
 
           1 February 2018 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



 

 

 
 

Annex A: Performance information 
 
 
1. Financial performance 

 
The financial position as at the end of September 2017 is summarised below: 

 

 Original 
Budget  

Revised 
Budget  

Actual 
Spend/ 
Income  

Variance 
against 
revised 
budget  

 £ £ £ £ 

          

REVENUE EXPENDITURE      

Chair, Members & Staff Costs  399,880 399,880 394,000 5,880 

Accommodation costs 66,060 66,060 78,000 (11,940) 

Supplies & Services 45,630 45,630 59,000 (13,370) 

Depreciation  6,080 6,080 6,080 0 

     

Total Revenue Expenditure 517,650 517,650 537,080 (19,430) 

      

      

Total Capital & Revenue 
Expenditure 

517,650 517,650 516,000 1,650 

      

      

INCOME     

Greater London Authority 
Funding 

517,650 517,650 516,000 1,650 

Bank Interest Receivable  0 0 0 0 

      

Total Income 517,650 517,650 516,000  1,650 

      

      

Revenue surplus transfer to 
general reserve  

0 0 (21,080) (21,080) 

 

 

Note: Commentary relating to London TravelWatch’s financial performance is set out in 

section 5 of the preceding report. Costs recovered from Transport Focus towards the cost 
of employing a part time Safety Adviser to act for all passengers have been offset against 
staff costs. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



London TravelWatch – Key business plan activity 2018 
 

 

Last updated 20 February 2018 
 

1. Support and advocate objectives which will make best use of scarce capacity on all 
London’s transport networks and promote infrastructure changes that will help this. 

Submit evidence to Commons Transport Committee inquiry on rail 
infrastructure plans. 
 
Respond to consultation on Mayor’s plans to pedestrianise Oxford Street 
regarding the impact on bus passengers. 
 
Management of road capacity 

 Review final MTS particularly regarding bus priority measures but 
also cyclists and pedestrians. 

 Update our policy/lobbying perspectives accordingly. 
 
Promote improvements which make best use of current assets 

 Audit TOC station travel plans and analyse how these fit with our 
aspirations for improved station access by walking and cycling, 
particularly in outer London. 

 Start detailed engagement programme with TOCs to encourage them 
to improve access to stations by walking, cycling and public transport. 

 
Improve surface access to London’s airports 

 Hold a good practice seminar on improving surface access to 
London’s airports. 

 Pull together updated statistics on access to London’s major airports. 

 Update and republish our research into improving surface access to 
London’s airports.  
 

Promote further devolution of NR services to the Mayor 

 Supported ‘tweets’ by opinion formers in favour of increased rail 
devolution. 

 Promote TfL model in meeting with new Transport Minister – 
including proposals in Gibb review. 

 Review progress of Gibb review proposals. 
 
Timetables 
Review impact of new Southeastern, Southern, Thameslink, Great Northern, 
SouthWest Railway and GWR timetables. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2017 
Completed 
 
January 2018 
Completed 
 
 
April 2018 
 
May 2018 
 
 
March 2018 
In hand 
 
Spring 2018 
 
 
 
January 2018 
Completed 
March 2018 
September 2018 
 
 
 
December 2017 
Complete & 
ongoing 
March 2017 
 
Spring 2018 
 
 
Ongoing – with 
October update 
to Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



2 
 

 
2. London has a transport system that is well-integrated and accessible to all, with 
convenient interchanges, easy to use ticketing. 

Ticket office closures 

 Closely monitor TfL’s progress in implementing the recommendations 
made after our review of the impact on passengers of closing London 
Underground ticket offices. 

 Closely monitor TfL’s progress in implementing the recommendations 
made after our review of the impact on passengers of closing London 
Underground ticket offices. 

 Oversee passenger consultation on any London Overground plans 
for ticket office changes; make recommendations to TfL and DfT. 
 

Fares 
Commence work with industry to promote simplified rail fares structure.  
 
Accessibility 
Continue to push LUL to ensure rebuilt Bank station is fully step-free. 
 
Promote good practice at transport interchanges 

 Publish guide into service standards passengers should expect at 
bus stations. 

 Review signage and accessibility in and around Victoria, Paddington 
and London Bridge stations following major changes. 

 Hold seminar to promote good practice at interchanges on surface 
access to airports. 

 Hold second seminar to promote good practice at interchanges. 
 

 
January 2018 
Completed 
 
July 2018 
 
 
March 2018 
 
 
 
February 2018 
In hand 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
March 2018 
 
September 2018 
 
January 2018  
Completed 
June 2018 
 
 
 

 
3. All decisions about transport in London take account of transport users’ needs and 
priorities 

Submit of evidence to House of Commons Transport Committee inquiry on 
Mobility as a Service. 
 
Network Rail’s new route supervisory boards 
Proactive work to influence Network Rail’s new route supervisory boards to 
reflect the needs of London’s passengers whilst priorities are being 
established.   
 
Input to DfT franchises before they are tendered 
Provide commentary on passenger facing elements of bids for the new 
Southeastern franchise. 
 
Give bus passengers a voice 

 Conduct outreach work with bus users affected by previous and 
future changes to services around Oxford Street. 

 Hold bus user event in East London area. 
 

December 2017 
Completed 
 
 
March 2018 
 
 
 
Spring 2018 
In hand 
 
 
 
June 2018 
 
September 2018 
 

Page 128



3 
 

 
Continue to seek improvements to passenger safety  

 Comprehensively review the findings of the RAIB report on the fatal 
Croydon tram derailment with the Board.  

 Provide TfL with feedback from a passenger perspective to proposed 
changes arising from RAIB and SNC Lavalin reports into tram 
derailment.  

 Attend RSSB meetings on the safety aspects of the stepping gap 
between trains and platforms. 

 Publish research conducted by Loughborough University into bus 
occupant safety. 

 Hold two industry seminars on the findings of our research into bus 
occupant safety to encourage operators and decision-makers to 
respond to our recommendations.  

 
 

 
 
January 2018 
Completed 
 
April 2018 
 
Quarterly 
 
Q2 
 
November & 
December 2018 

 
4. The travelling public are well informed by service providers, they get high quality and 
timely information about services available, fares and ticketing and any disruption to 
their journeys 

Encourage operators to better manage service disruption 

 Participate as a critical friend in industry’s multi-agency travel 
demand management Board. 

 Consider the impact on passengers of rail and Underground 
engineering works over the 2017/18 Christmas holiday period. 
 

 Review of autumn/winter resilience on National Rail and London 
Underground. 

 
Rail Passenger Ombudsman Scheme 

 Continue to attend meetings to provide independent challenge as the 
Rail Passenger Ombudsman Scheme comes into operation. 

 Adopt new procedures to integrate the scheme into our casework. 

 Continue to handle appeals from passengers whose complaint is 
ineligible for the new scheme, alongside our TfL casework. 

 Regularly review feedback so that we can incorporate any lessons for 
the industry in our advocacy work 
 

 

 
Quarterly 
On target 
 
January 2018 
Completed 
 
June 2018 
 
 
 
Q1 
 
Q2/Ongoing 
 
Ongoing 
 
Q3 

 
5. An efficient and responsive organisation 

 Review comparable accommodation. 

 Partially restructure staff team to improve resilience. 

 Agree 2018 objectives for board members. 

 Complete induction of Finance Adviser – new shared service 
agreement with LFEPA. 

 Review and update finance procedures. 

March 2018 
April 2018 
March 2018 
January 2018 
In hand 
December 2018 
 

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 1 March 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned or ongoing scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and 

the schedule of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes this report as an overview of its work in the 2017/18 Assembly 

year. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the topic and any terms of reference for 

the Committee’s first meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the last such report for this Assembly year. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is planning to explore in this Assembly year: 

 Mayor’s Transport Strategy; 

 Car clubs; 

 Emerging transport technology (Future Transport); 

 Pedicabs; and 

 Motorcycle safety. 

 

 

Page 131

Agenda Item 8



        

4.2 In addition to the above, the Committee will also consider whether to undertake scrutiny of the 

following topics, with further decisions to be made later in 2017/18 about specific projects and 

meetings: 

 Demand management on public transport; 

 20mph speed limits; 

 Cycling infrastructure and the Cycle Hire scheme; 

 Crossrail 2; 

 Heathrow Airport surface transport access; and 

 River services. 

4.3 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2017/18. 

4.4 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

Cycling infrastructure 

4.5 The Committee has launched an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure. This work is 

assessing the recent changes to infrastructure and will examine the Mayor’s vision for future 

investment.  

 

4.6 The previous Mayor’s Cycling Commissioner appeared at the December 2017 meeting to discuss this 

topic. A range of other experts and stakeholders attended the January 2018 meeting. 

Representatives from the Mayor’s Office, TfL and London Councils discussed this topic with 

Members at the meeting on 1 February 2018. BBC broadcaster Jeremy Vine and editor Phil Jones 

appeared at the 19 February 2018 meeting.  
 

4.7 A site visit for the investigation was conducted on 9 February 2018. This consisted of a guided cycle 

ride along Cycle Superhighways and Quietways in central London. A site visit was also conducted at 

the Waltham Forest Mini-Holland scheme on 26 February 2018. Record of these visits are being 

prepared and will be considered at a future meeting. 

 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

4.8 The Mayor is developing a new Transport Strategy, setting out the overarching transport policies for 

London. A draft for consultation was published in June 2017. Formal meetings on 12 and 18 July 

2017 were used to discuss the strategy with the Mayor’s Office, TfL, experts and stakeholders.  A 

further informal meeting was held with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on 24 August 2017, 

discussing issues such as rail upgrades, cycling infrastructure and measures to tackle congestion. 

 

4.9 The Committee’s response to the Strategy, which was agreed by the Chairman under delegated 

authority in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, was noted at the 

meeting in October 2017. 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



        

Future transport: emerging transport technology 

4.10 There is a range of new technology being applied in the transport sector, including autonomous 

vehicles (also known as driverless cars), drones, and app-based services. These technologies may 

change the way people use the transport network, potentially transforming the user experience and 

the way traditional transport services are delivered. The Mayor is exploring how new technology can 

be applied through a new Smart London Board.  

 

4.11 The meetings on 12 September and 10 October 2017 were used to discuss this topic. Informal 

meetings and site visits to Starship Technologies (1 November 2017) and the GATEway project     

(13 November 2017) were agreed by the Chairman under delegated authority. The final report was 

published on 13 February 2018. This is discussed further under another item on this agenda.  

 

Car clubs 

4.12 Car clubs allow for members to book a shared car when they need one. They are seen as an 

alternative to car ownership, and may help reduce the number of private cars on the road overall. 

TfL has promoted car club membership, and the Deputy Mayor for Transport said this was one of her 

early priorities in 2016. The Committee discussed this topic with TfL, experts and stakeholders in 

June 2017. Findings from this work have informed the Committee’s Future Transport investigation 

and scrutiny of the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

 

Pedicabs 

4.13 The Government has proposed new legal powers for TfL to regulate pedicabs (also known as 

rickshaws) in London, although specific plans are yet to be confirmed. At present, pedicab operators 

do not require a license to take passengers on London’s roads, unlike taxi and private hire services. 

Concerns have been expressed over a number of years in relation to pedicabs about the passenger 

safety, traffic congestion and over-charging. The Committee considered this topic with experts and 

stakeholders at its meeting in December 2017. 

 

Motorcycle Safety 

4.14 The Committee published a report on motorcycle safety in early 2016, recommending measures to 

increase the take-up of training and access to bus lanes. TfL’s previous Motorcycle Safety Action 

Plan has now reached the end of its timeframe for implementation and may need to be updated. The 

Committee is looking to follow-up its previous recommendations on this topic and is currently 

preparing a report. 

 

Outer London junctions 

4.15 Caroline Russell AM led a rapporteurship on behalf of the Committee into outer London road 

junctions.  Members have undertaken a number of site visits for this investigation, including in 

Croydon, Walthamstow, Bow, and Gallows Corner. The report was agreed by the Committee in 

January 2018. 

 

Site visits  

4.16 Committee Members visited the Siemens Traincare Facility in Hornsey, to view new Thameslink 

rolling stock, on 23 February 2018. A record of the visit is being prepared and will be considered at a 

future meeting. 

 

London Plan 

4.17 The Mayor is currently consulting on a draft of his proposed London Plan. This includes proposed 

new planning guidance on a variety of transport-related issues. The Committee is currently preparing 

a response to the consultation, which will also inform the response of the Assembly’s Planning 

Committee. 

 

Page 133



        

Major Road Network  

4.18 The Department for Transport is currently consulting on proposals for the creation of a Major Road 

Network. This may involve designating a number of London’s main roads as part of the network. The 

Committee is currently preparing a response to the consultation. 

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.19 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Hostile streets: Walking and cycling at outer 

London junctions 

Response from Mayor and TfL due by the end of 

February. 

London’s bus network A response from the Mayor and TfL has been 

received, but the Committee has written to request 

further information. 

Driven to distraction: Tackling safety on 

London’s buses 

A response from the Mayor and TfL has been 

received, but the Committee has written to request 

further information. 

Page 134

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - transcript- cycling infrastructure
	Appendix 2 - transcript - Deputy Mayor for Transport

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1 - SC KP final letter
	Appendix 2 - TfL Letter, 5 Feb

	5 Future Transport Report
	Appendix 1 - Future Transport report - final

	6 Commissioner of Transport
	7 London TravelWatch Performance Report
	Appendix 1 - London TravelWatch Performance Report to 30.9.17
	Annex B - Implementing key business plan objectives 2018 - Jan 18

	8 Transport Committee Work Programme



